STARS

University of Central Florida
STARS

Electronic Theses and Dissertations, 2004-2019

2009

What Do We Know About Interpersonal Skills? A Meta-analytic Examination Of Antecedents, Outcomes, And The Efficacy Of Training

Cameron Klein University of Central Florida

Part of the Psychology Commons Find similar works at: https://stars.library.ucf.edu/etd University of Central Florida Libraries http://library.ucf.edu

This Doctoral Dissertation (Open Access) is brought to you for free and open access by STARS. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations, 2004-2019 by an authorized administrator of STARS. For more information, please contact STARS@ucf.edu.

STARS Citation

Klein, Cameron, "What Do We Know About Interpersonal Skills? A Meta-analytic Examination Of Antecedents, Outcomes, And The Efficacy Of Training" (2009). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations, 2004-2019.* 3950.

https://stars.library.ucf.edu/etd/3950



WHAT DO WE KNOW ABOUT INTERPERSONAL SKILLS? A META-ANALYTIC EXAMINATION OF ANTECEDENTS, OUTCOMES, AND THE EFFICACY OF TRAINING

by

CAMERON ROBERT KLEIN B.S. Kansas State University, 2000 M.S. University of Central Florida, 2003

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Department of Psychology in the College of Sciences at the University of Central Florida Orlando, Florida

Spring Term 2009

Major Professor: Eduardo Salas

© 2009 Cameron Klein

ABSTRACT

Despite extensive statements about the importance of possessing good interpersonal skills, little quantitative evidence has been brought forth to investigate these claims. At the same time, training in soft, or interpersonal, skills continues for organizational managers, customer service representatives, and members of formal work teams. Based on these considerations, the current research was guided by five broad questions. First, are gender and the Big Five personality variables important predictors in the use and effectiveness of interpersonal skills? Second, what is the relationship between various interpersonal skills and important personal and workplace outcomes? Third, given that training in interpersonal skills is prevalent in organizations today, does this training work? Further, and perhaps more importantly, under what conditions do these training interventions result in optimal outcomes? Lastly, does job complexity moderate the relationship between interpersonal skills and outcomes? To answer these questions, a series of meta-analytic investigations was conducted. The results of these analyses provided evidence for the existence of meaningful antecedents of interpersonal skills. In addition, relationships between interpersonal skills and outcomes were identified, with hypotheses in this area confirmed. The results of this research demonstrate the beneficial impact of interpersonal skills training for improving interpersonal skills. Finally, in line with predictions, job complexity was identified as a moderator of the relationship between interpersonal skills and outcomes. The current document concludes with recommendations both for researchers interested in furthering the science of interpersonal skills research, and for practitioners charged with improving the interpersonal skills of their workforce.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES	vii
LIST OF TABLES	viii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	9
Rationale for the Current Research	11
The Workplace Environment and Interpersonal Skills	14
Previous Conceptualizations of Interpersonal Skills	16
CHAPTER 2: BACKGROUND, DEFINITION, AND TAXONOMY OF INTERPERS	ONAL
SKILLS	
Communication Skills	
Relationship-Building Skills	
CHAPTER 3: INTERPERSONAL SKILLS TRAINING	
CHAPTER 4: THEORETICAL BACKGROUND AND STUDY HYPOTHESES	
Antecedents of Interpersonal Skills	39
Gender	39
PERSONALITY TRAITS	
Agreeableness	
Conscientiousness	
Emotional Stability	47
Extraversion	49
Openness to Experience	50
Relationships between Interpersonal Skills and Outcomes	52
The Efficacy of Interpersonal Skills Training	

	The Effectiveness of IPS Training for Improving IPS	56
	Training Method	57
	Lecture	57
	Lecture and Discussion	58
	Process Interventions	59
	Behavioral Modeling Training (BMT)	60
	Job Complexity and Interpersonal Skills	62
	Job Complexity	62
	Summary of Hypotheses	65
C.	HAPTER 5: METHOD	67
	Leveraging Meta-Analysis	67
	Literature Search and Selection of Studies	68
	Primary Study Coding	70
	Rater Reliability	71
	Effect Size Calculations	73
	Effect Size Metric	73
	Meta-Analysis Approach	76
	Weighting	78
	Removal of Outliers	79
	Computer Software Programs	81
C	HAPTER 6: RESULTS	83
	IPS and Outcomes	90
	The Efficacy of IPS Training	. 91

Job Complexity and IPS	
CHAPTER 7: DISCUSSION	
Theoretical Implications	
Recommendations for Researchers	
Practical Implications	
Recommendations for Practitioners	
Limitations	
CHAPTER 8: CONCLUDING REMARKS	
APPENDIX A: FIGURES	
APPENDIX B: TABLES	
APPENDIX C: CODING SCHEME	
ENDNOTES	
REFERENCES	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 Framework of Interpersonal Skills Performance)8
Figure 2 Model Depicting Study Hypotheses	19
Figure 3 Funnel Plot for Detecting the Possibility of Availability Bias: Interpersonal Communication Skills and Skill-Based Outcomes	0
Figure 4 Funnel Plot for Detecting the Possibility of Availability Bias: Relationship-Building Interpersonal Skills and Skill-Based Outcomes	. 1
Figure 5 Funnel Plot for Detecting the Possibility of Availability Bias: "General" Interpersonal Skills and Skill-Based Outcomes	.2

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Five Levels of Job Complexity	114
Table 2 Analysis of the Relationship between Gender and Interpersonal Skills	115
Table 3 Analysis of the Relationships between Perssonality and Interpersonal Skills	118
Table 4 Analysis of the Relationshipos between Interpersonal Skills and Outcomes	121
Table 5 Analysis of the Efficacy of Interpersonal Skills Training	123
Table 6 Analysis of Job Complexity as a Moderator of the Relationship between Interpersona Skills and Outcomes	ıl 125

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

"It may be argued that the most pressing social problems are concerned with the relationships between people, and that these are an essential part of human nature." (Argyle, 1969, p. 13)

This quote summarizes nicely the crucial role that social, or interpersonal skills play in our daily routines and social interactions both within and beyond traditional work settings. *Interpersonal Skills* (IPS) are particularly critical in the information-focused and service-oriented organizational milieu of today. The successful enactment of these skills enables individuals employed as organizational managers and leaders, customer service representatives, and members of work teams to perform effectively across a wide variety of conditions and circumstances (Hackman, 1987; Hayes, 2002).

The professed need for strong IPS in corporate America extends to virtually every field of endeavor. For example, researchers in the areas of health care (Duffy, Gordon, Whelan, Cole-Kelly, & Frankel, 2004; McConnell, 2004), the military (e.g., DiGiambattista, 2003; TRADOC Pamphlet 525-66), accounting (Messmer, 2001), sales and entrepreneurship (Baron & Markman, 2000; Garavan, 1997), and traditional management (ASTD, 2000; Kilduff & Day, 1994; Wayne, Liden, Graf, & Ferris, 1997) have all noted the importance of possessing good IPS. Moreover, a recent survey commissioned by Microsoft of 500 board-level executives also supports the value of IPS. Of those surveyed, 61% said that interpersonal and teamworking skills were more important than information technology skills (Espiner, 2007). Microsoft Chairman Bill Gates added, "Communication skills and the ability to work well with different types of people are very important" (Espiner, 2007, p. 1). No doubt, the increased importance of these skills has provided the impetus for vast amounts of spending on IPS training programs in order to improve these critical skills.

As further testament to the ubiquitous and widespread attention given to these skills, a recent *Google* search (January 26, 2009) using "interpersonal skills" as the search term yielded approximately 4.6 million hits. By way of comparison, a similar search using the phrase "physical skills" yielded only 459,000 hits, while a search of a more commonly used phrase, "leadership skills," yielded approximately 8.5 million hits.

The U.S. Army certainly appreciates the importance of having good IPS. A 2005 Force Operating Capabilities document (Department of the Army, 2005) stated it this way: "First and foremost, Future Force leaders must *excel in the human dimension of leadership*...They also must possess both the ability to build cohesive teams rapidly and the essential interpersonal skills needed to communicate and work effectively with diverse groups of people" (p. 128). The U.S. Marine Corps also recognizes the necessity for good IPS, with Marines receiving training to improve these competencies before going to serve peace-keeping duties in Iraq (Phillips, 2004). Others have also argued for the importance of IPS in military settings (e.g., DiGiambattista, 2003; Russell, Crafts, & Brooks, 1995). Simply put, a leader's ability to get the job done and influence others is directly related to the leader's level of social awareness (Mueller-Hanson et al., 2007).

The increasingly multinational nature of corporations today provides further impetus for understanding IPS. Multinational corporations (MNCs) are constantly focused on the development and implementation of global human resource management strategies (e.g., Caligiuri, Phillips, Lazarova, Tarique, & Bürgi, 2001; Forster, 2000). One strategy popular with MNCs is to send expatriate managers and executives on overseas assignments to manage the operations of a foreign subsidiary (Caliguiri et al., 2001; Littrell, Salas, Hess, Paley, & Riedel, 2006). Without question, these expatriate managers are doomed to fail if they do not have the

interpersonal and cross-cultural skills necessary to interact in these foreign settings. In fact, it has been estimated that up to 40% of expatriate employees return early from their assignments—a reality that is very costly for MNCs (Black & Mendenhall, 1990).

Taken together, the currently expanding focus and expected increased value that will be placed on IPS provide a clear justification for learning more about these critical skills. IPS are skills used by everyone, everyday. They are used to solve problems and build relationships with others. For the purposes of this work—and in line with the definition put forward by Klein, DeRouin, and Salas (2006), who had carefully considered previous discussions of this construct—IPS are defined as, "goal-directed behaviors, including communication and relationship-building competencies, employed in interpersonal interaction episodes characterized by complex perceptual and cognitive processes, dynamic verbal and nonverbal interaction exchanges, diverse roles, motivations, and expectancies" (p. 81).

In the next section, I outline a more specific rationale for the importance of this research. This is followed by an in-depth exploration IPS in the workplace and previous theoretical conceptualizations of IPS. This foundation sets that stage for the taxonomy of IPS—an empirical assessment of which is the focus of the current research.

Rationale for the Current Research

The relationship between IPS and outcomes of interest to organizations is gaining increased attention among scholars (e.g., Hogan & Shelton, 1998). Empirically, IPS have documented relationships with important workplace outcomes, including task performance, job dedication, interpersonal facilitation, and overall performance (Ferris, Witt, & Hochwarter, 2001). However, the relationships that have been observed between IPS and outcomes are

generally not consistent from study to study. What is needed is a way to summarize these seemingly disparate primary study findings into a cohesive set of statements describing the value of IPS. Moreover, before training and selection programs based on IPS are commonly implemented, it is important to identify their expected impact. Klein, DeRouin, and Salas (2006) suggested, "a meta-analysis (or series of meta-analyses) examining the overall influence of IPS on important individual, group/team, and business outcomes would represent a substantial contribution to the literature" (p. 114). This research study seeks to make that contribution.

There are four specific reasons for the importance of this research. First, *the metaanalysis process can be leveraged to enhance and extend current understanding of the importance of IPS in organizations*. While the value of IPS is frequently declared, agreement and quantitative evidence of these claims have been sparse. In addition, the results available from primary studies are often plagued by a narrow focus on a limited set of skills—often characterized as simply "interpersonal skills." Similarly, examinations of outcomes are often limited to a particular subset of possible outcomes, ignoring other potential outcomes of interest. Attempts at making systematic conclusions about this class or group of skills, and especially concerning relationships with desired outcomes, have been found wanting. A meta-analysis of this area will cumulate results from a large number of published and unpublished primary studies, allowing for a comprehensive accounting of the importance of these skills.

Second, *existing studies of IPS training provide little insight into the overall effectiveness of this training*. For example, the effectiveness of various IPS training interventions is rarely assessed in comparison to other methods. With the increasing amounts of money being spent on IPS training, it is imperative to assess the efficacy of these interventions. At the same time, this research will investigate separate classes of outcomes and distinguish between cognitive,

affective, and skill-based outcome correlates at the individual level of analysis. The results of this examination may be leveraged to facilitate the provision of research-based conclusions and the development of guidelines for IPS training provided to key organizational personnel. Additionally, the findings may be examined to identify gaps in the current base of empirical research on IPS and IPS training. In short, this research can begin to identify when, where, and how IPS training interventions are most effective.

Third, *the identification of antecedents to IPS will add greatly to our understanding of the entire domain of IPS*. Participant gender and the Big Five personality variables are the primary antecedents assessed in the current research. This study is designed, in part, to assess the relationships between these antecedents and the IPS under examination.

Lastly, *the use of meta-analytic techniques can alleviate some of the problems and limitations inherent in primary studies*. That is, practical methodological limitations in primary studies relying on relatively small samples often result in large sampling error that can adversely influence the consistency and quality of conclusions from independent research studies. At the same time, disparate effect sizes and conclusions from independent studies serve to cloud the accumulation of knowledge and the understanding of interpersonal constructs. A meta-analysis of this research area can facilitate an improved understanding and explanation of these constructs.

Before describing the specific research hypotheses and proposed methods in greater detail, a review of several of the key areas within this domain is in order. First, I examine the workplace environment and discuss the importance of IPS. Next, previous conceptualizations of IPS are discussed, followed by the presentation of a comprehensive definition, framework, and taxonomy of IPS. This taxonomy focuses on two subsets of IPS—communication and

relationship-building competencies. Finally, before the formal presentation of study hypotheses, a review of IPS training is presented.

The Workplace Environment and Interpersonal Skills

Put in simple terms, now more than ever, people spend a major portion of their working day relating to and interacting with others. For example, managers and leaders tasked with helping their employees and coworkers accomplish organizational goals must possess the necessary people skills to motivate and facilitate optimal employee performance (Borman & Motowidlo, 1993; Boyatzis, 1982). Hayes (1994, 2002) suggested that a distinguishing factor between the successful and unsuccessful manager is his or her level of interpersonal competence. A recent survey of training and development professionals supported this point, with over onethird of the respondents reporting that communication or interpersonal relationship skills were the most important qualities in a good boss (ASTD, 2000). Moreover, in one of the largest known studies of CEO selection, Khurana (2002) confirmed that one cannot be selected to run a Fortune 500 company based on a reputation as a "competent manager" alone; you must be seen as a "charismatic leader" (p. 71). You must be seen as someone who can influence others and communicate effectively. Some have even suggested that charisma is simply social skill that is well developed (e.g., Riggio, 1986, 1998). To be sure, people-focused leadership and management skills-including the ability to communicate effectively with all levels of an organization-are essential for organizational managers and leaders alike.

The need for effective IPS does not stop with organizational managers and leaders. Customer service representatives must also possess the personality traits and people skills that enable them to consistently provide superior customer service (e.g., Schneider & Bowen, 1995).

The services sector now makes up approximately 80% of U.S. economic activity (Reuters Limited, 2006). Although always important, the rapid expansion of the service industry has enhanced the need for IPS among both service center managers and front-line, customer-facing employees. It is a fact that as the service sector of our economy has continued to expand, service industry employees have become the fastest growing segment of the workforce. Employees who perform service-oriented work must be able to execute behaviors related to the interpersonal nature of job performance. These employees may work in restaurants, bars, hotels, hair salons, banks, or airlines. However, these varied work environments all have one thing in common—they all require a satisfactory level of IPS for successful customer interactions.

Devine, Clayton, Philips, Dunford, and Melner (1999) found that 48% of the organizations surveyed in their random sample used some type of team approach. Not unlike organizational managers and customer service representatives, members of work teams must also possess an acceptable level of IPS. In fact, interpersonal competencies are said to be imperative to teamwork and working in groups (e.g., Hackman, 1987; Kozlowski & Ilgen, 2006; McIntyre & Salas, 1995). For example, in one seminal article that focused on the design of work teams, Hackman (1987) suggested that a well-designed (work) group has four characteristics. The first two characteristics simply require that, when forming teams, the right number of people is brought together and that they must possess the requisite task skills. The third characteristic is most relevant to the current research, and states that effective teams are composed of individuals with interpersonal skills as well as task skills. The IPS, Hackman argues, are what allows the team to use their collective task skills. Moreover, it is suggested that the importance of IPS is especially apparent in diverse teams—teams that may be characterized by diversity in demographics, values, knowledge, or skills (Hackman, 1987).

While researchers in many fields and domains have argued for the importance of IPS, they often disagree on the scope and definition of IPS. At the same time, attempts to clarify the construct have come from a wide variety of sources. The next section will briefly describe prior notions of IPS, in preparation for providing an overarching framework of IPS.

Previous Conceptualizations of Interpersonal Skills

Many individuals have postulated about the origin and scope of interpersonal skills. What *does* it mean to possess good IPS? Klein and colleagues (2006) described the IPS label as "an umbrella term that refers to a wide variety of concepts and associated terms, such as social skills, social competence, people skills, face-to-face skills, human skills, and soft skills" (p. 81). The online encyclopedia, *Wikipedia*, defines IPS as, "mental and communicative algorithms applied during social communications and interactions in order to reach certain effects or results." (Wikipedia, 2009) This resource provides no description however, of what these algorithms entail. Another source, the Occupational Information Network (O*NET, 2006) uses the term "social skills" and defines them as developed capacities used to work with people to achieve goals. O*NET lists six categories of social skills, namely coordination, instructing, negotiation, persuasion, service orientation, and social perceptiveness.

Frameworks of "multiple intelligences" have also shed light on the IPS construct. Two of the most well known include Gardner's Multiple Intelligences Theory (Gardner, 1983, 1999) and Sternberg's Triarchic Theory of Intelligence (Sternberg, 1985), which both include a social or "personal" intelligence dimension and owe their origins to Thorndike's (192) seminal work on social intelligence. Borrowing from these theories, Marlowe (1986) later described social intelligence as "the ability to understand the feelings, thoughts, and behaviors of persons,

including oneself, in interpersonal situations and to act appropriately upon that understanding" (p. 52). The link between "forms" of intelligence and the display of social skills has also been anecdotally noted by Yussen and Kane (1980), who argued that, for young children, the demonstration of IPS (e.g., acting nice, being helpful, being polite) is often viewed as a proxy for being intelligent. Thus, at least for this age group, the possession and display of social skills is suggestive of cognitive ability.

Existing literature in the domain of job performance is also informative to a discussion of IPS, and there are many models of job performance in the applied psychology literature (e.g., Borman & Motowidlo, 1993; Campbell, McCloy, Oppler, & Sager, 1993). These and other models have identified relevant aspects of job performance that are interpersonal in nature. In general, these models are quite comprehensive, capturing those elements of performance that are important for all jobs. However, the models usually fail to capture IPS performance at a finite level—a level that would allow for the design of a valid selection, assessment, or training system (e.g., Carpenter, Wisecarver, Deagle, & Mendini, 2005). This is one area where the current research can provide a unique contribution.

Other researchers have also investigated the interpersonal domain, preferring to use social skill (Ferris, Witt, & Hochwarter, 2001; Hochwarter, Witt, Treadway, & Ferris, 2006; Riggio, 1986), social competence (Schneider, Ackerman, & Kanfer, 1996), interpersonal acumen (Aditya & House, 2002), or social self-efficacy (Sherer, Maddux, Mercandante, Prentice-Dunn, Jacobs, & Rogers, 1982) as the favored construct labels. For example, Hogan and Lock (1995) examined over 600 critical incidents from individuals working across a range of industries and identified seven categories of social skills. These were sensitivity to others' needs, flexibility,

perceptiveness, instilling trust in others, consistency across interactions, accountability, and effective communication.

More recently, Carpenter and Wisecarver (2004) investigated the domain of interpersonal performance for U.S. Army Special Forces Soldiers. Similar to Hogan and Lock, they also utilized a critical incidents methodology. A content analysis of over 1000 critical incidents, representing 81 different jobs, revealed that over 30% of the incidents contained examples of IPS. From the relevant incidents, Carpenter and Wisecarver developed an interpersonal performance model with four general dimensions and 16 sub-dimensions. Support for this model was suggested by a separate confirmatory factor analysis. A major finding from this study was that various IPS can be differentiated from each other. Indeed, interpersonal performance is multidimensional in nature (Analoui, Labbaf, & Noorbakhsh, 2000; Carpenter & Wisecarver, 2004).

In yet another example, Kantrowitz, Kanfer, and Lippstreu (2006) recently subjected critical incidents of "soft" skills to a qualitative cluster analysis, using data obtained from 18 subject matter experts across five organizations. The results of this analysis indicated the existence of ten categories of soft skills performance: (1) communication skills, (2) leadership skills, (3) decision making/problem solving skills, (4) self-management skills, (5) management skills, (6) organization skills, (7) interpersonal skills, (8) political skills, (9) analysis/creativity skills, and (10) selling skills. While the methodology of Kantrowitz and colleagues' research study appears sound, the resulting categories are somewhat problematic. For example, "leadership," "management," and "organization" skills have considerable theoretical overlap and are perhaps too general to be useful. Of greater concern, "interpersonal" and "soft" skills are alternative labels for the same set of competencies.

One of the most frequently cited models of social skills was developed by Argyle and colleagues out of research conducted at Oxford in the 1960s (e.g., Argyle, 1975, 1994; Argyle & Kendon, 1967). This model posits that in any social encounter, individuals attempt to realize goals through the continuous correction of their social performance. The "corrections" in these encounters are triggered by others' reactions (Hayes, 2002). One key point concerning this model is that it views social performance as a set of motor responses—motor responses that may be improved through experience or training. This point, that social or interpersonal skills should be viewed as motor responses (i.e., situation-specific behaviors; Bellack, 1983) is a key pillar of the current research and deserves some brief elaboration.

Historically, social skill has been evaluated from two perspectives. The trait-based approach positions social skill as an enduring personality characteristic (e.g., Friedman & Miller-Herringer, 1991; Segrin, 1998) with relations to other individual-difference variables, including empathy (Nezlek, Feist, Wilson, & Plesko, 2001) and extraversion (Lieberman & Rosenthal, 2001). The second perspective, the molecular model (e.g., Argyle & Kendon, 1967; Bellack, 1983; Hayes, 2002) views social skills as situation-specific behaviors that are partially learned, partially instinctive, and subject to environmental and situational factors. I adopted this latter perspective in this study, as research has shown that IPS are best understood when both person and situational determinants are considered simultaneously (Burgoon & Dunbar, 2000; Hochwarter, Witt, Treadway, & Ferris, 2006).

In short, existing literature has described interpersonal competencies to varying degrees of detail. Given all these prior conceptualizations of IPS, where do we stand today? Unfortunately, the discussion, clarification, and understanding of constructs in this area have been somewhat deficient. Take for example, the recent statement of Therese Ravell, the human

resources manager of *Manpower*, who stated that IPS should be divided into three areas communication skills, social skills, and emotional intelligence (Southam, 2006). While communication skills clearly represent an important subset of interpersonal competencies, most researchers would (again) agree that "social skills" and "interpersonal skills" are interchangeable terms. Moreover, the possibility that emotional intelligence may be viewed from a trait-based perspective would preclude it too from being labeled as a distinct interpersonal skill. It is particularly distressing that there is a lack of agreement concerning what exactly constitutes an IPS. Most notably lacking is an accurate, comprehensive taxonomy of the skills. Consequently, in the next chapter, an inclusive definition, framework, and taxonomy of IPS are each presented. These heuristics serve to clarify existing literature in the area of IPS and provide the platform from which the study hypotheses are launched.

CHAPTER 2: BACKGROUND, DEFINITION, AND TAXONOMY OF INTERPERSONAL SKILLS

In this chapter (along with Chapter 3), the conceptual background leading up to the current study hypotheses is provided. Having examined the rationale for the need for this research, and having reviewed the historical roots of previous investigations of IPS, the spotlight now turns to delineating exactly how IPS will be examined in the current research. This focus will ultimately include antecedents and outcomes of IPS, the effectiveness of IPS training, and job complexity as a potential moderator variable. First, however, the domain of IPS must be more carefully considered.

Incorporating the thinking of Argyle (1981) and others, Klein and colleagues concluded, "expertise in skilled social performance requires competent performance in several different areas—accurate perception, effective nonverbal communication, appropriate self-presentation, and mastery of skilled sequences of behavior" (Klein et al., 2006, p. 115). These authors provided a framework or practical heuristic to depict how antecedent variables (e.g., life experience, individual differences), together with situational characteristics (e.g., setting, task demands, individual roles) contribute to perceptual and cognitive activity that takes place during the course of an interpersonal interaction (see Figure 1, Appendix A). "From these interaction episodes and their associated perceptual and cognitive activity, individuals portray, to a greater or lesser degree of success, specific IPS" (Klein et al., 2006, p. 82). This heuristic is employed in the current research to guide understanding of how interpersonal skills form, but it does not fully encapsulate the hypotheses that will be tested in this research. Implied in this model, really, are any individual difference variables that might be leveraged in the prediction of the execution of IPS. In addition, the model does not directly address how training and development interventions might impact the cognitive and behavioral processes that lead to the effective use of IPS.

Therefore, a new model will be presented later to fully outline the study hypotheses and serve as a driver of this research.

While the labels applied to various IPS may differ, they all revolve around issues of communication, interaction, and managing relationships with others. Thus, two major groupings of IPS will be considered as the focus of this research: communication skills and relationship-building skills. Based upon Klein and colleagues' (2006) qualitative review of over 50 frameworks, definitions, and lists of IPS, this taxonomy represents each of the most commonly described interpersonal constructs. Unlike some previous discussion of IPS, the constructs described here are mutually exclusive and conceptually distinct. In short, these two major categories (and their sub-skills) form an accurate and timely census of the most frequently discussed IPS in the literature.

Communication Skills

Interpersonal communication is essential to an individual's well-being. Adler, Rosenfeld, and Proctor (2001) noted that without this communication, almost all people would tend to feel lost and lonely. For normal, healthy individuals, it is nearly impossible not to communicate through verbal, paraverbal, and nonverbal channels (Watzlawick, Beavin, & Jackson, 1967). Interpersonal communication skills are critical for transmitting feelings, thoughts, and information to others, and they are generally the basis for how individuals are initially perceived by others. The effective use of oral communication provides a mechanism by which individuals' values, intentions, and personality are manifested.

Communication skills are important in virtually every field of endeavor—from teaching elementary school students to effectively arguing cases as a prosecuting attorney. They are every

bit as important to athletic coaches as they are to the hard-working employees at one's favorite restaurant. In health care, the importance of communication skills for doctors and physicians is paramount. "Professional conversation between patients and doctors shapes diagnosis, initiates therapy, and establishes a caring relationship. The degree to which these activities are successful depends, in large part, on the communication and interpersonal skills of the physician" (Duffy et al., 2004, p. 495). Importantly, surveys consistently support the idea that patients seek better communication from their doctors (Lansky, 1998). Moreover, the much-too-frequent communication failures of health care teams lead to mistakes that threaten patient safety (Committee on Quality Health Care in America, Institute of Medicine, 1999).

Although the importance of communication skills is readily apparent in all work organizations, it has been argued that new hires and current employees are plagued by poorlydeveloped communication skills (Cassady & Watson, 1994). When a statement such as this is made, the speaker is usually referring to oral or written communication skills. However, welldeveloped and existing constructs within the domain of interpersonal communication skills may be expanded to include active listening, nonverbal communication, and assertive communication.

For example, Lorr and More (1980) outlined four primary dimensions of assertive communication: directiveness, social assertiveness, defense of interest, and independence. At a broader level, Smith-Jentsch, Salas, and Baker (1996) described assertive communication skills as "the ability and willingness to state one's opinions, concerns, and desires in a manner that is direct and to the point without being offensive, demeaning, or hostile" (p. 4). Excellent literature is also available which examines the nature and manifestation of other communication skills, including active listening (e.g., Fisher et al., 1991; Nurick, 1993; Rogers & Farson, 1976), oral communication (e.g., Goffman, 1955; O'Conner, 2003), written communication (e.g., Sharplin,

Sharplin, & Birdsong, 1986; Vaughn, 1985) and nonverbal communication (e.g., DePaulo, 1992; Goldstein, 1983).

For the purposes of this research, five specific categories of interpersonal communication skills will be considered: *active listening, oral communication, written communication, assertive communication, and nonverbal communication*. Again, these categories were distilled from recent research and analysis on existing frameworks and taxonomies; it represents a synthesis of previous descriptions of IPS. These skills will be examined both independently (where possible) and in combination. Unfortunately, there is a tendency in the IPS research area to assess "communication skills" at the broadest level only, typically through self- or observer reports of these skills. Therefore, it is expected that evaluations of relationships between specific outcomes and "communication skills," assessed at a broad level, will be more readily available than evaluations of more narrowly defined relationships.

Relationship-Building Skills

The other major category of IPS assessed in this research is relationship-building skills. Specifically, the seven categories of relationship-building skills that will be assessed herein are: (1) *cooperation and coordination*, (2) *intercultural sensitivity*, (3) *service orientation*, (4) *empathy*, (5) *self-presentation*, (6) *social influence*, *and* (7) *conflict resolution and negotiation*. Each of these skills and descriptions also represent a related set of alternatively named terms and constructs.

The first of these categories, *cooperation and coordination*, has often been discussed within the concept of teamwork. In fact, the assumption that interpersonal skills and relations would lead to improved team performance has been around for awhile (e.g., Argyris, 1962).

More recently, Stevens and Campion (1994) described three important interpersonal KSAs found in teams. These include conflict resolution, collaborative problem solving, and communication. Similarly, Marks, Mathieu, and Zaccaro (2001) described three facets of team interpersonal processes, including conflict management, motivation and confidence building, and affect management. These processes are posited to be critical to team performance, particularly when teams engage in longer-term tasks (e.g., Bradley, White, & Mennecke, 2003). As conflict management and resolution skills will be examined separately from their role in facilitating teamwork, the focus here will be on other teamwork interpersonal behaviors and processes, including interpersonal relations, cooperation, coordination, trust, and cohesion.

The second category of interpersonal relationship skills is *intercultural sensitivity*. This construct—which may also be described as cultural competence—also includes acceptance and sensitivity to others' ideas, as well as cross-cultural relations. It describes the ability to appreciate individual differences among people and act appropriately based on that understanding and appreciation. In today's business environment, where organizational relationships increasingly span international boundaries (DuBrin, 1997; Landy & Conte, 2004), this skill set is increasingly more vital.

Next, *service orientation* describes an inclination and ability to provide superior customer service—to be courteous and helpful in building rapport with customers, clients, and associates. For individuals with first-rate customer service skills, their behavior is often outwardly manifested as effective communication, negotiation, and social adaptability. Expanding this discussion, the ability to provide consistent and superlative customer service is critical in jobs that demand a high degree of "emotional labor." The concept of emotional labor refers to "the effort, planning, and control needed to express organizationally desired emotion during

interpersonal transactions" (Morris & Feldman, 1996, p. 987). The level of emotional labor required is often highest in jobs requiring copious amounts of interaction with customers and clients. To be sure, individuals with high levels of customer-focused and customer-sensitive IPS are able to excel in environments requiring substantial levels of emotional labor.

The fourth category of relationship-building skills, *empathy* describes the ability to recognize and understand the emotions of others. In one sense, the ability to act empatheticallyand to be viewed that way by others-is a critical competency for the successful enactment of any of the interpersonal relationship-building competencies. Moreover, the concept of empathy is a critical component, and perhaps the basis for, the increasingly popular concept of emotional intelligence (EI; Goleman, 1995; Matthews, Zeidner, & Roberts, 2002; Salovey & Mayer, 1990). In this sense, the concept of empathy is somewhat confounded with the construct of EI. To be clear, while empathy is a critical component of EI, other EI competencies expand beyond empathy to include emotional self-awareness, assertiveness, and happiness. Similar to IPS, EI has been conceptualized in two primary ways: trait- or ability-based. While manifestations of empathy in the form of EI include the recognition and understanding of others' emotions, for the purposes of this research, behaviorally-based manifestations of empathy in the form of EI behaviors will also be considered within the domain of empathy. Despite this distinction, it will be necessary to exercise some caution when interpreting the analyses involving empathy in this study. More importantly, it will be particularly imperative during the coding process to clearly understand how primary study authors are operationalizing the constructs of empathy versus EI. Again, behaviorally-based manifestations of empathy will be the focus for this category of interpersonal relationship skills.

The fifth category, *self-presentation*, describes the behaviors and processes by which individuals attempt to influence the reactions and perceptions people have of them. Relevant behaviors in this category include self-expression, face-saving, impression management, and self-promotion. In general, impression management theorists focus on situations in which consciously formed impressions are essential for achieving certain goals or social competence needs (Baumeister, 1982, 1989; Goffman, 1959; Judge & Bretz, 1994; Leary & Kowalski, 1990). Importantly, self-presentation and impression management tactics are often successful. For example, research has shown that job applicants who use ingratiation or other-focused activities are more likely to receive positive evaluations and get a job offer than those who do not use such strategies (Higgins & Judge, 2004; McFarland, Ryan, & Kriska, 2003).

A distinct (but related) category of interpersonal relationship-building skills, *social influence*, describes the process of guiding others towards the adoption of specific behaviors, beliefs, or attitudes. Social influence is often referenced by a variety of labels. In this research, alternative constructs that will be examined within the domain of social influence include political skill, networking, and persuasion. Social influence is distinct from self-presentation because the goal is not necessarily to leave others with a more positive impression, but rather to convince them to act or believe in a certain manner. The construct of political skill or political savvy also overlaps to a modest degree with other social competencies, including social perceptiveness and savvy (Ferris, Perrewé, & Douglas, 2002). However, social skill and political skill are still conceptually distinct (Luthans, Hodgetts, & Rosenkrantz, 1988; Peled, 2000), and thus political skill will be viewed here as one of many social or interpersonal skills.

Regarding these social influence competencies, it is well documented that organizations are inherently political arenas and are ripe with the potential for social influence attempts (e.g.,

Mintzberg, 1985). Political skill, as a form of social influence, has been defined as the exercise of influence though persuasion, manipulation, and negotiation (Mintzberg, 1983). Elaborating on this description, Ferris and colleagues defined political skill as "the ability to effectively understand others at work, and to use such knowledge to influence others to act in ways that enhance one's personal and/or organizational objectives (Ferris, Treadway, Kolodinshy, Hochwarter, Kacmar, Douglas, & Frink, 2005, p. 127). People who score highly on political skill not only know exactly what to do in different social situations at work, but also how to do it in a sincere, engaging manner (Ferris et al., 2002). It has been argued, "Politically skilled individuals have large, strong networks which not only supply social support, but also provide a great deal of information" (Ferris, Perrewé, Brouer, Lux, Treadway, & Douglas, 2007, p. 23). Information provided by these expanded networks allows politically skilled individuals to receive timely and accurate information that affects both their performance and the workings of larger organizational systems. In short, social influence in the form of political skill enhances individuals' resources, allows them to acquire new resources, facilitates performance, and results in a more favorable perception by others (Hobfoll, 2002). As just one example of how political skill can influence performance, Ahearn and colleagues (2004) found team leader political skill to be an important predictor of team performance.

Finally, this research also examines various *conflict resolution and negotiation* skills as key interpersonal competencies in the relationship-building domain. Related skills which fall into this category include conflict management, compromising, and problem solving. In general, interpersonal conflicts at work can range from minor disagreements to intense arguments. Regardless of their severity, these conflicts often represent significant stressors for individuals. In the job stress literature, interpersonal conflict has been empirically linked to many unfortunate

outcomes, including turnover intentions, job dissatisfaction, depression, and somatic symptoms (Spector & Jex, 1998). Thus, for personal health reasons alone, the ability to solve interpersonal conflicts amicably is an important competency. Extending beyond individual well-being, research has demonstrated that failure to manage interpersonal conflicts between members of work teams can lead to substantial performance decrements (e.g., Jehn, 1995; Jehn & Chatman, 2000).

Taken together, these communication (i.e., active listening, oral communication, written communication, assertive communication, and nonverbal communication) and relationshipbuilding (i.e., cooperation and coordination, intercultural sensitivity, service orientation, empathy, self-presentation, social influence, and conflict resolution and negotiation) IPS represent a cohesive and accurate census of the most frequently investigated IPS in the literature. As such, they will represent the focus of this research. At times, however, researchers who study IPS will decide against using any one of these more narrowly defined constructs in favor broader conceptualizations.

"General" Interpersonal Skills

As an unfortunate indictment of the lack of clarity for the IPS construct, too often researchers oversimplify complex, dynamic behaviors observed in their research studies as basic displays of social or interpersonal skills. That is, all behaviors that may be considered within this domain are lumped together and either rated by the participants themselves, or by external observers as simple displays of social, or interpersonal skills. One example of this is the assessment of "supervisory skills." Depending on the particular author or researcher, supervisory skills may refer to giving feedback, coaching, mentoring, or any other of a number of assorted

leadership- and management-related IPS. The chief concern is that when researchers assess IPS or social skills at the broadest level possible, with no finite description of the specific behaviors being evaluated, fine-tuned interpretation becomes problematic. However, in an effort to salvage the findings and potential knowledge contributions which may be discerned from these studies, this research will also attempt to assess IPS outcomes and correlates at a most general level—a level which unfortunately, will tend to obscure more finite relationships. That is, in addition to examining the previously mentioned communication and relationship-building competencies, results and relationships between more generally described "interpersonal" or "social" skills and outcomes will also be examined. At the same time, every effort will be made to carefully examine the operationalization of broadly described IPS assessed in primary studies. If it is determined that the construct(s) actually being assessed can be suitably placed within the domain of one of the communication or relationship-building IPS described above, then the effect size(s) from that study will be included with others which have resulted from the measurement of similar constructs.

Knowledge of Interpersonal Skills

Finally, beyond interpersonal communication skills, relationship-building interpersonal skills, and "general" interpersonal skills, this research also investigates knowledge of interpersonal skills. Such IPS knowledge estimates are typically operationalized through self-report assessments of individuals' knowledge of the communication, relationship-building, or "general" IPS previously described.

Taking stock of the discussion thus far, two points are clear. First, IPS are important to a number of individual, team, and organizational outcomes. Second, it is hard to find agreement

upon what constitutes the domain of IPS. In fact, one may rightly argue that there are almost as many taxonomies of IPS as there are IPS researchers. What this study aims to examine are the most frequently represented of these skills. That is, the IPS examined in the current research represent the most commonly described skills in the literature. The empirical assessment of these skills has the power to set the foundation for a generation of future research in this area.

Before describing the hypotheses and methodology of the current study in greater detail, there is one more area which must be reviewed. Thus, the following section provides a more indepth discussion of IPS training. This discussion focuses on the prevalence of this training and presents a few illustrative examples of IPS training interventions. Following this section, the proposed study hypotheses and research methodology will be put forward.

CHAPTER 3: INTERPERSONAL SKILLS TRAINING

A consensus position derived from a review of the literature in this area suggests that IPS are not to be viewed as simple trait-based orientations, but instead as behaviorally-based competencies, expressed independently of personality and capable of improvement through training (e.g., Hogan & Shelton, 1998; Mueller-Hanson et al., 2007). Moreover, as expenditures on IPS training have swelled (Gist & Stevens, 1998; Landy & Conte, 2004), these training interventions are becoming increasingly more common. In fact, it is estimated that across all industries, half the training budget is spent on improving the IPS of organizational employees (U.S. Banker, 2000). Additionally, in a survey of organizations known to use teams, Devine and colleagues (1999) found that 74% of the organizations trained team members in IPS or dealing with diversity (vs. 29% in a random sample of organizations). Unfortunately, published evaluations of these training interventions are not nearly as frequent.

It has been argued that, "...teaching interpersonal skills creates the same kind of challenges as teaching employees how to work with products coming off the assembly line" (Goldstein & Ford, 2002, p. 15). At the same time, the complex and dynamic nature of interpersonal tasks suggests these can be difficult areas in which to provide training (Stevens & Gist, 1997). In general, "the accumulated evidence on IPS training suggests that such training should focus on specific, optimal social skills, and not on increased general sensitivity or insight" (Klein et al., 2006, p. 109). Moreover, IPS training should be designed to enhance each of the cognitive, behavioral, and affective components of these skills (Bailey & Butcher, 1983; Harrison, 1992).

At a broad level of examination, interventions targeting the development of communication and relationship-building IPS may be either formal or informal. Informal

methods for improving IPS include motivating and goal setting, coaching and mentoring, and feedback. Formal methods include behavioral modeling training (BMT) and other strategies which may incorporate information-, demonstration-, and practice-based methods. However, the distinction between formal and informal methods is, at times, hazy. Take for example, Tews and Tracey's (2008) examination of the effect of both self-coaching and multi-source feedback (MSF) on interpersonal skill performance. In this study the coaching and feedback mechanisms, which can also be wonderful informal developmental tools, were systematic and formal. The self-coaching program included a workbook filled with behavioral checklists and open-ended questions. Additionally, this program encouraged self-generated feedback and provided a goalsetting action plan. Confirming the authors' hypothesis, the self-coaching program helped facilitate interpersonal skill performance ($\beta = .25, p < .05$). Importantly, these findings were identified even while controlling for general mental ability, conscientiousness, and pre-training self-efficacy. Similarly, the multi-source feedback (MSF) intervention, which included both selfand subordinate assessments, also had a positive impact on IPS performance ($\beta = .44, p < .01$). As another example of the effective use of feedback in this area, Hunt and Baruch (2003) examined the impact of subordinate feedback on the development of IPS for 252 executives. In this study, feedback was given as part of a five-day training workshop. The results of this research indicated that the IPS training had a modest impact on the executives' IPS.

Beyond self-coaching and MSF, multimedia and simulation-based training systems have become increasingly popular options for IPS development. As one example, the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) developed a unique simulator to facilitate their agents' interview skills (Olsen, Sellers, & Phillips, 2004). In this program, agents were encouraged to use verbal and nonverbal cues to detect deception in human behavior. As another example, Smith-Jentsch,

Griffin, and Onyejiaka (2006) described an assessment and training tool for assertive communication skills. Specifically, they developed a multimedia platform populated by twentysix events, each scripted to elicit assertive communication during an immersive 40-minute workplace simulation. Preliminary results provided support for the efficacy of the computerbased simulation as an alternative for live role-plays or video-based situational judgment tests in the assessment and training of IPS.

Hanson, Nangle, and Meyer (1998) performed a meta-analysis of social skills training in which the participants were primarily elementary, middle, and high school students. The results from this study indicated a mean effect size of .697, after correction for sampling error. This effect size suggests the average participant in a social skills training program was more socially skilled than 74% of those not in a training group. These results, although not speaking directly to the efficacy of IPS training for adults, are nonetheless illustrative of the potential impact of IPS training.

Team members have also been the focus of formal IPS training programs. Unfortunately, a number of previous reviews have concluded that efforts to enhance team interpersonal relationships have met with little success (e.g., Salas, Rozell, Mullen, & Driskell, 1999; Tannenbaum, Beard, & Salas, 1992). However, Bradley, White, and Mennecke (2003) argued that there is abundant support for the contention that interpersonal processes relate positively to team performance, *when teams engage in longer-term tasks*. That is, team interpersonal processes have a better chance of demonstrating their beneficial effects when examined over longer time periods, after individuals have worked together for some time. In contrast, IPS matter to a lesser degree with contrived tasks of short duration. In support of this finding, Druskat and Kayes (2000) found interpersonal processes predicted improved performance for

teams working on four-month long-term projects. Research such as this is vital to understanding the boundary conditions for when, where, and how IPS training interventions are effective. That is, this study and related research (e.g., Marks et al., 2001) have each touted the benefits of incorporating a time-based perspective in the measurement and training of team interpersonal processes.

Role playing, and specifically behavioral modeling training (BMT), are perhaps the most common strategies for developing IPS. "In role-playing, trainees practise the part they are going to play in a classroom situation, and are given some kind of feedback on their performance" (Argyle, 1969, p. 402). Role playing interventions were first initiated in organizational settings for the training and development of industrial supervisors (Argyle, 1969). Importantly, these programs have proven successful in a wide variety of settings (e.g., Baldwin, 1992; Goldstein & Sorcher, 1974; May & Kahnweiler, 2000). As described by Pescuric and Byham (1996), behavior modeling has been proven effective in all industries and at all educational levels. Based on principles of social learning theory (i.e., attention, retention, reproduction, and motivational processes; Bandura, 1977), this very common strategy incorporates information, demonstration, and practice-based methods. The typical sequence involved in BMT programs includes "a description of skills-behaviors to be learned, prior to, or along with, modeling, and then practice with feedback (Taylor et al., 2005, p. 693).

While early studies of BMT cited large positive training effects (e.g., many were reported in a 1976 issue of *Personnel Psychology*), more recent research has not consistently confirmed these findings. For example, despite evidence of learning, some recent studies have failed to find significant changes in job behavior (May & Kahnweiler, 2000; Russell, Wexley, & Hunter, 1984; Werner, O'Leary-Kelly, Baldwin, & Wexley, 1994). These inconsistent results provided
the impetus for Taylor, Russ-Eft, and Chan (2005) to conduct a sweeping meta-analysis on BMT.

Specifically, Taylor and colleagues' research focused on the impact of BMT on six outcome criteria: declarative knowledge, procedural knowledge, attitudes, job behavior, workgroup productivity, and workgroup climate. Moreover, the skills taught in the BMT programs they reviewed consisted of supervisory skills (n = 78 studies), interpersonal communication skills (n = 30 studies), and technical skills (n = 11 studies). The results from this research were most encouraging for declarative (d = 1.05) and procedural knowledge outcomes (d = 1.09), followed by attitudes (d = 0.29) and job behavior (d = 0.25). The impact of BMT interventions on workgroup productivity and workgroup climate was not as pronounced (d =0.12 and 0.10, respectively).

Pertaining to the current research, these authors also broke down IPS into supervisory and teamwork skills and again assessed the impact of BMT interventions on four of the six outcomes assessed previously. They found that BMT interventions were most effective for improving declarative knowledge of supervisory skills (d = 2.04) and declarative knowledge of teamwork skills (d = 1.29). Concerning procedural knowledge/skills, BMT interventions were (again) more successful with supervisory skills (d = 1.27) than teamwork skills (d = 0.91). Finally, the effects of BMT interventions on supervisory and teamwork attitudes (d = 0.28 and 0.51, respectively) and job behaviors (d = 0.26 and 0.35, respectively) were substantially less well pronounced.

Upon reflection, Taylor and colleagues' (2005) comprehensive research effort has particular relevance to the current research. In fact, if this dissertation were centered on BMT alone, rather than specific antecedents and outcomes of IPS, it would have been rendered redundant by the Taylor and colleagues study. However, their study examined IPS at general

levels only, and focused on only one training strategy—BMT. Moreover, they argued, "Large residual variances often remained even after studies were broken down by methodological variables, suggesting that moderator variables other than those assessed in the present study are likely to be responsible for the remaining variability of BMT effects across studies" (p. 706). Indeed, additional variance may be captured by examining IPS at a finer level of detail, rather than amalgamating them all together as "supervisory" or "teamwork" skills. The current research examines, therefore, a more fine-tuned and accurate set of skills.

Thus, the major extension provided by the current research is four-fold. In short, it: (1) assesses a more finely-tuned set of interpersonal competencies; (2) addresses and examines the efficacy and boundary conditions for a variety of IPS interventions; (3) examines antecedents of IPS; and (4) examines job complexity as a possible moderator of the relationship between IPS and outcomes. The next section outlines the 15 hypotheses advanced in this research.

CHAPTER 4: THEORETICAL BACKGROUND AND STUDY HYPOTHESES

As described by Morrison and Heggestad (2008), the literature in this area suffers from both the jingle (Thorndike, 1903) and the jangle (Kelly, 1927) fallacies. Specifically, there are times when "research findings may be integrated, when, in fact they should not be (the jingle fallacy) and other occasions in which findings will not be integrated when they should be (the jangle fallacy)" (Morrison & Heggestad, 2008, p. 4). Particularly problematic is that without construct clarification, the quantitative integration of findings via meta-analytic methods becomes extremely problematic.

The taxonomy examined here represents an attempt to understand the most common IPS—those that appear in most discussions of the topic area. Using this taxonomy, the results of primary studies can be organized and meta-analytically scrutinized to discern the relationships between various antecedents and IPS, between these IPS and important outcomes, the efficacy of IPS training interventions, and various moderators of the relationship between IPS and outcomes. Given the abundance of attention placed on IPS in organizations today, it has never been more important to gain an increased understanding of the domain in which they reside. Thus, the hypotheses presented in this research will be discussed within the context of four overarching themes: (1) antecedents of IPS, (2) relationships between IPS and outcomes, and (3) assessing the efficacy and boundary conditions for successful IPS training interventions, and (4) assessing whether the relationship between IPS and outcomes is moderated by job complexity. Figure 2 (see Appendix A) is provided as an organizing framework to guide the discussion of study hypotheses.

Antecedents of Interpersonal Skills

The existing literature has identified a number of possible antecedents of IPS. Among those most frequently investigated include gender (e.g., Althoff & Ashkanasy, 2004; Sarason, Sarason, Hacker, & Basham, 1985) and various personality constructs (e.g., the "Big Five" personality variables; Barrick, Parks, & Mount, 2005; Neuman & Wright, 1999; Witt & Ferris, 2003). These individual difference variables are expected to relate to IPS across a variety of settings. However, consistent with the prevailing view of IPS as *situation-specific* behaviors, it may be difficult to identify strong (or even significant) predictors of these skills. That is, because IPS are believed to be influenced by a multitude of factors (e.g., instinct, previous experience and learning, situational factors, and individual differences; Argyle & Kendon, 1967; Bellack, 1983; Hayes, 2002), identifying strong and consistent demographic or personality predictors may be a difficult task. Nonetheless, in an effort to build upon previous research in this area and better illuminate the domain space of interpersonal competencies, two potential predictors of IPS will be examined: gender and personality variables.¹

Gender

A pervasive gender stereotype posits that, while men often perform better in math and science contexts, women are better when it comes to creativity, communication, and developing interpersonal relationships. In general, sex differences on psychological attributes have been investigated under two major theories—evolutionary psychology and social role theory (Archer & Lloyd, 2002). In social role theory, attributes associated with masculine social roles (e.g., physical aggression) are expected to be more common in men than in women. At the same time, those attributes that are associated with domestic and child-care roles (e.g., nurturing, caring) are

expected to be more common in women (Archer, 2006; Eagly, 1987). These expectations were largely confirmed by Hyde (2005), who recently presented a comprehensive review of 46 meta-analyses on sex differences.

Concerning the early development of communication ability, there is evidence to suggest that females are better at both verbal and nonverbal communication than males. As one example, Leaper and Smith (2004) found female children to be rated higher than males in both affiliative speech (d = -0.11) and talkativeness (d = -0.26). In addition, LaFrance, Hecht, and Paluck (2003), in a sample including both adolescents and adults, found a rather large difference favoring females (d = -0.40) on the variable of smiling. McClure (2000) also found differences favoring females, this time ranging from d = -0.18 to d = -0.92 in infants' facial expression processing—a type of nonverbal communication ability. Unfortunately, these studies did not examine adult populations.

However, a number of applied psychology and management research studies have also investigated gender differences in IPS. For example, sex differences have been observed on Fine's (1955) people-things dimension of interests. Specifically, women have generally scored higher on the dimension of "people orientation," while men have rated higher on a scale measuring orientation towards things (Lippa, 1998). In addition, gender differences in the British Army officer assessment center (AC) have been investigated (Anderson, Lievens, van Dam, & Born, 2006). In this study, Anderson and colleagues found gender differences in performance on interpersonally oriented leadership dimensions. More specifically, female candidates scored higher than males on both oral communication (d = 0.17) and interaction (d = 0.31) dimensions. There is also anecdotal and empirical evidence to suggest that men require more human skills training (Altonji & Spletzer, 1991).

In other research, Huffcutt, Conway, Roth, and Stone (2001) reported a -0.13 mean effect size difference (i.e., favoring women) for interview ratings of applied social skills. Likewise, Sarason, Sarason, Hacker, and Basham (1985) reported findings from their study suggesting that females were rater higher than males on the construct of global social competence (F = 7.05, p < .01). Finally, Adler and Izraeli (1995) suggested that women's strengths, when it comes to relationship-building skills, should position them to do quite well in international and cross-cultural assignments. However, in contrast to these findings which have favored females, Hochwarter, Witt, Treadway, and Ferris (2006) found a slight, nonsignificant tendency for males to score higher than females on a broad measure of social skills with two samples of customers service employees (n = 136, 47% male; and n = 115, 69% male).

Taken together, the balance of research investigating the relationships between gender and IPS suggests that women may be more effective in *both* communication- and relationshiporiented dimensions of IPS. In addition, when IPS are rated at a general, broad level, it is usually the case that females are rated higher. These findings confirm the expectations of both evolutionary theory and social role theory. Generally speaking, these theories suggest that women have greater ability when it comes to "softer" attributes such as nurturing and caring for others. In contrast, social roles typically associated with men (e.g., aggression, physicality) are frequently used as explanations for why men have been found to have lower measured levels of IPS.

These theoretical, and often anecdotal, assertions will be examined meta-analytically in the current study. That is, in this research it is expected that gender differences in measured levels of IPS will be apparent, with females rating higher than males on evaluations of the two subsets of communication and relationship-building interpersonal skills, as well as the entire set

of "general" interpersonal skills. The results from this research are expected to empirically confirm past research in this area, and to do so using only normal, adult samples and a larger base of evidence. By employing meta-analytic techniques, evidence gathered from a diverse pool of primary studies can be leveraged to make an overall assessment of the relationship between gender and interpersonal skills. Finally, there will be no formal expectation that female-male differences in interpersonal communication skills will be greater than gender differences observed in relationship-building interpersonal competencies (or vice versa). While such a finding may provide for an interesting post hoc discussion, there is not enough evidence to make any formal predictions at this time.

Hypothesis 1(a-c): Females will be rated higher than males on evaluations of (a) interpersonal communication skills (b) relationship-building interpersonal skills, and (c) broad-based measures of "general" interpersonal skills.

PERSONALITY TRAITS

Agreeableness

Agreeableness has been referred to as "likeability" and is associated with traits such as trust, cooperation, flexibility, and tolerance (Vinchur, Schippmann, Switzer, & Roth, (1998). Individuals who possess these traits are expected to be able to get along well with others. As such, individuals with high levels of agreeableness should also possess relatively high levels of IPS. For example, it has been argued that the facets of trust, cooperation, and altruism should be related to relationship-building IPS (Driskell, Goodwin, Salas, & O'Shea, 2006). Across all individuals one would expect a significant positive relationship between these two constructs. As

a general rule, high levels of agreeableness can be expected to positively impact the quality of one's interpersonal relations.

Many researchers have empirically investigated this link and there is some evidence to suggest that agreeableness may very well be the best primary predictor of performance in interpersonal settings (e.g., Mount, Barrick, & Stewart, 1998; Neuman & Wright, 1999). More specific arguments have been made concerning hypothesized positive relationships between communication in teams and the agreeableness facets of trust and cooperation (Driskell et al., in 2006). In support of these assertions, one study of a group of human resources personnel (Neuman & Wright, 1999) found agreeableness to be related to communication and conflict resolution IPS, at both the individual (r = .35, p < 0.01) and group level (r = .39, p < 0.01).

There is also evidence to suggest that the trait of agreeableness has a moderate positive correlation with general measures of IPS (Ferris et al., 2001). For example, Morgeson, Reider, and Campion (2005) found a small correlation between agreeableness and a broad measure of social skills (r = .14, ns). Upon examining more narrow measures, they also described a small, positive correlation between cooperation and agreeableness (r = .11, ns). In other research, Kantrowitz, Kanfer, and Lippstreu (2006) found agreeableness to be modestly related to a broad measure of self-rated social skills (r = .15, ns; 95% CI ranged from -.01 to .32), and more strongly related to supervisor-rated social skills (r = .31, p < 0.01). Finally, in contrast to these positive findings, Barrick and Mount (1991) found no relationship between agreeableness (r = .00) and a composite of various metrics of criteria for salespersons (e.g., job performance, training proficiency, salary). However, it is important to note that these performance outcomes may have been influenced by many factors, including but not limited to the salespersons' IPS.

On balance, the available research evidence suggests that agreeable individuals are more likely to display strong communication and relationship-building IPS, including the ability to communicate openly and resolve conflicts amicably. The essential nature of the agreeableness trait suggests that it *should* be expected to relate positively and moderately to IPS. The question then becomes, is it possible to predict that agreeableness will be differentially related to communication versus relationship-building IPS? Hogan and Holland (2003) demonstrated that agreeableness is an important predictor when performance is evaluated based upon getting along with others (versus getting ahead). In the context of the current research, one might expect agreeableness to be positively related to cooperation and coordination, intercultural sensitivity, and service orientation. In addition, although it is expected that agreeableness will display positive relationships with each of the relationship-building IPS in almost all cases, the same may not be said for associations between agreeableness and interpersonal communication skills. For example, while agreeableness should be positively related to global ratings of communication skills, it might indeed be unrelated to assertive communication. Individuals who adopt an assertive stance towards an issue (whether in defense of personal rights or for other reasons) would not necessarily be expected to also appear to be agreeable. Upon examining the entire set of communication skills, positive relationships between oral communication and agreeableness may exist alongside negative associations between assertiveness and the agreeableness trait. Considering this issue in its entirety, and evaluating existing research and theory together, it is expected that agreeableness will be positively related to global measures of IPS and more strongly related to relationship-building IPS than interpersonal communication skills.

Hypothesis 2(a-b): Agreeableness will be (a) positively related to broad-based measures of "general" interpersonal skills, and (b) more strongly related to relationship-building interpersonal skills than interpersonal communication skills.

Conscientiousness

John and Srivastava (1999) described conscientiousness as "socially prescribed impulse control that facilitates task- and goal-directed behavior, such as thinking before acting, delaying gratification, following norms and rules, and planning, organizing and prioritizing tasks" (p. 121). Individuals, who possess moderate levels of impulse control, and those who generally follow prescribed rules and norms, would logically be expected to get along better with others. Based on a review of the literature in this area, Driskell and colleagues (2006) posited a positive relationship between the dutifulness facet of conscientiousness and interpersonal relations in teams. They also hypothesized a positive relationship between the dependability facet of conscientiousness and communication in teams. Considering both the nature of the construct and the relationships hypothesized by Driskell and colleagues, a positive association between conscientiousness and broad-based measures of IPS is to be expected.

The research findings linking conscientiousness to IPS have been mixed. Arguing against a relationship between conscientiousness and IPS, Neuman and Wright (1999) found no association between these two variables at the individual level (r = .01, ns) and a small negative relationship at the group level (r = .20, ns). In this study, IPS were assessed as combination of communication and conflict resolution skills. Similarly, Morgeson, Reider, and Campion (2005)

found virtually no relationship between conscientiousness and a broad measure of social skills (r = .02, ns).

On the other hand, empirical evidence arguing in favor of a relationship between conscientiousness and IPS has come from a number of sources. For example, Witt and Ferris (2003) found self-rated social skill to be marginally related to conscientiousness in four separate samples (r = .16, ns; r = .27, p < .05; r = .07, ns; and r = .14, ns). Moreover, conscientiousness displayed mixed relations with observer ratings of social skills (r = .08, ns; r = .30, p < .01) and self-ratings of social skill awareness (r = -.04, ns; r = -.30, p < .01). In other research, Barrick and Mount (1991) found a relationship between a composite measure of sales performance outcomes and conscientiousness (r = .23). A meta-analysis performed by Dudley, Orvis, Lebiecki, and Cortina (2006) found a relationship between a global measure of conscientiousness and interpersonal facilitation ($\beta = 0.15$, p < .001). In this study, interpersonal facilitation was defined using Motowidlo and Van Scotter's (1994) classification of performance criteria, which posits interpersonal facilitation as a reflection of a combination of teamwork, cooperation, and helping behaviors. Finally, Kantrowitz, Kanfer, and Lippstreu (2006) found conscientiousness to be related to both a measure of self-rated social skills (r = .21, p < .05) and supervisor-rated social skills (r = .36, p < .01). In this study, social skills were rated broadly and included communication, selling skills, and political skills.

The empirical findings have confirmed the theoretical rationale for the existence of a relationship between conscientiousness and IPS, but the findings have not been universally positive. However, based on both the preponderance of evidence and the fact that persons high on conscientiousness are viewed as being responsible, dependable, thorough, and organized, it is expected that they will also perform well in situations that require relationship-building skills.

What is not as clear, however, is that conscientious individuals would necessarily perform better in social communication contexts, contexts that necessitate active listening, effective verbal and nonverbal communication, and assertive communication. Thus, it is posited that existing relationships will be stronger between conscientiousness and relationship-building skills than for communication skills. Upon careful deliberation, hypotheses 3a and 3b are proposed.

Hypothesis 3(a-b): Conscientiousness will be (a) positively related to broad-based measures of "general" interpersonal skills, and (b) more strongly related to relationship-building interpersonal skills than interpersonal communication skills.

Emotional Stability

Emotional stability refers to the tendency to be relaxed, secure, and calm (Digman, 1990). In general, emotional stability reflects aspects related to a person's adjustment or lack of adjustment, and individuals who are high on emotional stability appear well-adjusted, calm, secure, and self-confident (Driskell et al., 2006). Moreover, emotionally stable individuals are expected to communicate effectively and have positive interpersonal relations in teams (Driskell et al., 2006). On the negative side of this dimension (alternatively termed neuroticism or negative affectivity) are anxiety, anger, depression, and insecurity (Vinchur, Schippmann, Switzer, & Roth, 1998). Each of these negative aspects would be expected to contribute to lower rated levels of interpersonal relationship-building skills, including self-presentation. As an example, individuals who score lower on emotional stability may be less likely to persist in an attempt to influence others and overcome resistance without becoming overly emotional (Schneider, 2001). This emotionality would be expected to have a negative effect on the ability to effectively

influence others. Alternatively, it is reasonable to suggest that emotionally stable individuals are better able to communicate effectively and manage the impressions that others form of them.

In empirical research in this area, Neuman and Wright (1999) found no relation between emotional stability and interpersonal skills at the individual level (r = .03, ns) and a small negative relationship at the group level (r = ..14, ns). In another investigation, Morgeson, Reider, and Campion (2005) found virtually no relationship between emotional stability and a broad measure of social skills (r = .02, ns). Similarly, Barrick and Mount (1991) found little relationship between emotional stability and a composite measure of performance for salespersons (r = .07, ns). In contrast to these findings, Chan (2001) found significant negative relationships between negative affectivity and impression management (r's ranging from -.22 to -.34, p < .05). Finally, in studies involving military teams conducted over 50 years ago, Haythorn (1953) and Greer (1955) found a positive relation between emotional stability and team effectiveness.

Certainly, the ability to work well with others requires a competent reservoir of interpersonal relationship-building skills. It is also likely that the positive aspects associated with emotional stability would contribute to better interpersonal relations in general. However, there is little reason at this time to expect that emotional stability would be more or less important for communication versus relationship building skills. With these considerations in mind, hypotheses 4a, 4b, and 4c are proposed.

Hypothesis 4(a-c): Emotional stability will be positively related to (a) interpersonal communication skills, (b) relationship-building interpersonal skills, and (c) broad-based measures of "general" interpersonal skills.

Extraversion

Extraversion has been described as a combination of assertiveness / dominance and sociability / affiliation (Lucas, Diener, Suh, Shao, & Grob, 2000). In an extensive review of 137 distinct personality traits, DeNeve and Cooper (1998) listed assertiveness, sociability, social boldness, and social competence among the interpersonal-oriented traits with strong theoretical relations to the Big Five factor of extraversion. In contrast to agreeableness, which may influence the quality of one's interpersonal relationships, extraversion primarily impacts the quantity and intensity of interpersonal relationships (DeNeve & Cooper, 1998). In the area of cross-cultural relations, Ones and Viswesvaran (1997) suggested that extraversion predicts good intercultural relations and specific aspects of expatriate job performance. Barrick and Mount (1991) were able to show that extraversion predicts performance in sales and management jobs.

Beyond relationships at the individual level, Driskell and colleagues (2006) discussed the likely effects of team member personality on team performance. Concerning the dimension of extraversion, they hypothesized negative relationships between the dominance facet of extraversion and both communication and interpersonal relations in teams. On the positive side, they described what they considered to be an expected positive relationship between the flexibility facet of extraversion and interpersonal relations in teams. In addition, they hypothesized positive relationships between communication in teams and both the ambition and flexibility facets of extraversion.

Many researchers have empirically investigated the relationships between extraversion and interpersonal competencies. For example, Barrick and Mount (1991) found a small association between extraversion and a composite of job performance criteria for salespersons (r= .15). In other research, Kantrowitz, Kanfer, and Lippstreu (2006) found extraversion to be

related to both a broad measure of self-rated social skills (r = .19, p < .05) and a supervisor-rated social skills (r = .35, p < .01). Similarly, Morgeson, Reider, and Campion (2005) found a small correlation between extraversion and a broad measure of social skills (r = .11, ns). Finally, in contrast to the previous findings, Neuman and Wright (1999) found no relationship between extraversion and IPS at the individual (r = .02, ns), or group level (r = .01, ns).

Upon consideration of the bulk of empirical evidence and theoretical discussions in this area, it is expected that positive associations exist between extraversion and both communication and relationship-building skills. That is, because extraversion refers to the tendency to be sociable, talkative, and assertive (Digman, 1990), it is expected that it will be related positively to communication skills, relationships-building IPS, and general IPS. In the current research, hypotheses 5a, 5b, and 5c will examine these assertions.

Hypothesis 5(a-c): *Extraversion will be positively related to (a) interpersonal communication skills, (b) relationship-building interpersonal skills, and (c) broad-based measures of "general" interpersonal skills.*

Openness to Experience

Openness to experience has been described as tendency to be imaginative, artistically sensitive, and intellectual (Digman, 1990). Individuals who are high on the openness dimension are likely to be more aware of social cues, and thus, more likely to attempt to adapt their own behavior to achieve better outcomes (e.g., Pulakos, Schmitt, Dorsey, Arad, Hedge, & Borman, 2002). The dimension of openness consists of a number of components, including intelligence, culture, creativity, interests, and cognitive complexity (DeNeve & Cooper, 1998). Moreover, openness is closely related to two of the seven dimensions of the Hogan Personality Inventory (HPI)—intellectance (i.e., imagination, creativity) and school success (i.e., valuing learning for its own sake). While research has found openness to be an important predictor for training performance (e.g., Barrick, Mount, & Judge, 2001; George & Zhou, 2001), studies examining the relationship between openness and IPS have not been nearly as positive.

For example, Neuman and Wright (1999) found a small negative relationship between openness and IPS at the individual level (r = -.07, ns). At the group level, they reported a small positive relationship between openness and IPS (r = .19, ns). In other research, Barrick and Mount (1991) found a small negative predictor-criterion relationship between openness and job performance indictors for salespersons (r = -.02). Taking just these previous findings into account, it may not be expected that significant relationships between openness to experience and IPS will be uncovered in the current research. Theoretically however, one might expect those who rate higher on the construct of openness to have more ability when it comes to intercultural sensitivity and other relationship-building interpersonal skills.

Speaking directly to this idea, research in the area of international assignments and expatriates has provided a number of interesting findings. In fact, openness to experience is frequently and positively linked to successful performance in international assignments (Jordan & Cartwright, 1998). In one study, 338 international assignees ranked "extra-cultural openness" as one of five critical factors that contribute to success (Arthur & Bennett, 1995). Similarly, Ones and Viswesvaran (1997) suggested that openness would be related to communication competence, but also interpersonal relations and acceptance, adjustment, and completion of expatriate examples. Finally, openness has also been investigated in the context of the propensity to utilize certain relationship-oriented career management strategies. These activities involve a strong social element and include building a network of contacts and relationships, using self-

nomination or presentation, and developing closer mentoring relationships (Guthrie, Coate, & Schwoerer, 1998). In a study of 128 professional accountants, Guthrie and colleagues examined the relationship of various dimensions of the HPI to relationship-oriented strategies of career management. They found the HPI dimensions of intellectance and school success to be modestly related to both the propensity to seek mentoring (r = .11, and .13, respectively), and selfpresentation behaviors (r = .08, and .16, respectively). Because these HPI dimensions are essential equivalents to the Big Five dimension of openness to experience, it is likely that relationship-oriented career management tactics are also somewhat related to openness. On balance, there is reason to expect that openness to experience will relate positively to relationship-building IPS (including intercultural sensitivity and cross-cultural relations), but not necessarily to interpersonal communication competencies. Therefore, hypothesis 6 will be used to examine the relationship between openness and relationship-building IPS.

Hypothesis 6: *Openness to experience will be positively related to relationshipbuilding interpersonal skills.*

Relationships between Interpersonal Skills and Outcomes

The first group of hypotheses in this research examined various antecedents to interpersonal skills. The current section, then, addresses the relationships between IPS and various outcomes. However, what will be needed is a way to organize these seemingly disparate findings into a coherent set of conclusions pertaining to the associations between various interpersonal communication and relationship-building skills and outcomes. First, it must be noted that effect sizes describing the relationships between IPS and outcomes will first be divided by three levels of analysis on which the criterion variables may be measured—

individual, group/team, unit/organizational. However, only individual level data will be fully investigated and reported.

Our understanding of interpersonal processes and relationships is still-nearly 90 years after Thorndike's articulation of the construct of *social intelligence*—in its infancy. Periods of research and thought leadership have been buttressed by periods of relative inactivity (Ferris et al., 2002). Moreover, research on groups and teams (as well as unit and organization-wide factors) is even more nascent. More importantly, the nature of interpersonal interactions necessitates first, an understanding of one-one-one relationships. That is, before we can postulate about the outcomes of IPS at the group, team, unit, or organizational levels, we need a better understanding of how IPS relate to important outcomes at the individual level. These realities are further supported by an examination of the current database of collected articles, where it is evident that the vast majority of studies in this area assess the impact of IPS on outcomes at the individual level of analysis. In terms of conducting a synthesis of research, we are simply not at the point where a comprehensive review of interpersonal relations at higher levels of analysis is possible. Therefore, the hypotheses presented here will focus on and include outcomes at the individual level only. Relationships between IPS and team or organizational-level outcomes will also be coded, but examined on an exploratory (and post hoc) basis only.

By itself, this separation of IPS correlates into individual, group, or organizational variables (with the focus on individual level outcomes) is somewhat problematic. For example, one might rightfully argue that it is inappropriate to combine all of the individual attitudinal and performance outcomes into one group. Combining these dissimilar outcomes would do little to clarify the empirical relationships in this area. Therefore, primary study data will be further divided, where possible, into some additional categories. Specifically, outcome correlates of IPS

will be further separated based on whether they are primarily cognitive, affective, or skill-based in nature (e.g., Kraiger, Ford, and Salas, 1993). This particular conceptualization of outcomes was initially put forward was a way to better assess learning outcomes during the training evaluation process. As such, it was meant to expand upon Kirkpatrick's (1987) well-known training evaluation model (i.e., reactions, learning, behavior, results). However, its usefulness extends beyond the evaluation of training, as it is also a practical and intuitive mechanism for categorizing the many constructs addressed in the current literature.

Cognitive outcomes include declarative knowledge and describe, "a class of variables related to the quantity and type of knowledge and the relationships among knowledge elements" (Kraiger et al., 1993, p. 313). Examples of cognitive outcomes at the individual level might include declarative knowledge of cross-cultural values, or generic teamwork competencies (e.g., Marks, Sabella, Burke, & Zaccaro, 2002). Affective or attitudinal variables might include individual efficacy beliefs, or measures of satisfaction. Finally, examples of skill-based outcomes at the individual-level primarily include indices of performance, but at the team level might also include process measures such as planning or coordination.

Empirical research on IPS has documented many relationships between IPS and outcomes. For example, Morgeson, Reider, and Campion (2005) found relationships between a broad measure of social skills (including both communication and relationship-building skills) and teamwork knowledge (r = .23, p < .05). Associations were also found between social skills and both cooperation and coordination-oriented contextual performance (r = .28, p < .05), and task performance (r = .17, ns). In other research, Hochwarter and colleagues found social skills to be positively related to a measure of supervisor ratings of job performance for groups of sales representatives (n = 136; r = .24, p < .01) and customer service employees (n = 115; r = .25, p < .05).

.01). Of course, many other outcome variables have been shown to have positive relationships with various IPS. Among these include executive success (Aditya & House, 2002), managerial performance (Borman & Brush, 1993), objective and supervisor measures of performance (Alge, Gresham, Heneman, Fox, & McMasters, 2002), entrepreneurial style (Avkiran, 2000), intercultural adjustment (Black, 1990), feedback seeking (Dahling & Whitaker, 2005), and group performance (Dirks, 1999). However, not all relationships have been positive, and no prior research has examined the full range of IPS and outcomes that are under investigation in the current research.

In general, it is expected that interpersonal communication and relationship-building skills will be positively related with most, if not all, of the correlates examined. Moreover, these associations will likely vary from small to moderate, depending on the particular relationship examined. As an example, behaviorally-based empathy skills would be expected to relate to perceptions of workgroup climate, but not necessarily to performance outcomes. Similarly, it is doubtful there will be any associations found in the literature which assess the relationship between written communication skills and team-level affective outcomes. However, there should be a moderate positive relationship between individuals' active listening skills and affective outcomes at the individual and team levels. As another example, cooperation should be expected to be related to climate-type outcomes, at both the group and organizational levels. However, due to the vast number of possible skill-outcome combinations in this literature, no specific differential predictions will be made for this set of hypotheses. At the same time, more specific predictions detailing expected differential outcomes based on training method are provided in the following section, a section which examines the efficacy and boundary conditions for IPS training.

Hypothesis 7(a-c): Interpersonal communication skills will be positively
correlated with (a) cognitive, (b) affective, and (c) skill-based outcomes.
Hypothesis 8(a-c): Relationship-building interpersonal skills will be positively
correlated (a) cognitive, (b) affective, and (c) skill-based outcomes.
Hypothesis 9(a-c): "General" interpersonal skills will be positively correlated
with (a) cognitive, (b) affective, and (c) skill-based outcomes.

The Efficacy of Interpersonal Skills Training

As expenditures on IPS training have swelled (Gist & Stevens, 1998; Landy & Conte, 2004), these interventions are becoming increasingly more common. Of the estimated \$109 billion dollars spent on training last year, 9.5% of that was directed at supervisory skills training, 4% at customer service training, and 4% directly targeted for training of interpersonal skills (Rivera & Paradise, 2006). IPS training should be designed to enhance each of the cognitive, behavioral, and affective components of these skills (Bailey & Butcher, 1983; Harrison, 1992). At the same time, differences in training methods are expected to lead to differences in the relative efficacy of training for improving various outcomes associated with IPS.

The Effectiveness of IPS Training for Improving IPS

A general assumption in this research is that interpersonal skills training is effective for improving interpersonal skills. This assumption, although basic in nature is important to document. Meta-analytic procedures have developed to the point where they can provide evidence-based conclusions and guidance for training and development practitioners. That is, beyond the findings of isolated and individual studies—each of which examine specific training methods, skills, and populations—a general understanding of the efficacy of IPS training is needed. Given the extensive sums of money spent on developing interpersonal skills, it is important to provide a comprehensive accounting of this relationship. Hypothesis 10 will examine this basic assumption.

Hypothesis 10: Interpersonal skills training will be effective for improving interpersonal skills.

Training Method

Beyond the basic question regarding the efficacy of IPS training, this research will also examine whether the method of training moderates the relationship between IPS training and individual benefits in terms of gains to cognitive, affective, and skill-based outcomes. Thus, the efficacy of four distinct training methods will also be investigated as part of this research: (1) lecture, (2) lecture and discussion, (3) process interventions, and (4) behavioral modeling training.

Lecture

Lecture-based methods are traditional mechanisms for disseminating information. These methods typically consist of an oral presentation by a qualified source, but in the context of the current research may be extended to include any method of conveying factual information. As such, this method also includes computer-based methods of presenting information (e.g., written documents or slideshow presentations).

In an early examination of the perceived efficacy of nine different training methods for improving various training objectives, Carroll, Paine, and Ivancevich (1972) surveyed 117

organizational training directors for their opinions on the effectiveness of various training methods. Specifically, the training directors were asked to rate the alternative training methods on a five-point scale ranging from "not effective" to "highly effective." The results showed lecture-based training to be rated as the least effective among the nine alternatives for knowledge acquisition and next to last for changing attitudes and improving IPS. However, despite their relatively poor reputation among these training practitioners, one finding from a recent metaanalysis by Arthur, Bennett, Edens, & Bell (2003) suggested that lectures are one of the most effective training methods for improving cognitive outcomes. Similarly, lecture-based methods have demonstrated effectiveness for generic teamwork skills training (Cannon-Bowers et al., 1995; Ellis, Bell, Ployhart, Hollenbeck, & Ilgen, 2005). However, because they are less involving and interactive than other methods, they are not expected to substantially impact outcomes other than declarative knowledge. By its very nature, lecture-based instruction involves a one-way sharing of knowledge. Without interaction and practice, it would not be expected that lecture-based instruction of IPS would improve affective or skill-based outcomes to any discernable degree. Taking these considerations together, hypothesis 11 is presented.

Hypothesis 11: Lecture-based methods will be more effective for improving cognitive outcomes of interpersonal skills than affective or skill-based outcomes.

Lecture and Discussion

Lecture and discussion methods combine group discussions with traditional lectures and typically focus on generic interpersonal contexts and skills. In contrast to process interventions, which focus on the group's specific interaction processes, these discussions elaborate and extend upon the information provided during a traditional lecture. As one example, a group of sales

managers might participate in a training program for improving their customer interaction skills. In this context, the program might include a lecture on pertinent topics (e.g., nonverbal communication, active listening) and include a group discussion on alternate methods, tips, or suggestions for improving these skills. Moreover, in this method of training delivery, active participation is encouraged and the opportunity for feedback and clarification on key concepts is provided (Burke & Day, 1986). Carroll and colleagues (1972) found training methods incorporating both lecture and discussion to be rated third most effective among nine training methods for facilitating knowledge acquisition, changing attitudes, and improving IPS. Because this method of training expands upon the basic lecture format (by allowing for elaboration, questioning, and further discussion), lecture and discussion methods are expected to be most useful for improving cognitive outcomes and more effective than lecture alone for this purpose. Elaboration itself promotes active learning and thereby a deeper embedding of cognitive structures. Similarly, because these methods focus on generic contexts and concepts-which are not necessarily as effective as context-specific training for skill improvement (cf. Cannon-Bowers et al., 1995)—they are not expected to produce the same level of benefits in terms of affective or skill-based outcomes. Hypotheses 12a and 12b will investigate these assertions.

Hypothesis 12(a-b): Lecture and discussion methods will be (a) more effective for improving cognitive outcomes of interpersonal skills than affective or skill-based outcomes, and be (b) superior to lecture-based methods for this purpose.

Process Interventions

Process intervention activities are aimed at assisting individuals and groups to examine, diagnose, and act upon their behavior and interpersonal relationships (Schein, 1969; Schein,

1999). One particular process intervention is sensitivity, or t group, training. The typical model for sensitivity training includes a group meeting which takes place without a formal agenda. Individuals who participate in sensitivity training are expected to discuss topics related to the group's interaction processes. Formal team building efforts have also been described as process intervention activities (Beer, 1976; Beer, 1980; Buller, 1986; Dyer, 1987), and typically focus on interpersonal relations, goal setting, role clarification, or interpersonal problem solving. A recent meta-analysis on team building found it to be more effective for improving affective and process-oriented outcomes, than cognitive or performance-based outcomes (Klein et al., under review). Moreover, in the survey conducted by Carroll and colleagues (1972), sensitivity training was rated highest among nine different training methods for improving IPS. Importantly, sensitivity training was rated first among the various methods for the training objective of changing attitudes. Conversely, these process intervention activities were rated next to last in this study for the acquisition of knowledge (Carroll et al., 1972). Considering both the interactive nature of these interventions, and the previous research in this area, process intervention activities are expected to have a greater influence on affective outcomes than any other training method. Hypothesis 13 is put forward to examine this assumption.

Hypothesis 13: *Process intervention methods will rank first among the various training methods for improving affective outcomes of interpersonal skills.*

Behavioral Modeling Training (BMT)

Behavioral role modeling training is based upon Bandura's social learning theory and includes observation, role-playing (modeling, practice), and feedback for modifying the behavior of trainees. In general, these programs have demonstrated success in a broad variety of settings

(e.g., Baldwin, 1992; Goldstein & Sorcher, 1974; May & Kahnweiler, 2000). The typical sequence involved in BMT programs includes "a description of skills-behaviors to be learned, prior to, or along with, modeling, and then practice with feedback (Taylor et al., 2005, p. 693).

By examining behavioral role modeling interventions and broad-based supervisory and teamwork-related IPS, Taylor and colleagues' (2005) comprehensive research clearly has much in common with the current proposal. However, rather than amalgamating IPS as "supervisory" or "teamwork" skills, they may be better viewed as sets of communication and relationship-building competencies, in addition to an inclusive set of "general" IPS. One rationale for the superiority of the current distinction stems directly from the way in which supervisory and teamwork skills were operationalized by Taylor and colleagues. Specifically, both contained a substantial emphasis on communication skills. In the current research, communication skills will be more appropriately examined separately from other, relationship-building IPS. Importantly, the influence of training methods other than BMT will also be examined in the current study.

There are reasons to believe that the more rigorous BMT methods will result in improvements across the different outcomes—cognitive, skill-based, and affective. For example, the organizational trainers who responded to the survey by Carroll and colleagues (1972) rated role playing second only to sensitivity training for improving IPS and changing attitudes. In addition, these methods should be more effective for improving cognitive and skill-based outcomes than other methods. Training methods that involve only symbolic modeling (e.g., lectures and observation) rank lower in cognitive involvement than methods that involve participative modeling processes (e.g., role plays). Thus, the more rigorous the training method (in terms of modeling and practice), the more likely it is that trainees will be able to reproduce the learned material in the form of skill-based outcomes (Bandura, 1977). Moreover, researchers

have suggested that interactive training methods such as BMT that include role-playing, guided practice, and feedback should be equally or more effective than other methods for developing generic teamwork competencies (e.g., Beard, Salas, & Prince, 1995; Salas, Burke, & Cannon-Bowers, 2002). Finally, Taylor and colleagues' (2005) review on BMT suggested that these interventions were most effective at inculcating declarative knowledge, followed by procedural knowledge, attitudes, and job behaviors. The crucial point is that the comprehensive and highly involving nature of these interventions leads to the expectation that they are useful for improving each of the individual-level outcomes examined in this research. Thus, as the most common and engaging of the various training methods, BMT is posited to have a greater impact than other methods on cognitive and skill-based outcomes, but not necessarily affective outcomes. Specifically, BMT should positively impact affective outcomes, but not to the same degree as process interventions, which have routinely demonstrated their effectiveness for these outcomes.

Hypothesis 14(a-b): Behavioral modeling training methods will be (a) effective for improving each of the training outcomes assessed in this research, and (b) will rank first among the various training methods for improving cognitive and skillbased outcomes.

Job Complexity and Interpersonal Skills

Job Complexity

One particularly interesting moderator variable that may influence the relationships between IPS and outcomes is job complexity. In this area, Fine's (1955) discussion and rationale of rating jobs according to their demands for dealing with people, data, and things has been

especially influential. For example, Hunter and Hunter (1984) used the dimensions and complexity families from Fine (1955) in analyzing a large database (U.S. Employment Service, 1970) which catalogued the relationship between general mental ability (*g*; as measured by the General Aptitude Test Battery, GATB) and job performance. Upon examining this data, they decided to group job families by level of complexity rather than similarity of tasks, and five job families resulted. Moreover, they found that the dimension of job complexity was largely captured by Fine's (1955) data dimension, "though Fine's things dimension did define [two] small but specialized industrial job families: set-up work and jobs involving feeding/offbearing" (Hunter & Hunter, 1984, p. 81).

A primary finding from the Hunter and Hunter study is that the validity of cognitive ability as a predictor decreases as job complexity decreases. Stated a different way, as jobs become more complex, cognitive ability becomes increasingly important. Moreover, cognitive ability has been shown to a superb predictor of job-related learning, of the acquisition of job knowledge on the job (e.g., Schmidt & Hunter, 1992; Schmidt, Hunter, & Outerbridge, 1986), and of performance in job training programs (Hunter, 1986; Hunter & Hunter, 1984; Ree & Earles, 1992). These findings are in contrast to those reported for psychomotor ability. Specifically, the validity of psychomotor ability as a predictor increases only as job complexity decreases (Hunter & Hunter, 1984).

Whereas the validity of psychomotor ability tends to be high for job families where the validity of cognitive ability is lowest, the validity of IPS is expected to more closely mirror the results found for cognitive ability. This expectation stems in part from the spirit of the century-old quest to document different "forms" of intelligence (e.g., social intelligence, emotional intelligence). And, as is the case with cognitive ability, the enactment of interpersonal skills is

expected to show greater validity in occupations with higher rated levels of job complexity. That is, in spite of the fact that interpersonal skills are currently positioned as behaviorally-, rather than cognitively-based, they still involve a cognitive component in the sense that it is important to know when and how to best deploy these skills.

As an example, consider managerial jobs and professional jobs that require the coordination of data and people. It is likely the case that in these settings those with superior IPS (e.g., communication, conflict resolution) are simply better performers than those with lower rated levels of IPS. In contrast, jobs at levels four and five, where individuals may work in isolation of others, would not likely require the same level of communication or relationshipbuilding skills. Taking these considerations into account, the current research will examine the potential moderating impact of job complexity. However, rather than replicating previous findings for cognitive or psychomotor ability, this research will examine whether the relationships between IPS and outcomes are moderated by job complexity. Two further points regarding this analysis are necessary. First, effect sizes from primary studies will only be included in this analysis when they come from "real world" participant populations. Specifically, findings derived from lab studies conducted with student populations will not be included in this analysis due to the difficulty of coding for job complexity in these settings. Second, in an effort to enhance the reliability of the coding for this analysis, the five levels of job complexity will be collapsed into three levels: high (levels 1 and 2), medium (level 3), and low (levels 4 and 5). Taken together, it is expected that IPS will be of greater importance in complex jobs that involve increased managerial and coordination requirements (e.g., levels 1 and 2) than in less complex jobs. Similarly, the relationships between IPS and medium complexity jobs are expected to be

greater than for low complexity jobs. Hypotheses 15a, 15b, and 15c will be used to examine these assertions.

Hypothesis 15(a-c): (a) Interpersonal communication skills, (b) relationshipbuilding interpersonal skills, and (c) broad-based measures of "general" interpersonal skills will display stronger relationships with the combined set of outcome variables as job complexity increases.

Summary of Hypotheses

To review, hypotheses addressing the domain of IPS and IPS training are presented under the organization of four themes. First, various antecedents variables to IPS will be investigated, including gender and personality traits. Concerning gender, previous research has found gender differences favoring females for various interpersonal communication and relationship-building competencies. This research will attempt to replicate these findings using meta-analysis as a tool to quantitatively summarize the literature in this area. In the area of personality, a handful of studies have investigated relationships between assorted personality dimensions and IPS. Among these individual difference variables, there is strong support for the expectation that the construct of agreeableness will have moderate positive relations with communication and relationshipbuilding interpersonal competencies. However, each of the Big Five personality dimensions will be examined in this research, with differential relationships predicted for some of them.

Second, there will be an examination of the relationships between IPS and various outcome variables. Similar to the hypotheses concerning various antecedents of IPS, the investigations presented in this section will help to illuminate and quantify empirical relationships in the domain of IPS. Building upon previous research in this area, this research

will examine IPS correlates based upon whether they address primarily cognitive, affective, or skill-based outcomes. Next, hypotheses are presented that investigate the relative efficacy and boundary conditions of IPS training. Finally, job complexity will be examined as a potential moderating variable in the relationship between IPS and outcomes. Figure 2 (see Appendix A) is provided as a high-level framework and organizing reference for the theory upon which the hypotheses in the current research will be tested.

Having formally presented the 15 proposed hypotheses, the next chapter discusses the proposed methods and analyses in greater detail. This discussion includes a description of the study identification, selection, and coding procedures, as well as an elaboration of the proposed analyses. Following the presentation of study methods and analyses, potential study limitations are discussed, along with a few concluding remarks.

CHAPTER 5: METHOD

Leveraging Meta-Analysis

While the specific, named use of "meta-analysis" is a relatively recent phenomenon, there is a long history of using quantitative techniques to summarize the results of scientific studies. For example, in the early 18th century an English mathematician named Roger Cotes computed weighted averages of measurements produced by different astronomers (Shadish, Cook, & Campbell, 2002). Sir Karl Pearson (1904) also applied cumulative methods to six studies of the effectiveness of inoculations against typhoid fever. More recently, the term meta-analysis was coined by Glass, who described it as a quantitative technique employed for cumulating effect size estimates over multiple primary studies (Glass, 1976; Glass, McGaw, & Smith, 1981).

Since its inception, the technique of meta-analysis has been used in countless domains, including areas such as evidence-based medicine (Lau, Schmid, & Chalmers, 1995), relapse prevention (Irvin, Bowers, Dunn, & Wang, 1999), unemployment and well-being (McKee-Ryan, Song, Wanberg, & Kinicki, 2005), psychological intervention programs and worker productivity (Guzzo, Jette, & Katzell, 1985), gender and leadership effectiveness (Eagly, Johannesen-Schmidt, & van Engen, 2003), leader-member exchange theory (Gerstner & Day, 1997), and team building (Salas, Rozell, et al., 1999). Meta-analyses are particularly useful for assessing whether conflicting primary study results in the literature are due to artifactual, or actual, variation (Hunter & Schmidt, 2004; Hunter, Schmidt, & Jackson, 1982). Moreover, as a technique, meta-analysis is useful in support of generalized causal inference (Shadish, Cook, & Campbell, 2002). The current study applies meta-analytical techniques to published and unpublished empirical research in order to obtain quantitative estimates of the relationships

between various antecedents and outcomes of IPS. In addition, the efficacy and boundary conditions for effective IPS training interventions will be evaluated.

Literature Search and Selection of Studies

The search for articles and manuscripts with potential for inclusion in the meta-analytic database proceeded in four ways. First, electronic searches of computerized databases were performed using the following key words: interpersonal skills, social skills, people skills, interpersonal skills training, social skills training, communication skills, active listening, nonverbal communication, assertive communication, relationship-building skills, cooperation and coordination, cross-cultural relations, intercultural sensitivity, customer service orientation, empathy, self-presentation, influence, persuasion, and conflict resolution and negotiation. More specifically, the electronic databases and abstracting services of Academic Search Premier, Business Source Premier, Defense Technical Information Center, EBSCOhost, Military & Government Collection, PsychINFO, PsycARTICLES, Science Direct, and SPORT Discuss were all searched for pertinent articles published through August 2008. Second, an ancestry approach was leveraged to extract additional, potentially relevant, articles. In this approach, the reference sections and bibliographies of primary studies which had already been retrieved were scanned for articles of interest that may have avoided detection during the larger literature search. For this effort, a number of prior qualitative and quantitative reviews (e.g., Taylor et al., 2005) were instrumental for uncovering studies which were not identified though the electronic searches. Moreover, this ancestry approach was particularly crucial in light of the wide variety of construct labels used to refer to IPS. Third, efforts were also made to obtain unpublished conference paper presentations and proceedings. Specifically, relevant annual conference

presentations and proceedings from two national conferences (i.e., Society for Industrial and Organizational Psychology, Academy of Management) were obtained for the years 2002-2008. Finally, the author took extensive efforts to contact organizations and researchers who publish in the IPS area for additional unpublished articles. These efforts included informal discussions at conferences and formal queries to researchers and organizations (e.g., Center for Creative Leadership).

This initial search process resulted in the identification of over 1,000 articles with potential for inclusion in the meta-analytic database. Next, abstracts from the targeted articles (in many cases, the full text article was already in hand) were reviewed and a decision was made as to whether the study would be subjected to the full coding procedure that will be used for this research. During this stage of the study selection process, articles containing the following characteristics were eliminated from further analyses: (a) use of clinical populations, (b) use of children as participants. While research on these types of individuals may be of practical benefit to researchers working with these specific populations, it would not be appropriate to include the results of these studies with those from more "mainstream" populations. Moreover, articles already in possession were eliminated at the outset if they failed to report a usable test statistic (e.g., r, t, F, d, χ^2 , z), or the raw data necessary to calculate these statistics (e.g., means, standard deviations, sample size). Studies were also eliminated prior to coding if they assessed constructs not considered skill- or behaviorally-based (e.g., personality constructs). Finally, studies which present the results of IPS training interventions must have either: (1) a comparison between trained groups and no-training control groups, or (2) a pre-post comparison of the results of a training intervention within a single group.

Once initial articles were collected, the ancestry approach continued. Late obtained scholarly works were reviewed in greater detail for the possibility that additional "fugitive" literature in the IPS area may be identified. As a result of this screening process, 350 published and unpublished papers were targeted for subsequent coding. Each of these articles, book chapters, technical reports, dissertations, conference papers and proceedings were subsequently obtained in full text. In the next section, a thorough discussion of the specific coding strategy for these articles is provided.

Primary Study Coding

Often, meta-analytic integrations will make use of a similar coding scheme to quantify study characteristics and results (Lipsey & Wilson, 2001; Stock, 1994). The coding strategy used in this research included capturing 22 pieces of information from each primary study. In general, the information targeted from these studies corresponds to the proposed hypotheses, as described earlier. For example, studies were coded according to the level of job complexity experienced by the participants. For this moderator analysis, articles were first coded based on whether participants were students or organizational employees; further coding which focused on job complexity was completed for those studies that utilized organizational employees as their focus. In addition (where applicable), gender and Big Five personality variables were coded as possible antecedents of IPS to be investigated. In order to capture the data necessary for performing corrections for unreliability, the reliability estimates for various IPS, antecedents of IPS, and outcomes of IPS were also recorded from primary studies. Importantly, primary study effect size estimates were identified by their level of analysis and only individual-level data was analyzed in the current research. Additional information that did not directly contribute to hypothesis testing

was also collected. Categories such as study setting (e.g., lab, field, or hybrid), publication type (e.g., journal, conference, technical report, dissertation) and study design type (e.g., single group posttest only, single group pretest-posttest comparison, pretest-posttest with control group, and posttest only with control group) were also utilized. Further description for all 22 coding categories is provided in Appendix C.

Rater Reliability

In meta-analytic initiatives, the assessment of rater reliability is generally of great importance to reviewers, critics, and the general audience. Observations and ratings of primary study characteristics should be objective and reliable. Indeed, accurate coding is vital to the conclusions generated from any amalgamation of primary study effect sizes. Therefore, it was important to perform an independent check on the accuracy of these recorded observations.

Interrater reliability refers to degree of agreement or consistency that exists between two or more judges. The reliability of raters or judges is assessed to determine whether obtained ratings are free from bias or error. Whenever human judgment becomes part of the measurement process, there remains the possibility that study-irrelevant variance is introduced into the process. That is, rater idiosyncratic judgments concerning study design, characteristics, and measurement issues can yield results that might be expected to vary across raters. In most meta-analyses, two or more raters will rate most (or all) of the available studies, with the agreement among ratings used to estimate reliability, using traditional estimates of the interrater reliability of judgments provided by multiple judges (e.g., intraclass correlation coefficients; Nunnally, 1978; Nunnally & Bernstein, 1994; Shrout & Fleiss, 1979). Despite the independent nature of this research, another individual was recruited to code a subset of the articles in the database. This individual is
a fellow graduate student with previous experience in similar meta-analytic coding schemes and was trained on the specific categories that were assessed in the current research. This second set of ratings was performed on twenty articles chosen by the author from the final, complete database of coded articles. These articles were purposively sampled to comprise a representative sample of each of the hypothesis areas under investigation in this research. This subset represents 14% of the articles included in the final database.

Both the primary author and his colleague have had considerable experience and possess an adequate level of expertise with similar coding schemes. In fact, the current coding methods are based in large part upon previous schemes which have proven to be robust and highly reliable (cf. Burke, Stagl, Klein, Goodwin, Salas, & Halpin, 2006; Klein, Salas, Burke, Goodwin, Halpin, DiazGranados, & Badum, 2006). Thus, it was expected that the primary studies would be coded accurately, completely, and without bias.

Upon examination, the coders were in agreement 100% of the time concerning the proper effect size estimate to pull from primary studies in the reliability sample. Across all coding categories, the calculated ICCs ranged from ICC (3, 1) = .886 to ICC (3, 1) = 1.000. More specifically, other categories assessed for interrater agreement included primary study hypothesis area (ICC 3,1 = 1.000), job complexity (ICC 3,1 = .905), sample size (ICC 3,1 = 1.000), antecedent reliability (ICC 3,1 = 1.000), specific interpersonal skill under examination (ICC 3,1 = .890), predictor reliability (ICC 3,1 = .923), criterion reliability (ICC 3,1 = .886), and article inclusion/exclusion (ICC 3,1 = 1.000). Based on these estimates, it appears that the primary study coding process was done with a high level of reliability.

Effect Size Calculations

In general, the term effect size refers to the magnitude of effect observed in a study. It may indicate either the size of a relationship between variables or the degree of difference between group means (Field, 2001). Before calculating a meta-analytic estimate of the relationship between variables, effect sizes culled from primary studies must be prepared for entry into the database. First, the researcher must decide on the effect size metric to use (e.g., r). Next, effect sizes from primary studies will often have to be converted or transformed into the common metric. Following that, the method for calculating standard error should be clarified. In addition, the researcher must decide whether to perform "corrections" upon the primary study effect sizes. These corrections are meant to combat unreliability in predictor and/or criterion measures. Corrections may also be performed to rectify the effect of direct or indirect restriction of range in the variables under examination. Failure to perform these corrections can lead to an underestimate of the population effect size and an overestimatation of variation of effect sizes across studies. Finally, the particular weighting procedure for primary study effect sizes must be decided upon. For example, primary study effect sizes will often be weighted by study sample size. Each of these issues will be discussed more thoroughly in the following sections.

Effect Size Metric

In general, there are two metrics of study outcomes: Significance level and effect size. In the present study, the index of effect size (i.e., r), rather than significance level (i.e., p-levels), was chosen for specification of the relationships between study variables. Effect size estimates are more desirable for this purpose because of their ability to take into account the magnitude of the relationship between variables. Further, significance levels are highly influenced by sample

size and are not as informative concerning the relationship between two constructs. In addition, raw r values, rather than Fisher's r-to-z transformation, will be utilized. While many investigators report both average r and average z, practically speaking, the difference between the two is typically small (Wolf, 1986). In fact, use of the Fisher z transformed may result in an upward bias, or overestimate of the population r (Fisher, 1932; Field, 2001; Hunter et al., 1982; Schmidt, Gast-Rosenberg, & Hunter, 1980). It may also yield estimates of variance that are less accurate than estimates based on the correlation coefficient (Field, 2005; Hunter & Schmidt, 2004). Consequently, in keeping with a desire to provide a conservative estimate of the combined effect, only the combined r will be reported.

As noted earlier, relevant empirical studies were excluded if they failed to report a usable statistic relating IPS to specified outcomes. In order to aggregate findings across studies, it was necessary to first convert all test statistics to a common metric, *r*. "Statistical tests such as *t*-tests, *F*-tests, and chi-square statistics are not effect sizes because for any given effect, their value increases as the sample size increases" (Rothstein, McDaniel, & Borenstein, 2002, p. 541). That is, while test statistics and confidence levels may indicate the likelihood that study results are due to chance, they cannot specify the magnitude or strength of the effect of one variable on another. Thus, when necessary, effect sizes reported in primary studies as either *t*, *F*, *d*, χ^2 or *Z* statistics were transformed using the following formulas:

t to
$$r = \sqrt{(t^2)/(t^2 + df)}$$

F to $r = \sqrt{(F)/(F + df_{error})}$
d to $r = d / \sqrt{(4 + d^2)}$
 χ^2 to $r = \sqrt{\frac{\chi^2(1)}{N}}$

)

$$Z$$
 to $r = \frac{Z}{\sqrt{N-1}}$

Once placed on this common metric of effect size (*r*), the results of separate tests of hypotheses can be combined, compared, and examined for fit with predicted hypotheses. However, several studies contained more than one effect size estimate. It is a well known fact that when a study contains multiple effect sizes, they are stochastically dependent (Shadish et al., 2002). These dependencies violate the statistical assumption of independent effect sizes. These violations serve to inflate the observed variance of effect sizes across studies, but do not necessarily affect the mean *r* value in a meta-analysis (Hunter & Schmidt, 2004). Nonetheless, one solution researchers adopt is simply to combine effect sizes from different measures obtained from the same sample within a single study prior to combining results from multiple studies. This type of subgroup analysis is useful, but does come with a price. Specifically, this approach underestimates the total sample size and causes a greater likelihood of sampling error or capitalization on chance (Hunter & Schmidt, 2004).

An alternative method is available which combines effect sizes within single studies using confirmatory factor analysis techniques. Unfortunately, this method involves the use of reported correlations among all of the variables in question, and for this reason was not feasible in the current research. Thus, the approach employed in the current research was to average across effect sizes from primary studies. That is, related measures found within primary studies were combined in order to avoid artificially increasing the overall sample size. In some cases, it becomes logically and theoretically inappropriate to combine effect size estimates obtained from two different measures. For example, it is unnecessary to combine effect sizes of the same outcomes obtained from two different samples in the same study. Therefore, when it deemed more appropriate to keep effect size estimates separated, that is the approach that was utilized.

Meta-Analysis Approach

In general, there are two ways to conceptualize the process of combining effect sizes from individual studies—fixed-effects and random-effects models. Essentially, in fixed-effects models (also called the "homogeneous" case) the effect size in the population is assumed to be the same for all studies included in the meta-analysis (Hedges, 1992; Field, 2001). In contrast, random-effects models assume that population effect sizes vary from study to study such that the population effect size is likely to be different than any other study in the meta-analysis (1992; Field, 2001). This is also referred to as the "heterogeneous" case. Further, in random-effects models, "studies in the meta-analysis are assumed to be only a sample of all possible studies that could be done on a given topic" (Field, 2001, p. 162). Statistically, the choice of one model over the other will influence the calculation of standard errors associated with the combined effect size.

For the present study, the random-effects model will be used to combine effect sizes from primary studies. This model is "probably more realistic than the fixed-effect model on the majority of occasions" (Field, 2001, p. 162). In addition, three methods of meta-analysis are often used in contemporary studies (Field, 2001): The methods devised by Hedges and Olkin (1985); by Rosenthal and Rubin (see Rosenthal, 1991); and by Hunter and Schmidt (2004). The current study will employ the Hunter and Schmidt method, which is a random-effects method, using formulas from Hunter and Schmidt (2004) for estimating the standard error of obtained effect sizes.

Corrections for Unreliability and Range Restriction

Meta-analytic integrations commonly include corrections to adjust obtained reliability coefficients for unreliability in the predictor, criterion, or both (e.g., Hunter & Schmidt, 2004; Johnson, Mullen, & Salas, 1995). The correction of study artifacts requires auxiliary information (Hunter & Schmidt, 2004). In many cases, original studies will not report all of the necessary information to perform these corrections. When a decision is made not to correct for unreliability in primary studies, it is acknowledged that observed mean effect sizes will be downwardly biased. Thus, the decision not to use corrections for unreliability will result in a more conservative estimate of the relationships between antecedents and IPS and between IPS and outcomes.

On balance, it is argued that making corrections for unreliability in the predictor and criterion measures will result in a more accurate estimate of the population effect size. Provided that enough information is available in primary studies, these corrections for unreliability were made in the current research using the Hunter and Schmidt (2004) approach. Specifically, effect sizes were corrected individually for unreliability using alpha coefficients. In some cases, the mean reliability from similar criterion measures may be imputed.

It is also common in meta-analytic studies to correct for direct or indirect range restriction. Similar to performing corrections for unreliability, correcting for range restriction will generally result in a combined estimate that is more accurate than had no corrections been performed at all. A recent study by Hunter, Schmidt, and Le (2006) demonstrated the importance of making accurate corrections when restriction of range is a possibility. Specifically, they found that the correlation between *g* and job performance had been previously underestimated by as

much as 25%. Interestingly, this underestimate resulted from the improper use of correction formulas for direct range restriction, when in fact the restriction in range was indirect. Certainly, there are important practical implications that would result from the widespread use and dissemination of the underestimated value. Unfortunately, in the current research primary studies did not contribute enough information concerning range restriction ratios to allow for statistical corrections. Therefore, corrections for range restriction were not performed. To the extent that primary studies were characterized by a restriction in range, obtained meta-analytic estimates could be considered conservative estimates.

Weighting

Primary study effect sizes included in meta-analytic integrations are often weighted, sometimes by divergent weighting schemes. However, research has shown that various weighting methods have been demonstrated to produce comparable results (Borenstein & Rothstein, 1999). As one example, Rosenthal (1995) described strategies for coding primary studies on the basis of study quality. Unfortunately, this coding strategy is subjective, and requires a number of judgment calls by the researcher. The problem is that an unnecessary subjective element is introduced into the meta-analysis (Hunter & Schmidt, 2004).

Conversely, studies may be weighted by sample size. The logic underlying this suggestion is that effect sizes obtained from studies with large sample sizes are more stable (i.e., accurate) than effect sizes from studies with small sample sizes. However, it is important to remember that large sample studies are not inherently more valid. Giving these larger *N* studies more weight in a meta-analysis can sometimes result in the studies contributing a disproportionate amount of influence on the overall effect size. At the same time, it must be

acknowledged that estimates obtained from large sample studies are indeed more stable. Based on this assumption, it is often recommended that studies with larger sample sizes should receive more weight in meta-analytic integrations (e.g., Shadish et al., 2002). Taken together, there is a need to balance validity and reliability concerns.

For the major analyses in this research, weighted population effect size estimates were calculated. Recent simulation studies examining this method have shown that you can indeed get a very accurate combined effect size through procedures used to weight primary studies by their associated sample sizes (e.g., Field, 2005). Thus, in this research the "combined effect" represents a weighted mean of the effects of all included outcomes. Consequently, studies providing more information will be given greater weight in the combined test.

Removal of Outliers

Outliers present in meta-analytic databases should be assessed for their potential to distort the overall findings (e.g., Huffcutt & Arthur, 1995). In general, outlier data can result from errors in data collection or computation, extreme sampling error, or unique facets of the sample (Colquitt, LePine, & Noe, 2000). There are a number of ways to determine the presence of outliers in meta-analytic research. For example, one available option is to calculate the sampleadjusted meta-analytic deviance statistic (SAMD; Huffcutt & Arthur, 1995). For this research however, outliers will be defined as effect sizes obtained from primary studies that are beyond plus or minus two standard deviations of the mean effect size. Any primary study effect sizes beyond two standard deviation units from the mean effect size, in either direction, will be excluded from subsequent calculations.

It is perhaps also important to concede that a researcher can never be sure of having found all relevant studies for inclusion in a meta-analysis. Studies that are hard to find are often referred to as the "fugitive literature" (Rosenthal, 1994). Thus, one issue often discussed in metaanalyses is the "file drawer problem." This represents the concern that only studies with significant results find their way into publication, while studies with nonsignificant results are relegated to file drawers (Rosenthal, 1979). More specifically, proponents of this concern posit that studies found in a meta-analysis may all be instances of Type I error. To deal with this concern, one may compute the number of statistically nonsignificant studies that would have to be in file drawers to render the combined set of studies "just significant" at the p = .05 level. Once calculated, this should exceed Rosenthal and Rosnow's (1991) benchmark of 5k + 10. The logic behind this approach suggests that if the N_{FD} number is larger than the benchmark provided, there is evidence to suggest that the results appear robust to future disconfirmations. However, the usefulness of this approach (which is based on a fixed-effects model that is essentially irrelevant to the current research) has been criticized by many (e.g., Begg, 1994; Hunter & Schmidt, 2004; Scargle, 2000). Therefore, rather than conducting a file drawer analysis this research employs a simple graphic method for detecting availability bias—the funnel plot.

Funnel plots can be used to assess publication and other bias in meta-analytic research and are essentially simple scatterplots with effect sizes (on the horizontal axis) plotted against study sample sizes (on the vertical axis). In general, publication bias would result in asymmetrical funnel plots (generally resulting in truncation of the lower left-hand portion of the plot). On the other hand, the absence of bias is indicated when small sample studies are scattered widely across the bottom of the graph, with larger *N* studies more narrowly confined along the effect size continuum (forming an inverted funnel shape; Hunter & Schmidt, 2004). In this

research, funnel plots were constructed using study effect sizes and sample sizes within the metaanalytic database from three key analyses: (1) the relationship between interpersonal communication skills and skill-based outcomes, (2) the relationship between relationshipbuilding IPS and skill-based outcomes, and (3) the relationship between "general" IPS and skillbased outcomes. These analyses were specifically chosen for this analysis because they contain the largest number of independent effect sizes (k = 34, 40, and 31, respectively) and are representative of the entire database of effect sizes. Figures 3, 4, and 5 (see Appendix A) display the results of these analyses. Although the judgment is subjective in nature, for each analysis it appears relatively clear that small sample studies are indeed fairly well spread across the effectsize continuum, which lends support to the assertion that publication or availability bias is less of a concern in this research.

Computer Software Programs

Article coding for this research was done in Microsoft Excel[©]. Data analysis was aided by software created for the Hunter-Schmidt meta-analysis methods (Hunter-Schmidt Meta-Analysis Programs 1.1; Schmidt & Le, 2005). Upon completion of article coding, effect sizes were sorted within their associated subgroups (e.g., IPS type, outcome type, antecedents, training, etc.) before a combined effect size estimate was generated for each subgroup and/or level of each moderator. The Schmidt-Le software utilizes a random effects model, rather than a fixed effects model, to analyze the data. As alluded to earlier, the random effects model allows the true effect sizes to vary, instead of assuming the true effect sizes have fixed, or constant values. The data output from the Schmidt-Le software program includes the mean true score correlation, the standard deviation and variance of true score correlations, credibility intervals,

and the percentage of variance attributable to observed correlations after the removal of artifacts (other data is provided by the program but not utilized in the current research).

In addition to the output provided by the Schmidt-Le software, confidence intervals around each mean observed correlation were calculated in Excel using formulas provided by Hunter and Schmidt (2004). It is important to report both credibility and confidence interval estimates because they provide users of research data with answers to different questions. Credibility intervals estimate the variability of population correlations, taking into consideration information about the distribution of effect sizes after other research artifacts have been taken out. When used in conjunction with the estimate for the percentage of variance due to statistical artifacts, credibility intervals are useful for the purpose of detecting whether moderators may be operating (Whitener, 1990). Specifically, as the percentage of variance due to artifacts increases, the more confident we can be that additional moderators are not present. Confidence intervals provide an estimate of the variability around the estimated mean correlation. They are centered on a single mean score and reflect the effects of sampling error.

CHAPTER 6: RESULTS

Upon completion of the primary study coding process, it was determined that 141 studies would contribute data for the current meta-analytic database. This number includes 117 published journal articles, 13 conference presentations, four dissertations, three technical reports, two unpublished manuscripts, and two book chapters. Of the 141 studies in the database, 86 (61%) utilized real-world organizational employees for investigations of IPS.

Considering the mix of professional employees and university students in the studies included in the current research, it is worth noting that the possibility exists for sample type to be operating as an undetected moderating variable. At the same time, at least one recent study investigated variation in meta-analysis results based upon the domain in which the study was conducted. Specifically, Salas, DiazGranados, Klein, Burke, Stagl, Goodwin, and Halpin (in press) examined sample type as a potential moderator of the effectiveness of team training. In general, the results did not support the conclusion that sample type was operating as a moderator. The effect of team training for university students ($\bar{r} = .30$; k = 37) was generally similar to results obtained for aviation ($\bar{r} = .29, k = 6$), medical ($\bar{r} = .21; k = 6$), military ($\bar{r} = .49; k = 39$) and traditional business settings ($\bar{r} = .72$; k = 5). Even though differences were found (especially in comparison to military and traditional business settings), the fact that many of the results in question were based on a small number of effect sizes necessitates that caution is exercised before concluding that sample type moderated the effectiveness of team training. In the context of the current research, sample type could be operating as a moderator of the meta-analysis results, but there is little evidence to suggest that it is definitely a factor. Whenever the reported percentage of variance accounted for by statistical artifacts is high, this issue becomes even less of a concern. In cases where the percentage of variance accounted for by artifacts is low, the

possibility of additional moderators operating on the study results is greater and the results should be interpreted with caution.

In many instances, studies provided multiple effect sizes that were eligible for conceptually separate analyses. In other cases, studies examined multiple samples. As a result, there were 62 studies available for the assessment of IPS antecedents; 92 studies available for the examination of the relationship between IPS and outcomes; and 34 studies which addressed IPS training. Taken together, the results for this research can be separated into four main areas. These sections address: (1) antecedents of IPS, (2) the relationship between IPS and outcomes, (3) the efficacy of IPS training, and (4) the potential moderating influence of job complexity on the relationship between IPS and outcomes. Tables 2 through 6 contain the meta-analytic results for each of these hypothesis areas. In these tables, key results from each hypothesis area are displayed. Information found in these tables includes the number of participants in each analysis (N), the number of independent effect sizes (i.e., correlations) in each analysis (k), the mean weighted observed correlation (\bar{r}), the estimated true score correlation (ρ), the estimated standard deviation of this true score correlation (SD_{0}) , 80% confidence intervals around each estimated true score correlation, the 80% credibility interval for each distribution (10% CV and 90% CV), and the percentage of observed variance accounted for by statistical artifacts (% Var. Acct.). Rationale for the inclusion of both confidence and credibility intervals was provided in the Method section. It's also important to point out the differing information provided by the mean observed correlation and estimated true score correlation. Whereas the mean weighted observed correlation (\bar{r}) provides an estimate of the average weighted effect size from data included in the meta-analytic database, the estimated true score correlation (ρ) between the

predictor construct and the relevant criterion represents an estimate that is fully corrected for measurement error in both the predictor and criterion.

The percentage of variance accounted for by artifacts requires some additional explanation. Specifically, this research is based on the assumption that much of the variation across studies is based on statistical and methodological artifacts (rather than true underlying population relationships). Artifacts operate to distort study findings in different ways—sampling error has a random effect on study findings, while measurement error adds systematic bias to study results. The reported percentage of observed variance accounted for by artifacts is based on the ratio of variance due to artifacts to the total variance. As witnessed in Tables 2-6, this ratio occasionally results in a number over 100 percent. Second-order sampling error—which results from the sampling of studies in a meta-analysis—can lead to computed estimates of greater than 100 percent. "The larger the number of studies (other things being equal), the smaller the deviations of observed from expected variance. If the number of studies is small, however, these deviations can be quite large *on a percentage basis* (although *absolute* deviations are usually small, even in such cases)" (Hunter & Schmidt, 2004, p. 400).

The interpretation of effect size magnitude is guided by Cohen's (1988) definition of small (r = .10), moderate (r = .30), and large (r = .50) effect sizes. These definitions are provided as a "rule of thumb" only, and should assist (but not guide) interpretation of study findings. Moreover, it bears acknowledging that meta-analytic results are presented wherever possible; there was no a priori criterion to determine the minimum number of effect sizes to include in any given analysis. In general, meta-analyses conducted with fewer effect sizes increase the probability of second-order sampling error (Arthur, Bennett, & Huffcutt, 2001; Hunter &

Schmidt, 2004). To aid interpretation, the results of meta-analyses based on fewer than five effect sizes should be considered with caution. This guideline concurs with advice that has been put forward by other scholars, and is pertinent to any meta-analytic integration (e.g., Arthur, Bennett, Edens, & Bell, 2003).

Antecedents of IPS

Gender and the Big Five personality characteristics were examined as potential antecedents of IPS. Results for gender are presented in Table 2 (see Appendix B), and the hypotheses put forward in this area argued that females would receive higher ratings on various communication, relationship-building, and "general" IPS.

Taken together, there was essentially no gender effect for interpersonal communication skills ($\bar{r} = .02$, $\rho = .02$, CI_{ρ} 10% = -.05, CI_{ρ} 90% = .08). However, there was a modest tendency for women to score higher on measures of relationship-building IPS ($\bar{r} = .12$, $\rho = .13$, CI_{ρ} 10% = .06, CI_{ρ} 90% = .20) and "general" IPS ($\bar{r} = .07$, $\rho = .08$, CI_{ρ} 10% = .07, CI_{ρ} 90% = .08). Subgroup results indicated that women scored higher on ratings of oral communication ($\rho = .09$; k = 3) and nonverbal communication ($\rho = .13$; k = 8), while men generally displayed higher levels of assertive communication ($\rho = .22$). Subgroup results for relationship-building IPS favored females for empathy ($\bar{r} = .61$, $\rho = .67$, CI_{ρ} 10% = .45, CI_{ρ} 90% = .89;); whereas the results for cooperation and coordination ($\bar{r} = .03$, $\rho = .03$, CI_{ρ} 10% = .03, CI_{ρ} 90% = .03), selfpresentation ($\bar{r} = -.03$, $\rho = -.04$, CI_{ρ} 10% = -.09, CI_{ρ} 90% = .01), and social influence ($\bar{r} = .03$, $\rho = .04$, CI_{ρ} 10% = .00, CI_{ρ} 90% = .07) showed essentially no gender differences. Although occasionally small in scale, wherever 80% confidence intervals for gender differences do not contain zero, they may be considered significant. At the same time, estimated relationships between gender and oral communication, cooperation and coordination, and empathy were based on a small number of studies. Thus, these particular findings should be interpreted with caution.

Across the three broad groupings of IPS, females generally outperformed their male counterparts. These differences, however, are often small in magnitude and frequently characterized by wide credibility intervals that indicate the possibility that additional moderators may be operating. In addition, the confidence intervals for interpersonal communication skills contained zero. As a result, Hypotheses 1(a) cannot be fully supported. On the other hand, the confidence intervals for relationship-building IPS and "general" IPS did not include zero—a result which suggests the true correlation is significantly different from zero (with females scoring higher in these areas). Taken together, there is partial support for Hypothesis 1(b) and stronger support for the investigation of Hypothesis 1(c).

The personality characteristics investigated in this research include agreeableness, conscientiousness, emotional stability, extraversion, and openness to experience. The results for investigations of these variables as antecedents of IPS are provided in Table 3 (see Appendix B), and discussed in more detail in the following paragraphs.

Viewed as a whole, Table 3 (see Appendix B) provides broad-based support for Hypotheses 2(a-b) to Hypothesis 6. Focusing first on agreeableness, the results of the current meta-analytic integrations suggest small-to-moderate relationships with various interpersonal skills. Specifically, the relationships between agreeableness and interpersonal communication skills ($\bar{r} = .06$, $\rho = .07$, CI_{ρ} 10% = .07, CI_{ρ} 90% = .07), relationship-building IPS ($\bar{r} = .13$, $\rho =$.16, CI_{ρ} 10% = .12, CI_{ρ} 90% = .21), "general" IPS ($\bar{r} = .26$, $\rho = .30$, CI_{ρ} 10% = .29, CI_{ρ} 90% = .32), and IPS knowledge (k = 2, $\bar{r} = .11$, $\rho = .15$, CI_{ρ} 10% = .15, CI_{ρ} 90% = .15) are all positive. Importantly, none of the 80% credibility intervals for the distributions included zero; although

the finding for agreeableness and IPS knowledge was based on only two studies and should be treated with caution.

Similarly, the relationships between conscientiousness and communication skills ($\bar{r} = .06, \rho = .07, CI_{\rho} 10\% = .07, CI_{\rho} 90\% = .07$), relationship-building skills ($\bar{r} = .12, \rho = .15, CI_{\rho} 10\% = .10, CI_{\rho} 90\% = .21$), "general" IPS ($\bar{r} = .12, \rho = .15, CI_{\rho} 10\% = .10, CI_{\rho} 90\% = .19$), and IPS knowledge ($\bar{r} = .12, \rho = .15, CI_{\rho} 10\% = .11, CI_{\rho} 90\% = .19$) are all positive. The analysis of the relationship between conscientiousness and relationship-building IPS was based on a total sample size of 1,745, with nine independent effect sizes contributing to the investigation. This was also the only relationship in this area for which the outcome was based on a credibility interval that included zero.

This research also found small but meaningful relationships between the personality variable of emotional stability and various IPS. Upon an examination of Table 3, emotional stability had stronger relationships with communication skills ($\bar{r} = .10$, $\rho = .14$, CI_{ρ} 10% = .14, CI_{ρ} 10% = .14, CI_{ρ} 90% = .14, 10% CV = .14, 90% CV = .14) and relationship-building IPS ($\bar{r} = .11$, $\rho = .13$, CI_{ρ} 10% = .13, CI_{ρ} 90% = .13;, 10% CV = .12, 90% CV = .14) than ratings of "general" IPS or IPS knowledge (ρ 's = .11 and .10, respectively).

Of all the personality variables investigated, extraversion had the strongest relationships to the interpersonal skills addressed in this research. For example, an analysis of the relationship between extraversion and "general" IPS reported an estimated true score correlation of .36. This analysis was based on a sample of 1,226 participants and contained eight independent effect sizes. Similarly, extraversion showed small-to-moderate relationships with interpersonal communication skills ($\bar{r} = .23$, $\rho = .28$, CI_{ρ} 10% = .28, CI_{ρ} 90% = .28) and relationship-building IPS ($\bar{r} = .14$, $\rho = .18$, CI_{ρ} 10% = .13, CI_{ρ} 90% = .22), as well as IPS knowledge ($\bar{r} = .21$, $\rho = .26$, CI_{ρ} 10% = .21, CI_{ρ} 90% = .31).

Finally, small-to-moderate relationships were found between openness to experience and the various IPS under investigation in this research. Although based on only two independent effect sizes (a reality that necessitates caution in interpretation), there appeared to be a moderate relationship between openness to experience and IPS knowledge (k = 2, $\bar{r} = .24$, $\rho = .29$, CI_{ρ} 10% = .21, CI_{ρ} 90% = .37, 10% CV = .18, 90% CV = .41). Associations between openness and interpersonal communication skills ($\bar{r} = .09$, $\rho = .11$, CI_{ρ} 10% = .04, CI_{ρ} 90% = .18), relationship-building IPS ($\bar{r} = .09$, $\rho = .11$, CI_{ρ} 10% = .05, CI_{ρ} 90% = .19), and "general" IPS ($\bar{r} = .01$, $\rho = .01$, CI_{ρ} 10% = -.05, CI_{ρ} 90% = .06) were less robust, and were (unfortunately) characterized by credibility intervals that included zero.

In sum, Hypotheses 1(a-c) through Hypothesis 6 were commonly supported. As predicted, females were generally rated higher in assessments of communication, relationshipbuilding, and "general" interpersonal skills. Associations between IPS and personality variables were all in the positive direction (although some estimates had credibility intervals which contained zero). Moreover, results for the relationships between Big Five personality variables and IPS were generally significant, as evidenced by confidence intervals that did not contain zero. These findings suggest that personal characteristics can serve as antecedents, or predictors of workplace interpersonal skills.

IPS and Outcomes

In addition to assessing potential antecedents of IPS, I also wanted to investigate the relationship between various IPS and important (non-IPS) cognitive, affective, and skill-based outcomes. Table 4 (see Appendix B) presents the results of these analyses.

First, moderate relationships were found between ratings of interpersonal communication skills and cognitive ($\bar{r} = .34$, $\rho = .44$, CI_{ρ} 10% = .37, CI_{ρ} 90% = .52), affective ($\bar{r} = .24$, $\rho = .30$, CI_{ρ} 10% = .23, CI_{ρ} 90% = .36), and skill-based ($\bar{r} = .27$, $\rho = .33$, CI_{ρ} 10% = .28, CI_{ρ} 90% = .38) outcomes. Taken together, the results generally support Hypotheses 7(a-c). However, for affective outcomes, the 80% credibility interval ranged widely from -.02 to .61, including the possibility that additional moderators may be operating. Credibility intervals for cognitive and skill-based outcomes also ranged widely, but did not include zero in either case.

Contrary to Hypotheses 8(a), relationship building skills were essentially unrelated to non-IPS cognitive outcomes ($\bar{r} = .01$, $\rho = .02$, CI_{ρ} 10% = -.04, CI_{ρ} 90% = .08, 10% CV = -.12, 90% CV = .16). In line with predictions, however, relationship-building IPS were positively correlated to affective (Hypothesis 8b) and skill-based outcomes (Hypothesis 8c). The results indicated an estimated true score correlation of .26 (10% CV = .08, 90% CV = .44; $\bar{r} = .21$, CI_{ρ} 10% = .22, CI_{ρ} 90% = .30) between relationship-building IPS and affective outcomes; and an estimated true score correlation of .33 (10% CV = .05, 90% CV = .61; $\bar{r} = .27$, CI_{ρ} 10% = .29, CI_{ρ} 90% = .37) between relationship-building IPS and skill-based outcomes.

Strong support was found for Hypotheses 9(a-c), investigating the relationships between "general" IPS and cognitive, affective, and skill-based outcomes. Specifically, moderate-to-large correlations were found between "general" IPS and cognitive ($\bar{r} = .23$, $\rho = .28$, CI_{ρ} 10% = .20, CI_{ρ} 90% = .37, 10% CV = .05, 90% CV = .51), affective ($\bar{r} = .18$, $\rho = .21$, CI_{ρ} 10% = .16, CI_{ρ}

90% = .27, 10% CV = .05, 90% CV = .38), and skill-based ($\bar{r} = .37$, $\rho = .44$, CI_{ρ} 10% = .39, CI_{ρ} 90% = .49, 10% CV = .17, 90% CV = .71) outcomes. Importantly, none of the 80% confidence or credibility intervals for the observed relationships included zero.

In general, the results of this investigation supported the positive association between IPS and outcomes. However, in some cases, the confidence intervals contained zero. In these instances, one cannot conclude with 100% certainty that the variables under investigation are related to each other in any meaningful way. Moreover, in many cases, the estimated true score correlations from the meta-analyses had 80% credibility intervals that were fairly wide. Here again, there are occasional uncertainties around the magnitude and direction of particular IPS-outcome relationships. In these instances, the probability of additional moderator variables acting on the relationships between IPS and outcomes cannot be precluded.

The Efficacy of IPS Training

The next group of hypotheses addressed the efficacy and boundary conditions for successful IPS training interventions. Hypothesis 10 predicted simply that IPS training would be effective for improving IPS. This omnibus test assessed all forms of IPS training and all types of specific interpersonal skills. Results for this evaluation are provided in Table 5 (see Appendix B).

As can be seen from Table 5, an analysis the effectiveness of IPS training confirmed Hypothesis 10. Training groups were associated with far greater improvements in IPS through IPS training ($\bar{r} = .47$, $\rho = .52$, CI_{ρ} 10% = .47, CI_{ρ} 90% = .57, 10% CV = .25, 90% CV = .79). This finding is based on an analysis of 27 independent effect sizes, with a total sample size of 1,482 participants.

Hypothesis 11 through Hypothesis 14(a-b) were put forth to investigate the potential for training method to moderate the relationships between IPS training and cognitive, affective, and skill-based outcomes. Lecture-based training methods were posited to be primarily effective for improving cognitive outcomes (i.e., rather than affective or skill-based outcomes); lecture and discussion methods were also predicted to be most effective for improving cognitive outcomes, and also more effective than lecture-only methods for this purpose; process interventions were predicted to be most effective for improving affective outcomes; and behavioral modeling training methods were suggested to rank first among the various methods for improving cognitive and skill-based methods. Whereas sufficient numbers of primary study effect sizes would have allowed for the full investigation of these hypotheses, the relative lack of non-BMT training methods for improving IPS precluded the full examination of these questions. As a result, there were only enough primary study effect sizes available to assess the effectiveness of BMT for improving distinct outcomes. Table 5 displays the results of these analyses. Here, it can be seen that BMT methods were indeed effective for enhancing cognitive ($\bar{r} = .44$, $\rho = .52$, CI_o 10% = .34, CI_o 90% = .70, 10% CV = .16, 90% CV = .88), affective ($\bar{r} = .25$, $\rho = .32$, CI_o 10% = .22, CI_{ρ} 90% = .43, 10% CV = .14, 90% CV = .51), and skill-based (\bar{r} = .42, ρ = .47, CI_{ρ} 10% = .38, CI_{ρ} 90% = .57, 10% CV = .14, 90% CV = .81) outcomes. However, because of the lack of comparative information for the other training methods, Hypothesis 11 through Hypothesis 14(ab) could not be fully tested. In findings that concur with previous research on this topic, BMT does appear to be quite effective for improving various outcomes through enhanced IPS.

Job Complexity and IPS

The final set of hypotheses assessed whether job complexity moderates the relationship between IPS and outcomes. Table 6 (see Appendix B) contains the results from this investigation.

Specifically, Hypothesis 15(a-c) predicts that the relationships between various interpersonal skills and the combined set of outcomes (i.e., non-IPS cognitive, affective, skillbased) would increase at higher levels of job complexity. These predictions were generally confirmed. As can be seen from Table 6, in situations characterized by high job complexity, the relationship between the combined set of IPS and outcomes was strong ($\bar{r} = .34$, $\rho = .41$, CI_o 10% = .37, CI_o 90% = .46). As you go down levels of complexity, the relationships for medium $(\bar{r} = .25, \rho = .33, CI_{\rho} \ 10\% = .27, CI_{\rho} \ 90\% = .39)$ and low job complexity $(\bar{r} = .19, \rho = .22, CI_{\rho} \ 10\% =$ 10% = .16, CI₀ 90% = .29) also go down. This pattern generally holds true across assessments of interpersonal communication, relationship-building IPS, and "general" IPS. However, for relationship-building skills, it was in medium complexity jobs where the strong relationship between IPS and outcomes was found ($\bar{r} = .31$, $\rho = .36$, CI_o 10% = .31, CI_o 90% = .42, 10% CV = .23, 90% CV = .50). Moreover, for the assessment of the potential moderating effect of job complexity on the relationship between interpersonal communication skills and outcomes, findings for medium and low complexity job incumbents were based on only two studies each, and should be treated with caution. Taken together, there is enough evidence to support Hypotheses 15a and 15c, even though 15b cannot be fully supported (see Table 6, Appendix B).

CHAPTER 7: DISCUSSION

The purpose of this research was to carefully examine at the domain of IPS, including antecedents, outcomes, training efficacy, and the potential moderating influence of job complexity. All told, the investigation of these communication (i.e., *active listening, oral communication, written communication, assertive communication, and nonverbal communication*) and relationship-building (i.e., *cooperation and coordination, intercultural sensitivity, service orientation, empathy, self-presentation, social influence, and conflict resolution and negotiation*), and "general" IPS provides a robust assessment of the state of research on IPS. Specifically, it illuminates potential antecedents, outcomes, and boundary conditions for the effectiveness training of IPS. Additional analyses investigated whether the relationship between IPS and outcomes is moderated by the level of complexity of the context in which IPS and outcomes were measured.

To date, little quantitative evidence has been brought forth to investigate the frequent claims purporting the importance of possessing good IPS. This research provides a first set of this type of evidence by examining a comprehensible group of communication and relationshipbuilding interpersonal competencies. Moreover, the prescriptive guidance derived from this research may serve as a resource for organizational decision makers charged with improving the interpersonal skills of their workforce.

In line with previous research on gender differences (e.g., Hyde, 2005; Hyde & Linn, 1988; Stuhlmacher & Walters, 1999), this study found a small tendency for women to score higher on ratings of interpersonal skills. Looking more closely, women appeared to score higher on empathy ($\rho = .67$), but lower on assertive communication ($\rho = -.22$); higher on nonverbal communication ($\rho = .13$), but lower on self-presentation skills ($\rho = -.04$); all in line with prior

gender stereotypes and predictions. Women also received higher scores for oral communication $(\rho = .09)$ and ratings of "general" IPS ($\rho = .08$). These differences—although small in magnitude—represent consistent and practically meaningful areas where men and women differ.

Of the personality variables, extraversion showed the strongest relationships with interpersonal communication skills, relationship-building skills, and "general" IPS. It can be argued that extraverted individuals develop stronger social ties with others through sheer quantity of interactions. At the same time, each of the other personality variables assessed in this research proved worthy of consideration, as each of them were related to various interpersonal skills in important ways.

Certainly, the results also demonstrated the clear, positive impact of IPS training programs. In particular the literature is flush with studies assessing the value of behavior modeling for improving interpersonal skills. The results of this investigation provided additional, summative evidence for the value of these interventions. Finally, as predicted, the relationship between IPS and outcomes becomes more pronounced at higher levels of job complexity. This finding is in line with findings supportive of the increasing level of importance of cognitive ability at higher levels of job complexity.

Theoretical Implications

The findings presented here provided support to the inclusion of IPS in any theoretical model of individual performance in modern work organizations. The results also indicate differential relationships between IPS and outcomes, depending on both the specific IPS and outcomes under investigation, and upon the level of job complexity of the participants being

assessed. Based on the complete set of findings in this research, a number of recommendations for practitioners can be put forward.

Recommendations for Researchers

To further advance the study of the efficacy of IPS training, additional research needs to be conducted which addresses the efficacy of IPS training in greater detail. Boundary conditions of IPS training effectiveness continue to represent a key area of need. Are certain training methods more effective for developing particular IPS? Can low resource interventions offer the same return on investment as more involved behavioral modeling programs? One way in which BMT differs from other training methods is its greater emphasis on the transfer of skills to the job (Decker & Nathan, 1985; Goldstein & Sorcher, 1974). It appears then, that human resource leaders who implement BMT for employees will see a return on that investment. The effect sizes for behavior modeling reported here appear of sufficient magnitude to justify the value of BMT. The question remains, however, whether other interventions may be equally valuable for the purpose of enhancing IPS.

Second, additional moderator variables could be investigated to further illuminate the domain of IPS. For example, future research might examine the effectiveness of IPS training within specific industries or job families. Although job complexity was addressed in the current study, variations within complexity levels could be accounting for additional variance beyond that observed in the current investigation. In addition, constructs such as self-efficacy and emotional intelligence might serve as useful leverage points in the investigation of antecedents of IPS.

In truth, each of the hypothesis areas under study in this research could serve as its own primary focus in future meta-analytic integrations. Given the requisite availability, the collection of additional primary study data could allow for a more fine-tuned analysis of one or more areas under investigation in the current research. Therefore, I also encourage future researchers to further explore the myriad relationships between IPS and outcomes; to assess whether there are any unforeseen moderators acting on the relationships between gender and various IPS; to address whether the observed moderating impact of job complexity on the relationship between IPS and outcomes differs from the way in which the relationship between cognitive ability and performance is moderated by job complexity; and to address the relationship between IPS and outcomes at the team, department, or organizational levels of analysis.

Another area of future research concerns the area of training transfer. Training transfer refers to the degree to which trainees effectively apply knowledge, skills, and attitudes learned in training to the job (Newstrom, 1984; Wexley & Latham, 1981). As originally proposed by Thorndike and Woodworth (1901), the idea of identical elements suggests that training transfer is maximized to the degree that there are identical stimulus and response elements in the training and transfer settings (Baldwin & Ford, 1988). For example, in the literature on groups and teams there is a distinction made between task- and team-generic versus task- and team-specific teamwork training programs (e.g., Cannon-Bowers, Tannenbaum, Salas, & Volpe, 1995). In this context, task- and team-generic teamwork skills training programs focus on developing skills that can be applied to a variety of settings. Thus, the competencies are said to be transportable across teams and tasks (Salas, Burke, & Cannon-Bowers, 2002). In contrast, task- and team-specific teamwork skills training programs might focus on team members' characteristics, or aspects of the particular task at hand. Examples of this type of intervention include cross training

(e.g., Marks et al., 2002), or team coordination training (e.g., Prince & Salas, 1992). The results of previous task- and team-specific skills training efforts have generally shown positive benefits in terms of team effectiveness (see Cannon-Bowers & Salas, 1998).

There is much less literature which focuses directly on the effects of task- and teamgeneric teamwork skills training. Some notable examples include Smith-Jentsch and colleagues (1996), who examined team performance-related assertiveness; and Chen, Donahue, & Klimoski (2004), who studied five categories of these skills (i.e., conflict resolution skills, collaborative problem solving skills, communication skills, goal setting and performance management skills, and planning and task coordination skills). In addition, Ellis and colleagues (2005) examined the task- and team-generic skills of collaborative problem solving, communication, and planning and task coordination. The results of these three studies have generally demonstrated enhanced transfer behavior and performance.

There is little doubt that teaching specific content will best facilitate immediate training outcomes, including declarative knowledge, procedural knowledge and attitudes. However, on the basis of the preceding research, it is also possible to conclude that training methods that incorporate generic content might still prove useful for facilitating training transfer behavior. The question remains, however, whether IPS training should incorporate general principles, rather than focusing on specific behaviors. According to Baldwin and Ford (1988), the aim of interpersonal and supervisory skills training is to inculcate generalizable rules or concepts and "not simply to enable the trainee to reproduce only those behaviors specifically modeled" (p. 90). That is, in complex skill modeling programs, trainees ought to be taught principles that will allow them to learn, generalize, and apply behaviors different from those modeled (Baldwin &

Ford, 1988). Research needs to examine the relative efficacy (in terms of transfer behavior) of teaching generic principles of interpersonal behavior versus teaching context-specific IPS.

Practical Implications

The results of this research support the basic idea that individuals differ in terms of their level of IPS. Importantly, some of this variability can be better understood based upon gender and personality characteristics. These individual difference variables contribute to a person's baseline level of IPS, and should be considered as a contributing factor to the effectiveness with which IPS are executed. Put another way, although it is clear that IPS can be developed, it is likely that certain roles or positions will be a better fit for particular individuals based upon their unique combination of personality and other individual differences. This baseline knowledge can provide those tasked with selection a firm foundation upon which to begin their important task.

Moreover, interpersonal competencies matter in organizations. They are related to important workplace outcomes, and they can be developed through training and development. In contemporary work organizations, IPS training is typically targeted towards senior executives and managers—employees whose image and behaviors have the most impact on the company (Poe, 2001). These employees serve a critical function within their organizations by facilitating positive interactions and performance in the workgroup. At the same time, recipients of IPS training often include customer service professionals, who serve a critical role in maintaining customer satisfaction and commitment towards their organizations. In fact, the inability of frontline employees to display strong IPS may indeed have a more negative impact on the company than similar deficiencies at the corporate level.

As for the link between IPS and outcomes (and whether this relationship is moderated by the level of job complexity of the incumbent job holder), the results were positive. Accumulated knowledge in understanding mediators and moderators has suggested that moderators typically used in organizational research are less potent than previously believed (e.g., Aguinis, Beaty, Boik, & Pierce, 2005). In other words, validity tends to generalize more than one might suspect. However, important moderators nonetheless *do* exist and it's important to quantify these differential relationships when possible.

Recommendations for Practitioners

Based on the findings presented here, a few recommendations are offered for human resource leaders and other practitioners. First, the assessment of IPS as part of a carefully planned system for assessing potential is essential. Beyond recommendations, work samples, and biographical information, the assessment of personal competencies can aid organizational decision makers for tasks that include management development, the identification of "high potentials," and the selection of new associates. For example, for the selection of key customerfacing associates, human resource decision makers may want to consider looking first at those individuals who score high on the Big Five dimensions of extraversion and agreeableness. The results presented in this research suggest that individuals who score high on these variables also show enhanced levels of both communication and relationship-building IPS. Moreover, for management development initiatives, the results presented herein suggest that each of the Big Five variables might be considered as important to the development of relationship-building IPS. That is, beyond extraversion and agreeableness, openness to experience, emotional stability, and conscientiousness are also important to consider. It seems likely that more specific relationshipbuilding skills may be impacted to a greater or lesser degree by particular personality variables. Although this research did not have available the sheer number of primary research studies necessary to test each possible combination of relationship-building IPS and Big Five personality variable, organizational decision-makers and stakeholders would likely benefit from an in-depth examination of their current, high-performing job incumbents, with a particular focus on the measurement and linkage of their IPS and personality metrics.

Second, behavioral modeling training remains a highly effective mechanism for improving a wide range of interpersonal skills. Human resource leaders can be confident that investments in these interventions are likely to pay off in terms of enhanced performance. Not only that, but a particularly interesting aspect of the current research findings in this area is that BMT proved especially effective at enhancing each set of cognitive, affective, and skill-based outcomes of IPS. It is important to realize the synergies that may be captured when—through IPS—individuals' relationships with others, their personal (or self) evaluations, *and* job performance can each be enhanced. Thus, to the extent that organizations can enhance the IPS of key frontline personnel, the benefits (in terms of key organizational metrics) are clear. Of course, case studies of other organizations, meta-analytic findings, and theoretical rationale can only go so far in convincing organizational decision-makers of the value of IPS. What's needed within each setting are specific linkage research studies that—for a particular organization—link the level of IPS of key associates to important workplace outcomes such as customer services, sales, team performance and other metrics of interest.

Limitations

Before concluding this research, a brief discussion of the limitations inherent in this research is provided. That is, despite the anticipated positive contributions of the current research, six limitations should be noted. These revolve around issues concerning the quality of studies included in the meta-analysis, the diverse nature of the primary studies, the presumed causality implied by the findings, findings that were sometimes based on a small number of effect sizes, the possibility of the existence of availability bias, and limitations which characterized the state of research into IPS training.

First, it is acknowledged that individual research studies were not directly coded for, nor differentially weighted according to any subjective index of study "quality." Although it is clear that articles differ on the quality and soundness of their research methods, no attempt was made to quantify these differences. Thus, in an effort to be inclusive and include a large number of primary studies, definitive conclusions regarding the validity of each included study were not made.

Second, Bobko and Stone-Romero (1998) discussed how the validity of inferences which are derived through meta-analytic methods are a function of several factors, including: (a) the number of primary studies, (b) the representativeness of the sample of primary studies included in the meta-analysis, and (c) the validity of each of the primary studies. In this research, the studies reviewed are expected to be quite diverse in their samples, settings, and methods. Therefore, the conceptual and methodological heterogeneity of the set of studies included in this meta-analysis, has, in many ways, added confidence that findings are not an artifact of individual study particulars (Cook & Campbell, 1976, 1979; Rosenthal & Rosnow, 1991; Runkel & McGrath, 1972; Stone, 1978). That is, the meta-analytic integration of diverse independent

studies has allowed for a more generalizable indication of the relationships between antecedents and IPS, between IPS and outcomes, an assessment of the benefits and boundary conditions of IPS training interventions, and an investigation into the possible moderating influence of job complexity.

Third, to the extent that primary studies lacked proper confound control mechanisms, one cannot unequivocally conclude that IPS training interventions *cause* improvements in specified outcomes. Therefore, despite the occasional use of language that is seemingly causal in nature, no claims concerning the causality the relationships under investigation should be implied.

Fourth, many of the relationships observed in the current research were based on a small number of primary studies. For example, many of the findings included two, three, or four effect sizes. Whenever results were presented based upon a smaller number of effect sizes, those findings should be interpreted with caution. Future research may target these areas for the purpose of building up the meta-analytic database to the point were more meaningful metaanalyses may be conducted.

Fifth, it is important to point out that the evaluation of funnel plots to assess availability bias is primarily subjective in nature. Although there does not appear to be widespread availability bias operating in the data (see Figures 3-5), others may view the same results and come to a different conclusion. If there is publication or availability bias, small-sample studies reporting small effect sizes would be largely missing from the plot. Essentially, these studies typically fail to attain statistical significance in their findings and are thought to be published less frequently. In addition, to the extent that availability bias is operating, it has the potential to, "seriously distort conclusions from research reviews" (Hunter & Schmidt, 2004, p. 504). Such

distortion would be announced by larger-than-warranted meta-analytic effect sizes estimates in the current research.

Finally, this study was limited in its ability to assess the boundary conditions of IPS training for enhancing non-IPS outcomes. Other than behavioral modeling training, there were not enough effect sizes in the meta-analytic database to test a number of the proposed hypotheses in this area. Future research should take every measure possible to locate additional "fugitive" studies to add to the database.

CHAPTER 8: CONCLUDING REMARKS

"...Relations with others can be the source of the deepest satisfaction and of the blackest misery. ...Many people are lonely and unhappy, some are mentally ill because they are unable to sustain social relationships with others. Many everyday encounters are unpleasant, embarrassing or fruitless, because of inept social behaviour. ...Many of those difficulties and frustrations could be eliminated by a wider understanding, and better training in the skills of social interaction" (Argyle, 1967, p. 111).

This quote, from one of the pioneers in the study of social skills, quite clearly describes how IPS training can benefit the individual. However, there remains a need to discern how and under what conditions IPS training interventions are most effective. Is it the case that lecturebased methods can impart knowledge of IPS efficiently, and in a less resource-intensive manner than the more involving methods of behavioral modeling training? For enhancing the relationships between members of groups, should training take place in a group or team setting? Or, can individuals be trained separately on the key IPS that will enhance group interaction and have this training prove equally effective when the groups re-convene to perform their primary task. If so, IPS development may be more easily accessible to those organizational units with limited resources. In the end, the answers to these questions will be of great value to both individuals and organizations.

In terms of interpreting meta-analysis results, Kraiger (1985) once cautioned, "we seek to tell the apple from the orange, but you [the meta-analysts] try to tell us that all fruit is tasty" (p. 800). However, if one wants to generalize about fruit, it may sometimes be a good thing to mix apples and oranges. That is, "Studies that are exactly the same in all respects are actually limited in generalizability" (Rosenthal & DiMatteo, 2001, p. 68). The implication is that the results found in this research allow for attempts to generalize the findings to a wide variety of interpretonal competencies, including IPS not assessed in the current research. Had the current

research assessed a more limited set of IPS, the findings would not be as relevant to situations which are not characterized by the same limited set of competencies.

Finally, Mead (1934) said long ago that the secret to human exchange is to give the other person behavior that is more valuable to him/her than costly to you, and to get from the other person behavior that is more valuable to you than costly to him/her. This simple but insightful quote illustrates the quintessential simplicity of human interactions. Indeed, human interactions in the interpersonal domain can be examined, investigated, and improved through training. The results of this research provide evidence to more carefully delineate the domain of IPS. Armed with this knowledge, researchers and practitioners can continue moving forward as they seek to enhance their understanding of the science and practice of IPS development. Everyone will benefit from enhanced customer relations, manager-employee relationships, and the synergistic cooperation and coordination among organizational groups and teams that is only possible when the individuals involved possess an adequate level of communication and relationship-building IPS.

APPENDIX A: FIGURES


Figure 1: Framework of Interpersonal Skills Performance^a

^a From Klein, DeRouin, and Salas (2004)



Figure 2: Model Depicting Study Hypotheses



Figure 3: Funnel Plot for Detecting the Possibility of Availability Bias: Interpersonal Communication Skills and Skill-Based Outcomes



Figure 4: Funnel Plot for Detecting the Possibility of Availability Bias: Relationship-Building Interpersonal Skills and Skill-Based Outcomes



Figure 5: Funnel Plot for Detecting the Possibility of Availability Bias: "General" Interpersonal Skills and Skill-Based Outcomes

APPENDIX B: TABLES

Table 1 Five Levels of Job Complexity

Job Complexity Level	Job Complexity Level / Family ^a Description	Dimension	Mean Validity of <i>g</i> for Training Success ^b	Mean Validity of <i>g</i> for Performance ^b
1 – High	Complex set up jobs (setting up)	Things	.65	.56
2 – High	Managerial / professional jobs (synthesizing /	Data	.50	.58
	coordinating)			
3 – Medium	Technician and skilled jobs (analyzing /	Data	.57	.51
	compiling / computing)			
4 – Low	Semiskilled jobs (comparing / copying)	Data	.54	.40
5 – Low	Unskilled jobs (feeding / offbearing)	Things	-	.23

^a Dimensions and job family descriptions from Fine (1955) and Hunter, Schmidt, and Le (2006).

^b Based on data from the U.S. Employment Service (Hunter 1980).

Broad Interpersonal Skill	Specific Interpersonal Skill	Ν	k	r	ρ	SD_{ρ}^{b}	CI ₀ 10%	CI ₀ 90%	10% CV	90% CV	% Var. Acct. ^c
Interpersonal Communication	Overall	5,288	14	.02	.02	.19	05	.08	23	.26	8.25
Skills	Active Listening	509	1	.18	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Oral Communication	2,720	3	.08	.09	.05	.05	.13	.02	.15	30.88
	Written Communication	354	1	13	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Assertive Communication	1,546	4	20	22	.14	31	13	40	05	13.98
	Nonverbal Communication	1,739	8	.12	.13	.16	.06	.20	07	.34	18.24
Relationship- Building	Overall	6,603	22	.12	.13	.26	.06	.20	20	.47	5.48
Interpersonal Skills	Cooperation & Coordination	482	2	.03	.03	.00	.03	.03	.03	.03	117.30
	Intercultural Sensitivity	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 2 Analysis of the Relationship between Gender and Interpersonal Skills^a

Broad Interpersonal Skill	Specific Interpersonal Skill	Ν	k	\overline{r}	ρ	SD_{ρ}^{b}	CI ₀ 10%	CI ₀ 90%	10% CV	90% CV	% Var. Acct. ^c
	Service Orientation	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Empathy	1,031	2	.61	.67	.24	.45	.89	.36	.98	1.57
	Self-Presentation	1,592	7	03	04	.10	09	.01	17	.09	33.00
	Social Influence	4,103	13	.03	.04	.10	.00	.07	09	.16	26.32
	Conflict Resolution & Negotiation	422	1	.04	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
"General" Interpersonal Skills	Overall	2,286	14	.07	.08	.02	.07	.08	.06	.10	95.85

^a Positive effect sizes favor females.

^b An SD_{ρ} of zero indicates that the real variance of the true correlation is zero. In other words, there is only one value of the true correlation underlying all the studies. This result is a consequence of the percentage of variance by accounted for by statistical artifacts estimate being greater than 100%, and also indicates that there should be no additional moderators operating for this analysis.

Personality Variable	Interpersonal Skill	Ν	k	\overline{r}	ρ	$SD_{\rho}^{\ a}$	CI _p 10%	CI ₀ 90%	10% CV	90% CV	% Var. Acct. ^b
Agreeableness	Communication	353	4	.06	.07	.00	.07	.07	.07	.07	537.54
	Relationship- Building	1,154	6	.13	.16	.09	.12	.21	.05	.28	49.65
	"General" Interpersonal Skills	744	5	.26	.30	.02	.29	.32	.27	.33	94.56
	Knowledge of Interpersonal Skills	553	2	.11	.15	.00	.15	.15	.15	.15	103.50
Conscientiousness	Communication	502	5	.06	.07	.00	.07	.07	.07	.07	156.00
	Relationship- Building	1,745	9	.12	.15	.13	.10	.21	02	.32	30.46
	"General" Interpersonal Skills	1,384	10	.12	.15	.12	.10	.19	.00	.30	41.76
	Knowledge of Interpersonal Skills	253	2	.12	.15	.04	.11	.19	.10	.21	77.40
Emotional Stability	Communication	804	6	.10	.14	.00	.14	.14	.14	.14	113.68
Subility	Relationship- Building	2,039	10	.11	.13	.01	.13	.13	.12	.14	98.98
Personality	Interpersonal Skill	Ν	k	\overline{r}	ρ	SD_{ρ}^{a}	CI ₀ 10%	CI _p 90%	10% CV	90% CV	% Var.

Table 3Analysis of the Relationships between Personality and Interpersonal Skills

Variable											Acct. ^b
	"General" Interpersonal Skills	874	6	.10	.11	.04	.09	.13	.07	.16	86.39
	Knowledge of Interpersonal Skills	855	3	.08	.10	.00	.10	.10	.10	.10	738.52
Extraversion	Communication	653	6	.23	.28	.00	.28	.28	.28	.28	138.65
	Relationship- Building	1,404	7	.14	.18	.10	.13	.22	.05	.30	45.54
	"General" Interpersonal Skills	1,226	8	.30	.36	.24	.25	.46	.06	.66	12.68
	Knowledge of Interpersonal Skills	553	2	.21	.26	.05	.21	.31	.19	.33	61.98
Openness to Experience	Communication	488	4	.09	.11	.10	.04	.18	02	.24	51.88
-	Relationship- Building	1,010	7	.09	.11	.14	.05	.19	06	.30	35.20

Personality Variable	Interpersonal Skill	Ν	k	r	ρ	SD_{ρ}^{a}	CI _p 10%	CI ₀ 90%	10% CV	90% CV	% Var. Acct. ^b
	"General" Interpersonal Skills	524	3	.01	.01	.08	05	.06	09	.11	56.69
	Knowledge of Interpersonal Skills	553	2	.24	.29	.09	.21	.37	.18	.41	38.12

^a An SD_{ρ} of zero indicates that the real variance of the true correlation is zero. In other words, there is only one value of the true correlation underlying all the studies. This result is a consequence of the percentage of variance by accounted for by statistical artifacts estimate being greater than 100%, and also indicates that there should be no additional moderators operating for this analysis.

Interpersonal Skills	Outcome	Ν	k	\overline{r}	ρ	SD_{ρ}^{a}	CI ₀ 10%	CI _p 90%	10% CV	90% CV	% Var. Acct. ^b
Interpersonal Communication	Cognitive	3,164	13	.34	.44	.21	.37	.52	.17	.71	11.99
Skills	Affective	3,575	22	.24	.30	.25	.23	.36	02	.61	12.34
	Skill-Based	6,443	34	.27	.33	.22	.28	.38	.05	.61	12.92
Relationship- Building	Cognitive	673	6	.01	.02	.11	04	.08	12	.16	53.19
Interpersonal Skills	Affective	3,257	21	.21	.26	.14	.22	.30	.08	.44	31.30
	Skill-Based	5,744	40	.27	.33	.22	.29	.37	.05	.61	16.64
"General" Interpersonal	Cognitive	1,380	8	.23	.28	.18	.20	.37	.05	.51	20.96
Skills	Affective	1,192	9	.18	.21	.13	.16	.27	.05	.38	37.35
	Skill-Based	7,173	31	.37	.44	.21	.39	.49	.17	.71	10.49

Table 4Analysis of the Relationships between Interpersonal Skills and Outcomes

Note. k = number of correlation coefficients on which each distribution was based; \bar{r} = mean observed correlation; ρ = estimated true correlation between the predictor construct and the relevant criterion (fully corrected for measurement error in both the predictor and criterion); SD_{ρ} = estimated standard deviation of the true correlation; CI_{ρ} 10% = lower bound of the confidence interval for estimated true correlation; 10%CV = lower bound of the

credibility interval for each distribution; 90% CV = upper bound of the credibility interval for each distribution; % Var. Acct. = percentage of observed variance accounted for by statistical artifacts.

^a An SD_{ρ} of zero indicates that the real variance of the true correlation is zero. In other words, there is only one value of the true correlation underlying all the studies. This result is a consequence of the percentage of variance by accounted for by statistical artifacts estimate being greater than 100%, and also indicates that there should be no additional moderators operating for this analysis.

Training Type	Outcome	N	k	\overline{r}	ρ	SD_{ρ}^{a}	CI _p 10%	CI ₀ 90%	10% CV	90% CV	% Var. Acct. ^b
All Interpersonal Skills Training	Interpersonal Skills Outcomes	1,482	27	.47	.52	.21	.47	.57	.25	.79	24.49
Lecture	Cognitive	74	1	.01	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Affective	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Skill-Based	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Lecture + Discussion	Cognitive	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Affective	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Skill-Based	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Process Intervention	Cognitive	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Affective	80	1	.41	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 5 Analysis of the Efficacy of Interpersonal Skills Training

Training Type	Outcome	Ν	k	\overline{r}	ρ	SD_{ρ}^{a}	CI _p 10%	CI _p 90%	10% CV	90% CV	% Var. Acct. ^b
Behavioral Modeling	Cognitive	307	4	.44	.52	.28	.34	.70	.16	.88	13.59
Training	Affective	208	3	.25	.32	.14	.22	.43	.14	.51	53.08
	Skill-Based	829	12	.42	.47	.26	.38	.57	.14	.81	19.94

^a An SD_{ρ} of zero indicates that the real variance of the true correlation is zero. In other words, there is only one value of the true correlation underlying all the studies. This result is a consequence of the percentage of variance by accounted for by statistical artifacts estimate being greater than 100%, and also indicates that there should be no additional moderators operating for this analysis.

Interpersonal Skills	Job Complexity	Ν	k	\overline{r}	ρ	SD_{ρ}^{a}	CI _p 10%	CI _p 90%	10% CV	90% CV	% Var. Acct. ^b
All Interpersonal	High Complexity	6,077	29	.34	.41	.19	.37	.46	.17	.65	15.94
Skills	Medium Complexity	1,874	10	.25	.33	.15	.27	.39	.13	.52	27.98
	Low Complexity	1,534	11	.19	.22	.17	.16	.29	.01	.44	24.58
Interpersonal Communication	High Complexity	3,361	19	.20	.25	.16	.21	.30	.05	.45	25.10
Skills	Medium Complexity	215	2	.11	.14	.13	.02	.26	03	.31	44.44
	Low Complexity	314	2	.14	.17	.00	.17	.17	.17	.17	721.45
Relationship- Building	High Complexity	1,476	17	.18	.23	.19	.17	.29	02	.47	32.25
Interpersonal Skills	Medium Complexity	1,255	6	.31	.36	.10	.31	.42	.23	.50	34.48
	Low Complexity	641	4	.16	.20	.09	.14	.26	18	.57	9.34

Table 6Analysis of Job Complexity as a Moderator of the Relationship between Interpersonal Skills and Outcomes

Interpersonal Skills	Job Complexity	Ν	k	\overline{r}	ρ	SD_{ρ}^{a}	CI _p 10%	CI ₀ 90%	10% CV	90% CV	% Var. Acct. ^b
"General" Interpersonal	High Complexity	4,703	13	.44	.51	.13	.47	.56	.35	.68	17.67
Skills	Medium Complexity	520	3	.12	.13	.01	.12	.14	.11	.14	97.16
	Low Complexity	890	7	.19	.22	.02	.21	.23	.20	.25	95.78

^a An SD_{p} of zero indicates that the real variance of the true correlation is zero. In other words, there is only one value of the true correlation underlying all the studies. This result is a consequence of the percentage of variance by accounted for by statistical artifacts estimate being greater than 100%, and also indicates that there should be no additional moderators operating for this analysis.

APPENDIX C: CODING SCHEME

Coding Scheme

Category	Description
Citation	Full APA-style reference
Hypothesis Area	(1) Antecedents, (2) IPS & Outcomes, (3) Training, (4) Job Complexity
Publication Type	e.g., Journal Article, Conference, Technical Report, Dissertation
Study Setting	Lab, Field, or Hybrid
Nature of Organization and Participant Sample	Description of organization and sample
Sample Characteristics	Students vs. Organizational Employees

Category	Description
Job Complexity	High—levels 1 and 2; Medium—level 3; Low—levels 4 and 5
Ν	Training vs. control group; gender breakdown
Study Design Type	Single group posttest only [SGPO] single group pretest-posttest comparison [SGPP], pretest-posttest with control group [PPWC], posttest only with control group [POWC], other
Antecedents Examined	Gender, personality
Antecedent Reliability	(r_{xx}) and Source of Estimate (reliability estimate, type, and source of estimate [self, observer, automated])
IPS Examined	(1) Communication, (2) Relationship-Building, (3) "General", (4) IPS knowledge [describe exact IPS where possible]

Category	Description
Predictor / IPS Reliability	(r_{xx}) and source of estimate (reliability estimate, type, and source of estimate [self, observer, automated])
IPS -or- Training Outcomes Examined	Generic, non-IPS cognitive, affective, skill-based [for team level outcomes, indicate if skill-based outcomes are process or performance]
Criterion Reliability	(r_{yy}) and source of estimate (reliability estimate, type, and source of estimate [self, observer, automated])
Type of Training Intervention	Name and explain
Method of Training Intervention	Lecture, lecture + discussion, process intervention, BMT

Category	Description
Method of Training	Additional description
Intervention	
Intervention	
Level of Analysis	Individual, group / team, unit / organization
Effect Size(s)	$r_{\rm rv}$; -or- F, t, γ^2 , z, d; -or- means, SDs, & N
Recommendation for	Yes / No Recommendation
Inclusion?	
Additional Comments	Add additional instructions, when relevant

ENDNOTES

¹ A number of other demographic and psychological variables have been examined as possible antecedents of IPS. For example, both age (e.g., Althoff & Ashkanasy, 2004; Tung, 1998) and emotional intelligence (e.g., Althoff & Ashkanasy, 2004; Rapisarda, 2002) have been the focus of investigation in studies also examining IPS. However, upon a review of the literature in this area, there are too few empirical studies which investigate these relationships to allow for the development of formal hypotheses in the current research. That is, while a few previous studies have investigated whether measured levels of IPS are positively correlated with age or emotional intelligence, there is generally not as much support in the literature for these links as there are for links with gender or personality traits. In addition, there is little theoretical rationale for making predictions concerning how age might serve as an antecedent variable to the effective display of IPS. In the case for EI as an antecedent variable, two issues are problematic. First, there is disagreement in the literature concerning whether to view EI as trait-based or ability-based. To be considered as an antecedent variable, it would be more convenient to view EI from a traitbased perspective. At the same time, EI behaviors in the form of empathy are considered to be a distinct subset of the interpersonal or social skills that are under investigation in the current research. Thus, as is the case with age, EI will also not be formally examined as an antecedent to IPS in the current research.

² It is acknowledged that the study by Kraiger and colleagues (1993) was put forward as a way to better evaluate learning outcomes from training. Specifically, they discuss how the learning "level" from Kirkpatrick's famous taxonomy should be further divided into cognitive, skill-based, and affective outcomes. They further break down each of these outcomes into additional categories (i.e., cognitive—verbal knowledge, knowledge organization, cognitive strategies;

132

skill-based—compilation, automaticity; and affective—attitudinal, motivational). For the purposes of the current research, only the higher level outcomes will be addressed (i.e., cognitive, skill-based, affective). Thus, in this research the broader labels of cognitive, affective, and skill-based will be employed to assist in further dividing individual and team outcomes from training.

³ Taylor and colleagues (2005) found four studies assessing declarative knowledge of both supervisory and teamwork skills, 27 studies examining procedural knowledge of interpersonal communication skills in supervisory or teamwork settings, 46 studies assessing attitudes related to supervisory and teamwork skills, 57 studies investigating the effects of BMT on supervisory or teamwork-related job behaviors, 33 studies examining workgroup productivity following supervisory training, and 36 studies assessing workgroup climate following supervisory training.

⁴Later, Ghiselli (1973) also discussed various job families (e.g. manager, service worker, vehicle operator), arranged in order of decreasing cognitive complexity of job requirements.

⁵ Hunter, Schmidt, and Le (2006) later replicated this research, using the same five job families. The principle finding from this research was that previous meta-analyses had underestimated the correlation between g and job performance by as much as 25%. The new, more accurate numbers were derived through the use of corrections for indirect range restriction.

REFERENCES

References marked with an asterisk (*) indicate studies included in the meta-analysis.

- *Adair, W. L., Okumura, T., & Brett, J. M. (2001). Negotiation behavior when cultures collide: The United States and Japan. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *86*(3), 371-385.
- Aditya, R. N., & House, R. J. (2002). Interpersonal acumen and leadership across cultures: Pointers from the GLOBE study. In R. E. Riggio, S. E. Murphy, & F. J. Pirozzolo (Eds.), *Multiple intelligences and leadership* (pp. 215-240). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Publishers.
- Adler, N. J., & Izraeli, D. N. (1995). Women managers: Moving up and across borders. In O. Shenkar (Ed.), *Global Perspectives of Human Resource Management* (pp. 165-193). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Adler, R. B., Rosenfeld, L. B., & Proctor, R. F., II (2001). *Interplay: The process of interpersonal communication*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Aguinis, H., Beaty, J. C., Boik, R. J., & Pierce, C. A. (2005). Effect size and power in assessing moderating effects of categorical variables using multiple regression: A 30-year review. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 90, 94-107.
- Ahearn, K. K., Ferris, G. R., Hochwarter, W. A., Douglas, C., & Ammeter, A. P. (2004). Leader political skill and team performance. *Journal of Management*, *30*, 309-327.
- *Alge, B. J., Gresham, M. T., Heneman, R. L., Fox, J., & McMasters, R. (2002). Measuring customer service orientation using a measure of interpersonal skills: A preliminary test in a public service organization. *Journal of Business & Psychology*, *16*(3), 467-476.
- *Althoff, J. C. P., & Ashkanasy, N. M. (2004, April). *Determinants of accurate perception of facial expressions in the boardroom*. Poster presented at the 19th Annual Conference of the Society for Industrial and Organizational Psychology, Chicago, IL.
- Altonji, J. G., & Spletzer, J. R. (1991). Worker characteristics, job characteristics, and the receipt of on-the-job training. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, 45(1), 58-79.
- *Ambady, N., Hallahan, M., & Rosenthal, R. (1995). On judging & being judged accurately in zero-acquaintance situations. *Journal of Personality & Social Psychology*, 69(3), 518-529.
- American Society for Training and Development. (2000, February). More than one-third of people surveyed identified communication skills or interpersonal relationship skills as the most important quality in a good boss. *Training and Development Journal*, 16.
- Analoui, F., Labbaf, H., & Noorbakhsh, F. (2000). Identification of clusters of managerial skills for increased effectiveness: The case of the steel industry in Iran. *International Journal of Training and Development*, 4(3), 217-234.

- *Anderson, C., Spatoro, S. E., & Flynn, F. J. (2008). Personality & organizational culture as determinants of influence. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *93*(3), 702-710.
- *Anderson, D. J., Gilbert, S. M., & Turner, S. L. (2008, April). *Evaluating diversity training effectiveness: Self-efficacy as an enabler of transfer*. Poster presented at the 23rd Annual Conference of the Society for Industrial and Organizational Psychology, San Francisco, CA.
- *Anderson, N., Lievens, F., van Dam, K., & Born, M. (2006). A construct-driven investigation of gender differences in a leadership-role assessment center. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *91*(3), 555-566.
- *Andes, K. L., Ravishankar, L. P., & Russ-Eft, D. F. (1997). Transfer strategies supporting interpersonal skills training for supervisors. *Transferring learning to the workplace: Seventeen case studies from the real world of training*, 71-83.
- *Ang, S., Van Dyne, L., & Koh, C. (2004, April). *Cultural intelligence: Development and cross-validation of a four-factor measure*. Paper presented at the 19th Annual Conference of the Society for Industrial & Organizational Psychology, Chicago, IL.
- *Ang, S., Van Dyne, L., & Koh, C. (2006). Personality correlates of the four-factor model of cultural intelligence. *Group & Organization Management*, 31(1), 100-123.
- *Angelone, M. (1982, August). *The application of behavior modeling to empathy training and its influence on managerial flexibility and level of empathy*. Dissertation. University of Virginia.
- Archer, J. (2006). The importance of theory for evaluating evidence of sex differences. *American Psychologist, 61*(6), 638-639.
- Archer, J., & Lloyd, B. B. (2002). *Sex and gender*. Cambridge, England: Cambridge University Press.
- Argyle, M. (1967). *The psychology of interpersonal behaviour*. Harmonds-Worth: Penguin Books.
- Argyle, M. (1969). Social interaction. New York: Atherton Press.
- Argyle, M. (1975). Bodily communication. London: Methuen.
- Argyle, M. (1981). Methods of social skill training. In M. Argyle (Ed.), *Social skills and work* (pp. 195-220). London: Methuen.
- Argyle, M. (1994). The psychology of interpersonal behavior. London: Penguin.
- Argyle, M., & Kendon, A. (1967). The experimental analysis of social performance. *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology*, *3*, 55-98.

- Argyris, C. (1962). *Interpersonal competence and organizational effectiveness*. Homewood, IL: Dorsey Press.
- Arthur, W., & Bennett, W. (1995). The international assignee: The relative importance of factors perceived to contribute to success. *Personnel Psychology*, *48*, 99-114.
- Arthur, W., Jr., Bennett, W., Edens, P. S., & Bell, Z. T. (2003). The effectiveness of training in organizations: A meta-analysis of design and evaluation features. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *88*, 234-245.
- Avkiran, N. (2000). Interpersonal skills and emotional maturity influence entrepreneurial style of bank managers. *Personnel Review*, 29(5), 654-671.
- Bailey, C. T., & Butcher, D. J. (1983). Interpersonal skills training I: The nature of skill acquisition and its implications for training design and management. *Management Education and Development (Workshop)*, 14(1), 48-54.
- *Baldwin, T. T. (1992). Effects of alternative modeling strategies on outcomes of interpersonalskills training. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 77, 147-154.
- Baldwin, T. T., & Ford, J. K. (1988). Transfer of training: A review and direction for research. *Personnel Psychology*, *41*, 63-105.
- Bandura, A. (1977). Social learning theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall
- *Barger, P. B. & Grandey, A. A. (2006). "Service with a smile" and encounter satisfaction: Emotional contagion and appraisal mechanisms. *Academy of Management Journal, 49*(6), 1220-1238.
- *Barker, S. A. (2004). Improving interpersonal job skills by applying cross-cultural training. *Journal of European Industrial Training*, 28(3/4), 215-233.
- *Baron, R. A., & Brush, C. G. (1999). The role of social skills in entrepreneurs' success: Evidence from videotapes of entrepreneurs' presentations. In P.D. Reynolds, W.D. Bygrave, S. Manigart, C.M. Mason, G.D. Meyer, H.J. Sapienza and K.G. Shaver (Eds.) *Frontiers of Entrepreneurship 1999* (pp. 45-56). Babson Park, MA: Babson College.
- Baron, R. A., & Markman, G. D. (2000). Beyond social capital: How social skills can enhance entrepreneurs' success. *Academy of Management Executive*, 14(1), 106-116.
- Barrick, M. R., & Mount, M. K. (1991). The Big Five personality dimensions and job performance: A meta-analysis. *Personnel Psychology*, 44, 1-26.
- Barrack, M. R., Mount, M. K., & Judge, T. A. (2001). Personality and performance at the beginning of the new millennium: What do we know and where do we go next? *International Journal of Selection & Assessment, 9*, 9-30.

- *Barrick, M. R., Parks, L., & Mount, M. K. (2005). Self-monitoring as a moderator of the relationships between personality traits and performance. *Personnel Psychology*, *58*, 745-767.
- Baumeister, R. F. (1982). A self-presentational view of social phenomena. *Psychological Bulletin*, *91*, 3-26.
- Baumeister, R. F. (1989). Motives and costs of self-presentation in organizations. In R. J.
 Giacalone & P. Rosenfeld (Eds.), *Impression management in the organization* (pp. 57-72).
 Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Publishers.
- Beard, R. L., Salas, E., & Prince, C. (1995). Enhancing transfer of training: Using role-play to foster teamwork in the cockpit. *International Journal of Aviation Psychology*, 5(2), 131– 143.
- Bellack, A. S. (1983). Recurrent problems in the behavioral assessment of social skill. *Behavior Research and Therapy*, *1*, 29-41.
- Beer, M. (1976). The technology of organization development. In M. D. Dunnette (Ed.), *Handbook of industrial and organizational psychology* (pp. 937-994). Chicago: Rand McNally.
- Beer, M. (1980). *Organization change and development: A systems view*. Glenview, IL: Scott, Foresman Publishing Company.
- *Birkenbach, X. C., Kamfer, L., & ter Morshuizen, J. D. (1985). The development and the evaluation of a behaviour-modelling training programme for supervisors. *South African Journal of Psychology*, *15*, 11-19.
- *Black, J. S. (1990). The relationship of personal characteristics with the adjustment of Japanese expatriate managers. *Management International Review*, *30*(2), 119-134.
- Black, J. S., & Mendenhall, M. E. (1990). Cross-cultural training effectiveness: A review and theoretical framework for future research. *Academy of Management Review*, 15, 113-136.
- *Blissett, S. E., & McGrath, R. E. (1996). The relationship between creativity and interpersonal problem-solving skills in adults. *Journal of Creative Behavior*, *30*(3), 172-182.
- *Block, J., & Kremen, A. M. (1996). IQ and ego-resiliency: Conceptual & empirical connections & separateness. *Journal of Personality & Social Psychology*, 70(2), 349-361.
- Bobko, P., & Stone-Romero, E. L. (1998). Meta-analysis may be another useful tool, but it is not a panacea. *Research in Personnel and Human Resources Management*, *16*, 359-397.
- *Bolino, M. C., & Turnley, W. H. (2003). More than one way to make an impression: Exploring profiles of impression management. *Journal of Management*, 29(2), 141-160.

- *Bono, J. E., & Anderson, M. H. (2005). The advice and influence networks of transformational leaders. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *90*(6), 1306-1314.
- Borman, W. C., & Motowidlo, S. J. (1993). Task performance and contextual performance: The meaning for personnel selection research. *Human Performance*, *10*, 99-109.
- Borenstein, M., & Rothstein, H. (1999). Comprehensive meta-analysis: A computer program for research synthesis. Englewood, NJ: Biostat, Inc.
- Borman, W. C., & Brush, D. H. (1993). More progress towards a taxonomy of managerial performance requirements. *Human Performance*, 6(1), 1-21.
- *Bowler, W. M. & Brass, D. J. (2006). Relational correlates of interpersonal citizenship behavior: A social network perspective. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *91*(1), 70-82.
- *Bowling, N. A., Beehr, T. A., Johnson, A. L., Semmer, N. K., Hendricks, E. A., & Webster, H. A. (2004). Explaining potential antecedents of workplace social support: Reciprocity or attractiveness? *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, *9*(4), 339-350.
- Boyatzis, R. E. (1982). *The competent manager: A model for effective performance*. New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Bradley, J., White, B. J., & Mennecke, B. F. (2003). Teams and tasks: A temporal framework for the effects of interpersonal interventions on team performance. *Small Group Research*, 34(3), 353-387.
- *Brown, T. C. & Latham, G. P. (2006). The effect of training in verbal self-guidance on performance effectiveness in a MBA program. *Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science*, 38(1), 1-11.
- *Buhrmester, D., Furman, W., Wittenberg, M. T., & Reis, H. T. (1988). Five domains of interpersonal competence in peer relationships. *Journal of Personality & Social Psychology*, 55(6), 991-1008.
- Buller, P. F. (1986). The team building-task performance relation: Some conceptual and methodological refinements. *Group and Organization Studies*, 11, 147-168.
- Burgoon, J. K., & Dunbar, N. E. (2000). An interactionist perspective on dominancesubmission: Interpersonal dominance as a dynamic, situationally contingent social skill. *Communication Monographs*, 67(1), 96-121.
- Burke, M. J., & Day, R. R. (1986). A cumulative study of the effectiveness of managerial training. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 71, 232-245.
- Burke, C. S., Stagl, K. C., Klein, C., Goodwin, G. F., Salas, E., & Halpin, S. (2006). What types of leader behaviors are functional in teams? A meta-analysis. *Leadership Quarterly*, *17*, 288-317.

- *Burnaska, R. F. (1976). The effects of behavior modeling training upon managers' behaviors & employees' perceptions. *Personnel Psychology*, 29, 329-335.
- *Burns, T., Aditya, R., Hamilton, K., & Saravia, A. (2004, April). *The adult interpersonal acumen scale: Psychometric properties and discriminant validity.* Poster presented at the 19th Annual Conference of the Society for Industrial and Organizational Psychology, Chicago, IL.
- *Caldwell, D. F. & O'Reilly, C. A. III (1982). Boundary spanning and individual performance: The impact of self-monitoring. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 67(1), 124-127.
- Caligiuri, P., Phillips, J., Lazarova, M., Tarique, I., & Bürgi, P. (2001). The theory of met expectations applied to expatriate adjustment: The role of cross-cultural training. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, *12*, 357-372.
- Campbell, J. P., McCloy, R. A., Oppler, S. H., & Sager, C. E. (1993). A theory of performance. In N. Schmitt & W.C. Borman (Eds.), *Personnel selection*. Jossey-Bass: San Francisco.
- Cannon-Bowers, J. A., & Salas, E. (1998). *Making decisions under stress: Implications for individual and team training*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Cannon-Bowers, J. A., Tannenbaum, S. I., Salas, E., & Volpe, C. E. (1995). Defining team competencies and establishing team training requirements. In R. Guzzo, E. Salas, & Associates (Eds.), *Team effectiveness and decision making in organizations* (pp. 333-380). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- *Carpenter, T. D., Wisecarver, M. M., Deagle, E. A. III, & Mendini, K. G. (2005, April). *Special forces interpersonal performance assessment system*. Research Report 1833, Prepared for the U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences.
- *Carpenter, T. D. & Wisecarver, M. M. (2004, March). *Identifying and validating a model of interpersonal performance dimensions*. Technical Report 1144, Prepared for the United States Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences.
- Carroll, S. J., Jr., Paine, F. T., & Ivancevich, J. J. (1972). The relative effectiveness of training methods—expert opinion and research. *Personnel Psychology*, 25, 495-509.
- Cassady, M., & Wasson, L. (1994). Written communication skills of international business persons. *Bulletin of the Association for Business Communication*, 57, 36-40.
- *Catano, V. M., Darr, W., & Campbell, C. A. (2007). Performance appraisal of behavior-based competencies: A reliable and valid procedure. *Personnel Psychology*, *60*, 201-230.
- *Chan, D. (2001). Method effects of positive affectivity, negative affectivity, and impression management in self-reports of work attitudes. *Human Performance*, 14(1), 77-96.
- Chen, G., Donahue, L. & Klimoski, R. (2004) Training undergraduates to work in organizational teams, *Academy of Management Learning & Education*, 3(1), 27-40.

- *Clarke, C. & Hammer, M. R. (1995). Predictors of Japanese & American managers job success, personal adjustment, & intercultural interaction effectiveness. *Management International Review*, 35(2), 153-170.
- *Cleveland, J. N., & Landy, F. J. (1981). The influence of rater and ratee age on two performance judgments. *Personnel Psychology*, *34*, 19-29.
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences* (2nd ed.). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Earlbaum Associates.
- *Cole, M. S., Walter, F., & Burch, H. (2008). Affective mechanisms linking dysfunctional behavior to performance in work teams: A moderated mediation study. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *93*(5), 945-958.
- Colquitt, J. A., LePine, J. A., & Noe, R. A. (2000). Toward an integrative theory of training motivation: A meta-analytic path analysis of 20 years of research. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *85*(5), 678-707.
- Committee on Quality Health Care in America, Institute of Medicine (1999). *To err is human: Building a safer system*. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- *Connerley, M. L. (1997). The influence of training on perceptions of recruiters' interpersonal skills and effectiveness. *Journal of Occupational Psychology*, *70*, 259-272.
- Cook, T. D., & Campbell, D. T. (1976). The design and conduct of quasi-experiments and true experiments in field settings. In M. D. Dunnette (Ed.), *Handbook of industrial and organizational psychology* (pp. 223-326). New York: John Wiley and Sons.
- Cook, T. D., Campbell, D.T. (1979). *Quasi-experimentation: Design and analysis for field settings*. Chicago, IL: Rand McNally.
- *Cooper, C. L., & Bradshaw, K. (1975). An assessment of the social skills of police officers: A research note. *The Journal of Management Studies*, 12(3), 323-327.
- *Dahling, J. & Whitaker, B. (2005, April). Interaction of social skills and goal orientation on feedback-seeking behavior. Paper presented at the 20th Annual Conference of the Society for Industrial and Organizational Psychology, Los Angeles, CA.
- *Darr, W., & Catano, V. M. (2008). Multisource assessments of behavioral competencies & selection interview performance. *International Journal of Selection & Assessment, 16*(1), 68-72.
- *Decker, P. J. (1984). Effects of different symbolic coding stimuli in behavior modeling training. *Personnel Psychology*, *37*, 711-720.
- *Decker, P. J. (1982). The enhancement of behavior modeling training of supervisory skills by the inclusion of retention processes. *Personnel Psychology*, *35*, 323-332.

Decker, P., & Nathan, B. (1985). Behavior modeling training. New York: Praeger.

- *De Dreu, C. K. W. & Van Vianen, A. E. M. (2001). Managing relationship conflict and the effectiveness of organizational teams. *Journal of Organizational Behavior, 22*, 309-328.
- *Deeter-Schmelz, D. R., & Kennedy, K. N. (2003). Patient care teams & customer satisfaction: The role of team cohesion. *Journal of Services Marketing*, 17(7), 666-684. [6]
- *DeGroot, T. & Gooty, J. (In Press). Can nonverbal cues be used to make meaningful personality attributions in employment interviews? *Journal of Business and Psychology*.
- DeNeve, K. M., & Cooper, H. (1998). The happy personality: A meta-analysis of 137 personality traits and subjective well-being. *Psychological Bulletin*, *124*, 197-229.
- Department of the Army (2005, July). *Military operations: Force operating capabilities* (TRADOC Pamphlet 525-66). Fort Monroe, VA: Training and Doctrine Command.
- DePaulo, B. M. (1992). Nonverbal behavior and self-presentation. *Psychological Bulletin*, *111*(2), 203-243.
- Devine, D. J., Clayton, L. D., Philips, J. L., Dunford, B. B., & Melner, S. B. (1999). Teams in organizations: Prevalence, characteristics, and effectiveness. *Small Group Research*, *30*(6), 678-711.
- DiGiambattista, J. P. (2003). Accepting the challenge: Examining infantry and military police employment of competencies on the twenty-first century battlefield (Masters thesis). Fort Leavenworth, KS: U.S. Army Command and General Staff College.
- Digman, J. M. (1990). Personality structure: Emergence of the five-factor model, *Annual Review* of *Psychology*, 41, 417-440.
- Dirks, K. (1999). The effects of interpersonal trust on work group performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *84*(3), 445-455.
- *DiTommaso, E., Brannen-McNulty, C., & Burgess, M. (2003). Attachment styles, social skills, and loneliness in young adults. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *35*, 303-312.
- Driskell, J. E., Goodwin, G. F., Salas, E. & O'Shea, P.G. (2006). What makes a good team player? Personality and team effectiveness, *Group Dynamics: Theory, Research, and Practice, 10*(4), 249-271.
- *Druskat, V. U., & Kayes, D. C. (2000). Learning versus performance in short-term project teams. *Small Group Research*, *31*(3), 328-353.
- Duffy, F. D., Gordon, G. H., Whelan, G., Cole-Kelly, K., & Frandel, R. (2004). Assessing competence in communication and interpersonal skills: The Kalamazoo II Report. Academic Medicine, 79(6), 495-507.

- DuBrin, A. J. (1997). *Human relations: Interpersonal, job-oriented skills*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Dudley, N. M., Orvis, K. A., Lebiecki, & Cortina, J. M. (2006). A meta-analytic investigation of conscientiousness in the prediction of job performance: Examining the intercorrelations and the incremental validity of narrow traits. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *91*, 40-57.
- Dyer, W. G. (1987). Team building: Issues and alternatives. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.
- Eagly, A. H. (1987). *Sex differences in social behavior: A social role interpretation*. Hilldale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Eagly, A. H., Johannesen-Schmidt, M. C., & van Engen, M. (2003). Transformational, transactional, and laissez-faire leadership styles: A meta-analysis comparing women and men. *Psychological Bulletin*, *129*, 569-591.
- *Earley, P. C. (1987). Intercultural training for managers: A comparison of documentary and interpersonal methods. *Academy of Management Journal*, *30*(4), 685-698.
- Ellis, A. P. J., Bell, B. S., Ployhart, R. E., Hollenbeck, D. R., & Ilgen, D. R. (2005). An evaluation of generic teamwork skills training with action teams, Effects on cognitive and skill-based outcomes. *Personnel Psychology*, *58*, 641-672.
- Espiner, T. (2007). Survey: People skills valued over those for IT. CNET News, December 14.
- *Ferris, G. R., Bergen, T. G., & Gilmore, D. C. (1986). Personality and ability predictors of training performance for flight attendants. *Group & Organization Studies*, 11(4), 419-435.
- Ferris, G. R., Perrewé, P. L., Brouer, R. L., Lux, S., Treadway, D. C., & Douglas, C. (2007). Political skills in organizations. *Journal of Management*, *33*, 290-320.
- Ferris, G. R., Perrewé, P. L., & Douglas, C. (2002). Social effectiveness in organizations: Construct validity and research directions. *Journal of Leadership and Organizational Studies*, 9, 49-63.
- Ferris, G. R., Treadway, D. C., Kolodinsky, R. W., Hochwarter, W. A., Kacmar, C. J., Douglas, C., & Frink, D. D. (2005). Development and validation of the political skills inventory. *Journal of Management*, 31, 126-152.
- *Ferris, G. R., Witt, L. A., & Hochwarter, W. A. (2001). Interaction of social skill and general mental ability on job performance and salary. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86(6), 1075-1082.
- Field, A.P., (2001). Meta-analysis of correlation coefficients: A Monte Carlo comparison of fixed- and random-effects methods. *Psychological Methods*. *6*, 161-180.
- Field, A.P. (2005). Is the Meta-Analysis of Correlation Coefficients Accurate When Population Correlations Vary? *Psychological Methods*, *10*, 444-467.

Fine, S. A. (1955). A structure of worker functions. Personnel and Guidance Journal, 34, 66-73.

Fisher, R. A. (1932). Statistical Methods for Research Workers. London: Oliver and Boyd.

- Fisher, R., Ury, W., & Patton, B. (1991). *Getting to yes: Negotiating agreement without giving in*. New York: Penguin Books.
- *Flynn, F. J., & Ames, D. R. (2006). What's good for the goose may not be as good for the gander: The benefits of self-monitoring for men and women in task groups and dyadic conflicts. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *91*(2), 272-281.
- Forster, N. (2000). Expatriates and the impact of cross-cultural training. *Human Resource Management Journal, 10*, 63-78.
- Friedman, H. S., & Miller-Herringer, T. (1991). Nonverbal display of emotion in public and in private: Self-monitoring, personality, and expressive cues. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 61, 766-775.
- *Gannon, M. J., & Poon, J. M. L. (1997). Effects of alternative instructional approaches to crosscultural training outcomes. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 21(4), 429-446.
- *Ganster, D. C., Williams, S., & Poppler, P. (1991). Does training in problem solving improve the quality of group decisions? *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *76*(3), 479-483.
- Garavan, T. N. (1997). Interpersonal skills training for quality service interactions. *Industrial* and Commercial Training, 29(3), 70-79.
- Gardner, H. (1983). *Frames of mind: The theory of multiple intelligences*. New York: Basic Books.
- Gardner, H. (1999). *Intelligence reframed: Multiple intelligences for the 21st century*. New York: Basic Books.
- Gerstner, C. R., & Day, D. V. (1997). Meta-analytic review of leader-member exchange theory: Correlates and construct issues. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 82(6), 827-844.
- George, J. M., & Zhou, J. (2001). When openness to experience and conscientiousness are related to creative behavior: An interactional approach. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86, 513-524.
- Ghiselli, E. E. (1973). The validity of aptitude tests in personnel selection. *Personnel Psychology*, *26*, 461-477.
- *Gifford, R., Ng, C. F., & Wilkinson, M. (1985). Nonverbal cues in the employment interview: Links between applicant qualities and interview judgments. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 70(4), 729-736.
- *Gist, M. E., & Stevens, C. K. (1998). Effects of practice conditions and supplemental training method on cognitive learning and interpersonal skill generalization. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, *75*, 142-169.
- Glass, G. V. (1976). Primary, secondary, and meta-analysis of research. *Educational Researcher*, *5*, 3-8.
- Glass, G., McGaw, B., & Smith, M. L. (1981). *Meta-analysis in social research*. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Goffman, E. (1955). On face work: An analysis of ritual elements in social interaction. *Psychiatry*, *18*, 213-231.
- Goffman, E. (1959). The presentation of self in everyday life. New York: Doubleday.
- Goldstein, A. P., & Sorcher, M. (1974). Changing supervisory behavior. New York: Pergamon.
- Goldstein, A. G. (1983). Behavioral scientists' fascination with faces. *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior*, 7, 223-255.
- Goldstein, I. L., & Ford, J. K. (2002). *Training in organizations: Needs assessment, development and evaluation*. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth.
- Goleman, D. (1995). Emotional intelligence. New York: Bantam.
- *Gosserand, R. H., & Diefendorff, J. M. (2005). Emotional display rules and emotional labor: The moderating role of commitment. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *90*(6), 1256-1264.
- Greer, F. L. (1955). *Small group effectiveness* (Institute Report No. 6). Philadelphia: Institute for Research on Human Relations.
- *Grissom, C. M. (1986). *Behavior modeling: The evaluation of a program to develop conflict management skills*. Dissertation. The College of William and Mary.
- *Groves, K. S. (2005). Linking leader skills, follower attitudes, and contextual variables via an integrated model of charismatic leadership. *Journal of Management*, *31*(2), 255-277.
- *Guthrie, J. P., Coate, C. J., & Schwoerer, C. E. (1998). Career management strategies: The role of personality. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, *13*(5/6), 371-386.
- Guzzo, R. A., Jette, R. D., & Katzell, R. A. (1985). The effects of psychologically based intervention programs on worker productivity: A meta-analysis. *Personnel Psychology*, 38, 275-291.
- Hackman, J. R. (1987). The design of work teams. In J. Lorsch (Ed.), Handbook of Organizational Behavior (pp. 215-342). New York: Prentice Hall.

- *Hammer, M. R., & Martin, J. N. (1992, May). The effects of cross-cultural training on American managers in a Japanese-American joint venture. *Journal of Applied Communication Research*, 161-181.
- Hanson, D. J., Nangle, D. W., & Meyer, K. A. (1998). Enhancing the effectiveness of social skills interventions with adolescents. *Education and Treatment of Children*, 21(4), 489-513.
- *Harrison, J. K. (1992). Individual and combined effects of behavior modeling and the cultural assimilator in cross-cultural management training. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 77, 952-962.
- *Harris, K. J., Kacmar, K. M., Zivnuska, S., & Shaw, J. D. (2007). The impact of political skill on impression management effectiveness. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 92(1), 278-285.
- *Harris, M. M. & Fink, L. S. (1987). A field study of applicant reactions to employment opportunities: Does the recruiter make a difference? *Personnel Psychology*, 40, 765-784.
- *Harvey, P., Harris, R. B., Harris, K. J., & Wheeler, A. R. (2007). *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, *12*(2), 105-115.
- *Hawes, F., & Kealey, D. J. (1979). *Canadians in development: An empirical study of adaptation and effectiveness on overseas assignments*. Technical Report prepared for the Briefing Centre, Communications Branch. Canadian International Development Agency.
- Hayes, J. (1994). Interpersonal skills: Goal-directed behaviour at work. New York: Routledge.
- Hayes, J. (2002). Interpersonal skills at work. New York: Routledge.
- Haythorn, W. (1953). The influence of individual members on the characteristics of small groups. *Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology*, 48, 276-284.
- Hedges (1992). Meta-analysis. Journal of Educational Statistics, 17, 279-296.
- Hedges, L. V., & Olkin, I. (1985). *Statistical methods for meta-analysis*. Orlando, FL: Academic Press.
- Higgins, C. A., & Judge, T. A. (2004). The effects of applicant influence tactics on recruiter perceptions of fit and hiring recommendations: A field study. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *89*(4), 622-632.
- Hobfoll, S. E. (2002). Social and psychological resources and adaptation. *Review of General Psychology*, *6*, 307-324.
- *Hochwarter, W. A., Hall, A. T., Perrewé, P. L., Ferris, G. R., & Frink, D. D. (2004, April). Felt accountability & political skills: Their impact on job performance. Paper presented at the 19th Annual Conference of the Society for Industrial and Organizational Psychology, Chicago, IL.

- *Hochwarter, W. A., Witt, L. A., Treadway, D. C., & Ferris, G. R. (2006). The interaction of social skill and organizational support on job performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 91(2), 482-489.
- *Hoehn-Weiss, M. N., Brush, C. G., & Baron, R. A. (2004, Fall). Putting your best foot forward? Assessments of entrepreneurial social competence from two perspectives. *The Journal of Private Equity*, 17-26.
- Hogan, J., & Holland, B. (2003). Using theory to evaluation personality and job-performance relations: A socioanalytic perspective. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *88*, 100-112.
- Hogan, J., & Lock, J. (1995, May). A taxonomy of interpersonal skills for business interactions. Paper presented at the 10th Annual Conference of the Society for Industrial and Organizational Psychology, Orlando, FL.
- *Hogan, J., Rybicki, S. L., Motowidlo, S. J., & Borman, W. C. (1998). Relations between contextual performance, personality, and occupational advancement. *Human Performance*, *11*(2/3), 189-207.
- Hogan, R., & Shelton, D. (1998). A socioanalytic perspective on job performance. *Human Performance*, *11*(2/3), 129-144.
- Huffcutt, A. I., Conway, J. M., Roth, P. L., & Stone, N. J. (2001). Identification and metaanalytic assessment of psychological constructs measured in employment interviews. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86, 897-913.
- Huffcutt, H., & Arthur, W., Jr. (1995). Development of a new outlier statistic for meta-analytic data. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *80*, 327-334.
- *Humphreys, M. A., & Williams, M. R. (1996). Exploring the relative effects of salesperson interpersonal process attributes & technical product attributes on customer satisfaction. *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management, 16*(3), 47-57.
- Hunt, J. W., & Baruch, Y. (2003). Developing top managers: The impact of interpersonal skills training. *Journal of Management Development, 22*(8), 729-752.
- Hunter, J. E. (1986). Cognitive ability, cognitive aptitude, job knowledge, and job performance. *Journal of Vocational Behavior, 29*(3), 340-362.
- Hunter, J. E. (1980). *Test validation for 12,000 jobs: An application of synthetic validity and validity generalization to the General Aptitude Test Battery (GATB)*. Washington, DC: U.S. Employment Service, U.S. Department of Labor.
- Hunter, J. E., & Hunter, R. F. (1984). Validity and utility of alternative predictors of job performance. *Psychological Bulletin, 96*(1), 72-98.
- Hunter, J. F., & Schmidt, F. L. (2004). *Methods of meta-analysis: Correcting error and bias in research findings* (2nd ed.). Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.

- Hunter, J. E., & Schmidt, F. L., & Le, H. (2006). Implications of direct and indirect range restriction for meta-analysis method and findings. *Journal of Applied Psychology 91*, 594-612.
- Hunter, J. F., Schmidt, F. L., & Jackson, G. B. (1982). *Meta-analysis: Cumulating research findings across studies*. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Hunter, J. E., Schmidt, F. L., & Le, H. (2006). Implications for direct and indirect range restriction for meta-analysis methods and findings. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *91*(3), 594-612.
- Hyde, J. S. (2005). The gender similarities hypothesis. American Psychologist, 60, 581-592.
- Hyde, J. S., & Linn, M. C. (1988). Gender differences in verbal ability: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 104, 53-69.
- Irvin, J. E., Bowers, C. A., Dunn, M. E., and Wang, M. C. (1999). Efficacy of relapse prevention: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical* Psychology, 67(4), 563-570.
- *Jayanti, R. K., & Whipple, T. W. (2008). Like me...like me not: The role of physician likeability on service evaluations. *Journal of Marketing Theory & Practice, 16*(1), 79-86.
- Jehn, K. A. (1995). A multimethod examination of the benefits and detriments of intragroup conflict. *Administrative Sciences Quarterly*, 40, 256-282.
- Jehn, K. A., & Chatman, J. A. (2000). The influence of proportional and perceptual conflict composition on team performance. *International Journal of Conflict Management*, 11(1), 56-73.
- John, O. P., & Srivastava, S. (1999). The Big Five trait taxonomy: History, measurement, and theoretical perspectives. In L. A. Pervin & O. P. John (Eds.), *Handbook of personality: Theory and research* (2nd ed., pp. 102-138). New York: Guilford Press.
- *Johnson, S. K., Arboleda, M. B., Riggio, R. E., Dipboye, R. L., & Mayes, B. T. (2007, April). *Social skills and interview performance: The mediating role of nonverbal behavior*. Poster presented at the 22nd Annual Conference of the Society for Industrial and Organizational Psychology, New York, NY.
- Johnson, B. T., Mullen, B., & Salas, E. (1995). Comparison of three meta-analytic approaches. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 80(1), 94-106.
- *Joireman, J., Kamdar, D., Daniels, D., & Duell, B. (2006). Good citizens to the end? It depends: Empathy and concern with future consequences moderate the impact of a short-term time horizon on organizational citizenship behaviors. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *91*(6), 1307-1320.

- Jordan, J., & Cartwright, S. (1998). Selecting expatriate managers: Key traits and competencies. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 19(2), 89-96.
- Judge, T. A., & Bretz, R. D. (1994). Political influence behavior and career success. *Journal of Management, 20*, 43-65.
- *Kantrowitz, T., Kanfer, R., & Lippstreu, M. (2006, May). *Personality and motivational predictors of soft skill performance*. Poster presented at the 21st Annual Conference of the Society for Industrial and Organizational Psychology, Dallas, TX.
- Kelly, E. L. (1927). Interpretation of educational measurements. Yonkers, NY: World.
- *Kernaghan, J. A. & Cooke, R. A. (1990). Teamwork in planning innovative projects: Improving group performance by rational & interpersonal interventions in group process. *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, *37*(2), 109-116. [12]
- *Kilduff, M., & Day, D. V. (1994). Do chameleons get ahead? The effects of self-monitoring on managerial careers. *Academy of Management Journal*, *37*, 1047-1060.
- Kirkpatrick, D. L. (1987). Evaluation of training. In R. L. Craig (Ed.), Training and development handbook (3rd ed., pp. 301-319). New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Klein, C., DeRouin, R. E., & Salas, E. (2006). Uncovering workplace interpersonal skills: A review, framework, and research agenda. *International Journal of Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, 21, 79-126.
- Klein, C., DiazGranados, D., Salas, E., Le, H., Burke, C. S., Lyons, R., & Goodwin, G. F. (2009). Does team training work? *Small Group Research*, 40(2), 181-222.
- Khurana, R. (2002). Searching for a corporate savior: The irrational quest for charismatic CEOs. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Kozlowski, S. W. J., Ilgen, D. R. (2006). Enhancing the effectiveness of work groups and teams. *Psychological Science in the Public Interest*, *7*(3), 77–124.
- Kraiger, K. (1985). On learning from the past: A meta-analytic fable. *Personnel Psychology, 38*, 799-801.
- Kraiger, K., Ford, J. K., & Salas, E. (1993). Application of cognitive, skill-based, and affective theories of learning outcomes to new methods of training evaluation. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 78(2), 311-328.
- *Kraus, D. C. & Gramopadhye, A. K. (2001). Effect of team training on aircraft maintenance technicians: Computer-based training versus instructor-based training. *International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics*, *27*, 141-157.
- LaFrance, M., Hecht, M. A., & Paluck, E. L. (2003). The contingent smile: A meta-analysis of sex differences in smiling. *Psychological Bulletin*, 129, 305-334.

- Landy, F. J., & Conte, J. A. (2004). Work in the 21st century: An introduction to industrial and organizational psychology. Boston: McGraw-Hill.
- Lansky, D. (1998). Measuring what matters to the public. Health Affairs, 17(4), 40-41.
- *Latham, G. P., & Saari, L. M. (1979). Application of social-learning theory to training supervisors through behavioral modeling. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *64*(3), 239-246.
- Lau J., Schmid C. H., & Chalmers T. C. (1995). Cumulative meta-analysis of clinical trials builds evidence for exemplary medical care. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 48, 45-57.
- *Laybourn, P., Goldfinch, J., Graham, J., Macleod, L., & Stewart, S. (2001). Measuring changes in groupworking skills in undergraduate students after employer involvement in group skill development. *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education*, 26(4), 367-380. [14]
- Leaper, C., & Smith, T. E. (2004). A meta-analytic review of gender variations in children's language use: Talkativeness, affiliative speech, and assertive speech. *Developmental Psychology*, *40*, 993-1027.
- Leary, M. R., & Kowalski, R. M. (1990). Impression management: A literature review and twocomponent model. *Psychological Bulletin*, 107(1), 34-47.
- Lieberman, M. D., & Rosenthal, R. (2001). Why introverts can't always tell who likes them: Multitasking and nonverbal decoding. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 80(2), 294-310.
- *Lievens, F., Buyse, T., & Sackett, P. R. (2005). The operational validity of a video-based situational judgment test for medical college admissions: Illustrating the importance of matching predictor & criterion construct domains. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *90*(3), 442-452.
- Lippa, R. (1998). Gender-related individual differences and the structure of vocational interests: The importance of the People-Things dimension. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 74(4), 996-1009.
- Lipsey, M. W., & Wilson, D. B. (2001). Practical meta-analysis. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Littrell, L. N., Salas, E., Hess, K. P., Paley, M., & Riedel, S. (2006). Expatriate preparation: A critical analysis of twenty-five years of cross-cultural training research. *Human Resource Development Review*, *5*(3), 1-34.
- Lorr, M., & More, W. (1980). Four dimensions of assertiveness. *Multivariate Behavioral Research, 15*, 127-138.
- *Lorr, M., Youniss, R. P., & Stefic, E. C. (1991). An inventory of social skills. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 57(3), 506-520.

- Lucas, R. E., Diener, E. Suh, E. M., Shao, L., & Grob, A. (2000). Cross-cultural evidence for the fundamental features of extraversion. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 79(3), 452-468.
- Luthans, F., Hodgetts, R. M., & Rosenkrantz, S. A. (1988). *Real managers*. Cambridge, MA: Ballinger.
- Marks, M. A., Mathieu, J. E., & Zaccaro, S. J. (2001). A temporally based framework and taxonomy of team processes. *Academy of Management Review*, *26*, 356–376.
- Marks, M. A., Sabella, M. J., Burke, C. S., & Zaccaro, S. J. (2002). The impact of cross-training on team effectiveness. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 87(1), 3-13.
- *Marlowe, H. A., Jr. (1986). Social intelligence: Evidence for multidimensionality and construct independence. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *78*, 52-58.
- *Mathieu, J. E., & Leonard, R. L., Jr. (1987). Applying utility concepts to a training program in supervisory skills: A time-based approach. *Academy of Management Journal*, *30*(2), 316-335.
- Matthews, G., Zeidner, M., & Roberts, R. D. (2002). *Emotional intelligence: Science and myth.* Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.
- *Maurer, S. D., Howe, V., & Lee, T. W. (1992). Organizational recruiting as marketing management: An interdisciplinary study of engineering graduates. *Personnel Psychology*, 45, 807-833.
- *May, G. L., & Kahnweiler, W. M. (2000). The effect of mastery practice design on learning and transfer in behavior modeling training. *Personnel Psychology*, *53*, 353-373.
- *Mayes, B. T., Belloli, C. A., Riggio, R. E., & Aguirre, M. (1997). Assessment Centers for Course Evaluations: A demonstration. *Journal of Social Behavior & Personality*, 12(5), 303-320.
- McClure, E. B. (2000). A meta-analytic review of sex differences in facial expression processing and their development in infants, children, and adolescents. *Psychological Bulletin, 126*, 424-453.
- McConnell, C. R. (2004). Interpersonal skills: What they are, how to improve them, and how to apply them. *The Health Care Manager*, *23*(2), 177-187.
- *McCullough, H. F. (1981). Role playing versus case studies in interpersonal skills training: Effects on the attitudes of middle level managers, their superiors, and subordinates. Dissertation. University of Cincinnati.
- *McFarland, L. A., Yun, G., Harold, C. M., Viera, L., Jr., & Moore, L. G. (2005). An examination of impression management use and effectiveness across assessment center exercises: The role of competency demands. *Personnel Psychology*, *58*, 949-980.

- McFarland, L. A., Ryan, A. M., & Kriska, S. D. (2003). Impression management use and effectiveness across assessment methods. *Journal of Management, 29*(5), 641-661
- McIntyre, R. M., & Salas, E. (1995). Measuring and managing for team performance: Emerging principles from complex environments. In R. A. Guzzo & E. Salas (Eds.), *Team effectiveness and decision making in organizations* (pp. 9-45). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- McKee-Ryan, F. M., Song, Z., Wanberg, C. R., & Kinicki, A. J. (2005). Psychological and physical well-being during unemployment: A meta-analytic study. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *90*(1), 53-76.
- Mead, G. H. (1934). Mind, self, and society. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Messmer, M. (2001). Interpersonal skills: The new essential in accounting. *The National Public Accountant, 46*(1), 28-29.
- *Miller, J. B., & deWinstanley, P. A. (2002). The role of interpersonal competence in memory for conversation. *Personality & Social Psychology Bulletin, 28*(1), 78-89.
- Mintzberg, H. (1983). Power in and around organizations. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Mintzberg, H. (1985). The organization as a political arena. *Journal of Management Studies, 22*, 133-154.
- *Mitchell, R. (1986). Team building by disclosure of internal frames of reference. *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, 22(1), 15-28.
- *Morand, D. A. (2001). The emotional intelligence of managers: Assessing the construct validity of a nonverbal measures of "people skills." *Journal of Business and Psychology*, *16*(1), 21-33.
- *Morgeson, F. P., Reider, M. H., & Campion, M. A. (2005). Selecting individuals in team settings: The importance of social skills, personality characteristics, and teamwork knowledge. *Personnel Psychology*, *58*, 583-611.
- Morris, J. A., & Feldman, D. C. (1996). The dimensions, antecedents, and consequences of emotional labor. *Academy of Management Review*, 21(4), 986-1010.
- Morrison, E. D., & Heggestad, M. J. (2008). An inductive exploration of the social effectiveness construct space. *Journal of Personality*, *76*(4), 839-874.
- *Moses, J. L., & Ritchie, R. J. (1976). Supervisory relationships training: A behavioral evaluation of a behavior modeling program. *Personnel Psychology*, *29*, 337-343.
- *Motowidlo, S. J., Dunnette, M. D., & Carter, G. W. (1990). An alternative selection procedure: The low-fidelity simulation. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *75*(6), 640-647.

- Motowidlo, S. J., & Van Scotter, J. R. (1994). Evidence that task performance should be distinguished from contextual performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 79, 475-480.
- Mount, M. K., Barrick, M. R., & Stewart, G. L. (1998). Five-factor model of personality and performance in jobs involving interpersonal interaction. *Human Performance*, 11, 145-165.
- Mueller-Hanson, R. A., Swartout, E. C., Morewitz, C. L., Keil, C. T., McGonigle, T. P., Martin, C., Parish, C., & Morath, R. A. (2007, July). Social awareness and leader influence: A proposed model and training intervention. Research Report 1874. Arlington, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences.
- *Najar, M. J., Holland, B. D., & Van Landuyt, C. R. (2004, April). *Individual differences in leadership derailment*. Paper presented at the 19th Annual Conference for the Society for Industrial and Organizational Psychology, Chicago, Illinois.
- *Neuman, G. A., & Wright, J. (1999). Team effectiveness: Beyond skills and cognitive ability. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *84*(3), 376-389.
- Newstrom, J. W. (1984). A role-taker time differentiation integration of transfer strategies. Paper presented at the meeting of the American Psychological Association, Toronto, Canada.
- *Nezlek, J. B. (2001). Causal relationships between perceived social skills & day-to-day social interaction: Extending the sociometer hypothesis. *Journal of Social & Personal Relationships*, *18*(3), 386-403.
- Nezlek, J. B., Feist, G. J., Wilson, F. C., & Plesko, R. M. (2001). Day-to-day variability in empathy as a function of daily events and mood. *Journal of Research in Personality*, *35*, 401-423.
- Nunnally, J. C. (1978). Psychometric theory. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Nunnally, J. C., & Bernstein, I. H. (1994). *Psychometric theory* (3rd ed.). New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Nurick, A. J. (1993). Facilitating effective work teams. *SAM Advanced Management Journal*, 58(1), 22-26.
- *Oakes, D. W., Ferris, G. R., Martocchio, J. J., Buckley, M. R., & Broach, D. (2001). Cognitive ability and personality predictors of training program skill acquisition and job performance. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, *15*(4), 523-548.
- *O'Brien, G. E., Fiedler, F. E., & Hewett, T. (1971). The effects of programmed culture training upon the performance of volunteer medical teams in Central America. Human Relations, 24(3), 209-231.
- O'Conner, T. (2003). *Interpersonal skills module*. Generic Skills Integration Project (GENSIP), University of Dublin, Trinity College.

- Olsen, D. E., Sellers, W. A., & Phillips, Jr., R. G. (2004). The simulation of a human subject for interpersonal skills training. *Proceedings of the Interservice/Industry Training, Simulation and Education Conference* (IITSEC), Orlando, FL.
- Ones, D. S., & Viswesvaran, C. (1997). Personality determinants in the prediction of aspects of expatriate job success. In D. M. Saunder (Series Ed.) & Z. Aycan (Vol. Ed.), *New approaches to employee management: Vol. 4 Expatriate Management: Theory and Research*. Greenwich, CT: JAI Press.
- O*Net (2006). Social skills. Retrieved May 22, 2006, from http://online.onetcenter.org/skills/
- Pearson, K. (1904, November). Report on certain enteric fever inoculation statistics. *British Medical Journal*, 1243-1246.
- *Peeters, H., & Lievens, F. (2004, April). Verbal and nonverbal impression management tactics in behavior description and situational interviews: The influence of candidates' motivations and personality. In L. A. McFarland (Chair), *Making a good impression: Antecedents and consequences of impression management*. Symposium conducted at the 19th Annual Conference of the Society for Industrial and Organizational Psychology, Chicago, IL.
- Peled, A. (2000). Politicking for success: The missing skill. *Leadership and Organization Development Journal*, 21, 20-29.
- *Penley, L. E., Alexander, E. R., Jernigan, I. E., & Henwood, C. I. (1991). Communication abilities of managers: The relationship to performance. *Journal of Management*, *17*(1), 57-76.
- Pescuric, A., & Byham, W. C. (1996, July). When unveiled 20 years ago, behavior modeling was predicted to do wonder for training. It has. And, now, an enhanced version is keeping up with our changing times. *Training and Development*, 25-30.
- Phillips, M. M. (2004). Simper nice: Before heading to Iraq, Marines learn people skills. Wall Street Journal (Eastern edition), New York, NY, January 6, 2004, pg. A.1. retrieved 12/6/04
- Poe, A. C. (2001). Mind their manners. HR Magazine, 46.
- Prince, C., & Salas, E. (1993). Training research for teamwork in the military aircrew. In E. L. Weiner, B. G. Kanki, & R. L. Helmreich (Eds.), *Cockpit resource management* (pp. 337-366). Orlando, FL: Academic.
- *Pugh, S. D. (2001). Service with a smile: Emotional contagion in the service encounter. *Academy of Management Journal, 44*, 1018-1027.
- Pulakos, E. D., Schmitt, N., Dorsey, D. W., Arad, S., Hedge, J. W., & Borman, W. C. (2002). Predicting adaptive performance: Further tests of a model of adaptability. *Human Performance*, 15, 299-323.

- *Ramasubbu, N., Mithas, S., & Krishnan, M. S. (2008). High tech, high touch: The effect of employee skills & customer heterogeneity on customer satisfaction with enterprise system support services. *Decision Support Systems*, *44*, 509-523.
- *Rapisarda, B. A. (2002). The impact of emotional intelligence on work team cohesiveness and performance. *The International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, *10*(4), 363-379.
- Ree, M. J., & Earles, J. A. (1992). Intelligence is the best predictor of job performance. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 1, 86-89.
- Reuters Limited (2006). *Service sector continues to grow, but prices keep lid on advance*. Article downloaded from http://www.usatoday.com/money/economy/service/2006-06-05-service-may.htm
- Riggio, R. E. (1998). Charisma. In H. S. Friedman (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of mental health* (pp. 387-396). San Diego: Academic Press.
- *Riggio, R. E. (1986). The assessment of basic social skills. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 51*, 649-660.
- *Riggio, R. E., Riggio, H. R., Salinas, C., & Cole, E. J. (2003). The role of social and emotional communication skills in leader emergence and effectiveness. *Group Dynamics: Theory, Research, and Practice, 7*(2), 83-103.
- *Riggio, R. E., & Taylor, S. J. (2000). Personality and communication skills as predictors of hospice nurse performance. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, *15*(2), 351-359.
- *Riggio, R. E., Tucker, J., & Throckmorton, B. (1987). Social skills and deception ability. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 13*(4), 568-577.
- *Riggio, R. E., & Zimmerman, J. (1991). Social skills and interpersonal relationships: Influences on social support and support seeking. *Advances in Personal Relationships*, *2*, 133-155.
- Rivera, R., & Paradise, A. (2006). *State of the industry in leading enterprises: ASTD's annual review of trends in workplace learning and performance*. Alexandria, VA: American Society for Training and Development.
- Rogers, C. R., & Farson, R. E. (1976). *Active listening*. Chicago: Industrial Relations Center of the University of Chicago.
- Rosenthal, R. (1979). The "file drawer problem" and tolerance for null results. *Psychological Bulletin, 86*, 638-641.
- Rosenthal, R. (1991). Meta-analytic procedures for social research. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Rosenthal, R. (1994). Parametric measures of effect size. In. H. Cooper & L. V. Hedges (Eds.), *The handbook of research synthesis* (pp. 231-244). New York: Russell Sage.

Rosenthal, R. (1995). Writing meta-analytic reviews. Psychological Bulletin, 118, 183-192.

- Rosenthal, R., & DiMatteo, M. R. (2001). Meta-analysis: Recent developments in quantitative methods for literature reviews. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *52*, 59-82.
- Rosenthal, R., & Rosnow, R. L. (1991). *Essentials of behavioral research: Methods and data analysis* (2nd. ed.). New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Rothstein, H. R., McDaniel, M. A., & Borenstein, M. (2002). Meta-analysis: A review of quantitative cumulation methods. In F. Drasgow, & N. Schmitt (Eds.), *Measuring and* analyzing behavior in organizations: Advances in measurement and data analysis. The Jossey-Bass Business & Management Series (pp. 534-571). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- *Ruderman, M. N, Ohlott, P. J., Panzer, K., & King, S. N. (2002). Benefits of multiple roles for managerial women. *Academy of Management Journal*, 45(2), 369-386.
- Runkel, P. J., & McGrath, J. E. (1972). *Research on human behavior: A systematic guide to method*. New York: Holt, Rinehart, and Winston.
- *Russ-Eft, D., Krishnamurthi, & Ravishankar, L. (1994). Getting results with interpersonal skills training. In J. J. Phillips (Ed.), *In action: Measuring return on investment, Volume I* (pp. 199-211). Washington, DC: American Society of Training and Development.
- Russell, T. L., Crafts, J. L., & Brooks, J. E. (1995). *Intercultural communication requirements for Special Forces teams* (Research Report 1683). Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences.
- *Russell, J. A., Wexley, K. N., & Hunter, J. E. (1984). Questioning the effectiveness of behavior modeling training in an industrial setting. *Personnel Psychology*, *37*, 465-481.
- Salas, E., Burke, C.S., & Cannon-Bowers, J. A. (2002). What we know about designing and delivering team training: Tips and guidelines. In K. Kraiger (Ed.), *Creating, implementing,* and managing effective training and development: State-of-the-art lessons for practice (pp. 234-259). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Salas, E., Rozell, D., Mullen, B., & Driskell, J. E. (1999). The effect of team building on performance: An integration. *Small Group Research*, *30*, 309-329.
- Salovey, P., & Mayer, J. D. (1990). Emotional intelligence. *Imagination, Cognition, and Personality, 9*, 185-211.
- *Sarason, B. R., Sarason, I. G., Hacker, T. A., & Basham, R. B. (1985). Concomitants of social support: Social skills, physical attractiveness, and gender. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 49(2), 469-480.
- Schein, E. H. (1969). *Process consultation: Its role in organization development*. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.

- Schein, E. H. (1999). *Process consultation revisited: Building the helping relationship*. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.
- Schmidt, F. L., Gast-Rosenberg, I., & Hunter, J. E. (1980). Validity generalization results for computer programmers. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 65, 643-661.
- Schmidt, F. L., & Hunter, J. E. (1992). Development of causal models of job performance. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 1, 89-92.
- Schmidt, F. L., Hunter, J. E., & Outerbridge, A. N. (1986). Impact of job experience and ability on job knowledge, work sample performance, and supervisory ratings of job performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *71*, 432-439.
- Schmidt, F. L., & Le, H. (2005). *Software for the Hunter-Schmidt meta-analysis methods* (Vol. 1.1). Iowa City, IA: University of Iowa, Department of Management & Organizations.
- Schneider, B., & Bowen, D. E. (1995). *Winning the service game*. Boston: Harvard Business Press.
- Schneider, R. J. (2001). PDRI Social Competence Inventory (Version 2). Unpublished instrument, Personnel Decisions Research Institutes, Inc., Minneapolis, Minnesota.
- *Schneider, R. J., Ackerman, P. L., & Kanfer, R. (1996). To "act wisely in human relations:" Exploring the dimensions of social competence. *Personality and Individual Differences, 21*, 469-481.
- *Scullen, S. E., Mount, M. K., & Judge, T. A. (2003). Evidence of the construct validity of developmental ratings of managerial performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88(1), 50-66.
- Segrin, C. (1998). The impact of assessment procedures on the relationship between paper and pencil and behavioral indicators of social skill. *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior*, 22(4), 229-251.
- Segrin, C. (2001). Social skills and negative life events: Testing the deficit stress generation hypothesis. *Current Psychology: Developmental, Learning, Personality, 20*(1), 19-35.
- *Segrin, C. & Kinney, T. (1995). Social skills deficits among the socially anxious: Rejection from others and loneliness. *Motivation and Emotion*, *19*(1), 1-24.
- Shadish, W. R., Cook, T. D., & Campbell, D. T. (2002). *Experimental and quasi-experimental designs for generalized causal inference*. Boston: Houghton Mifflin Company.
- *Shaffer, M. A., Harrison, D. A., Gregersen, H., Black, J. S., & Ferzandi, L. A. (2006). You can take it with you: Individual differences and expatriate performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *91*(1), 109-125.

- Sharplin, A. D., Sharplin, W. S., & Birdsong, T. P. (1986). Knowing the market: Are writing teachers out of touch? *Journal of Education for Business*, 11, 80-84.
- Sherer, M., Maddux, J. E., Mercandante, B., Prentice-Dunn, S., Jacobs, B., & Rogers, R. W. (1982). The self-efficacy scale: Construction and validation. *Psychological Reports*, 51, 663-671.
- Shrout, P. E., & Fleiss, J. L. (1979). Intraclass correlations: Uses in assessing rater reliability. *Psychological Bulletin*, *86*, 420-428.
- *Silvester, J., Patterson, F., Koczwara, A., & Ferguson, E. (2007). "Trust me...": Psychological and behavioral predictors of perceived physician empathy. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *92*(2), 519-527.
- *Smith, P. E. (1976). Management modeling training to improve morale and customer satisfaction. *Personnel Psychology*, 29, 351-359.
- *Smith, K. A., & Salas, E. (1991, March). *Training assertiveness: The importance of active participation*. Paper presented at the 37th Annual Meeting of the Southeastern Psychological Association, New Orleans, LA.
- Smith-Jentsch, K. A., Griffin, A., & Onyejiaka, U. U. (2006, May). Empirical support for a new approach to computer-based simulation. Poster presented at the 21st Annual Conference of the Society for Industrial and Organizational Psychology, Dallas, TX.
- *Smith-Jentsch, K. A., Salas, E., & Baker, D. P. (1996). Training team performance-related assertiveness. *Personnel Psychology*, 49, 909-936.
- *Smith-Jentsch, K. A., Salas, E., & Brannick, M. T. (2001). To transfer or not to transfer? Investigating the combined effects of trainee characteristics, team leader support, and team climate. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *86*(2), 279-292.
- Southam, K. (2006). Interpersonal skills. *Career One*. Retrieved May 22, 2006, from http://www.careerone.com.au/jobs/job-search/get-that-job/
- *Sparrowe, R. T., Soetjipto, B. W., & Kraimer, M. L. (2006). Do leaders' influence tactics relate to members' helping behavior? It depends on the quality of the relationship. *Academy of Management Journal, 49*(6), 1194-1208.
- Spector, P. E., & Jex, S. M. (1998). Development of four self-report measures of job stressors and strains: Interpersonal Conflict at Work Scale, Organizational Constraints Scale, Quantitative Workload Inventory, and Physical Symptoms Inventory. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, *3*, 356-367.
- *Staw, B. M., & Barsade, S. G. (1993). Affect and managerial performance: A test of the sadderbut-wiser vs. happier-and-smarter hypothesis. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 38, 304-331.

- *Stening, B. W., & Hammer, M. R., (1992). Cultural baggage and the adaptation of expatriate American and Japanese managers. *Management International Review*, *32*(1), 77-89.
- Sternberg, R. J. (1985). *Beyond IQ: A triarchic theory of human intelligence*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Stevens, C. K., & Gist, M. E. (1997). Effects of self-efficacy and goal-orientation on negotiation skill maintenance: What are the mechanisms? *Personnel Psychology*, *50*, 955-978.
- Stevens, M. J., & Campion, M. A. (1999). Staffing work teams: Development and validation of a selection test for teamwork settings. *Journal of Management*, 25(2), 207-228.
- *Stewart, G. L., Dustin, S. L., Barrick, M. R., & Darnold, T. C. (2008). Exploring the handshake in employment interviews. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *93*(5), 1139-1146. [19]
- Stock, W. A. (1994). Systematic coding for research synthesis. In H. Cooper & L. V. Hedges (Eds.), *The handbook of research synthesis* (pp. 97-110). New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Stone, E. F. (1978). *Research methods in organizational behavior*. Glenview, IL: Scott, Foresman Publishing Company.
- Stuhlmacher, A. F., & Walters, A. E. (1999). Gender differences in negotiation outcomes: A meta-analysis. *Personnel Psychology*, 52(3), 653-667.
- *Susskind, A. M., Kacmar, K. M., & Borchgrevink, C. P. (2003). Customer service providers' attitudes relating to customer service and customer satisfaction in the customer-server exchange. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88(1), 179-187.
- Tannenbaum, S. I., Beard, R. L., & Salas, E. (1992). Team building and its influence on team effectiveness: An examination of conceptual and empirical developments. In K. Kelley (Ed.), *Issue, theory, and research in industrial/organizational psychology* (pp. 117-153). Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- *Taylor, L. K. (1987). An interaction analysis of behavior modeling to facilitate interpersonal supervisory skills of school principals. Dissertation. Brigham Young University.
- Taylor, P., Russ-Eft, D., & Chan, D. (2005). The effectiveness of behavior modeling training across settings and features of study design. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *90*, 692-709.
- Tews, M. J., & Tracey, B. (2008). An empirical examination of post-training on-the-job supplements for enhancing the effectiveness of interpersonal skills training. *Personnel Psychology*, *61*(2), 375-401.

Thorndike, E. L. (1903). Educational psychology. New York: Lemcke and Buechner.

Thorndike, E. L. (1920). Intelligence and its use. Harper's Magazine, 140, 227-235.

- Thorndike, E. L., & Woodworth, R. S. (1901). The influence of improvement in one mental function upon the efficiency of other functions. *Psychological Review*, *8*, 247-261.
- *Treadway, D. C., Ferris, G. R., Duke, A. B., Adams, G. L., & Thatcher, J. B. (2007). The moderating role of subordinate political skill on supervisor impressions of subordinate ingratiation and ratings of subordinate interpersonal facilitation. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *92*(3), 848-855.
- Tung, R. L. (1998). A contingency framework of selection and training of expatriates revisited. *Human Resource Management Review*, *8*, 23-27.
- U.S. Banker. (2000). Hard lessons in soft skills. US Banker, 110, 44.
- U.S. Employment Service (1970). *Manual for the USES General Aptitude Test Battery, Section III: Development*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Labor, Manpower Administration.
- *Van Iddekinge, C. H., McFarland, L. A., Lozzi, D. E., & Raymark, P. H. (2004). Effects of faking instructions and personality on candidate impression management. In L. A. McFarland (Chair), *Making a good impression: Antecendents and consequences of impression management*. Paper presented at the 19th Annual Conference of the Society for Industrial and Organizational Psychology, Chicago, IL.
- *Van Scotter, J. R. & Motowidlo, S. J. (1996). Interpersonal facilitation and job dedication as separate facets of contextual performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *81*(5), 525-531.
- *van Zanten, M., Boulet, J. R., & McKinley, D. (2007). Using standardized patients to assess the interpersonal skills of physicians: Six years' experience with a high-stakes certification examination. *Health Communication*, 22(3), 195-205.
- Vaughn, J. (1985). The basis of English: Foundations for success in technical communications. *Technical Writing Teacher*, 12, 19-22.
- Vinchur, A. I., Schippmann, J. S., Switzer, F. S., III, & Roth, P. L. (1998). A meta-analytic review of the predictors of job performance of salespeople. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 83, 586-597.
- *Waldman, D. A., & Korbar, T. (2004). Student assessment center performance in the predication of early career success. *Academy of Management Learning and Education*, *3*(2), 151-167.
- *Watola, D. J., & Ryan, A. M. (2004, April). *Individual differences in interviewer susceptibility to applicant impression management*. Paper presented at the 19th Annual Conference of the Society for Industrial and Organizational Psychology, Chicago, IL.
- *Watson, W. E., Ponthieu, L. D., & Critelli, J. W. (1995). Team interpersonal process effectiveness in venture partnerships and its connection to perceived success. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 10, 393-411.

- Watzlawick, P., Beavin, J. H., & Jackson, D. D. (1967). *Pragmatics of human communication: A study of interactional patterns, pathologies, and paradoxes* (pp. 48-71). New York: Norton.
- *Wayne, S. J., Liden, R. C., Graf, I. K., & Ferris, G. R. (1997). The role of upward influence tactics in human resource decisions. *Personnel Psychology*, *50*, 979-1006.
- Werner, J. M., O'Leary-Kelly, A. M., Baldwin, T. T., & Wexley, K. N. (1994). Augmenting behavior modeling training: Testing the effects of pre- and post-training interventions. *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 5(2), 169-183.
- Wexley, K. N., & Latham, G. P. (1981). *Developing and training human resources in organizations*. Glenview, IL: Scott, Foresman Publishing Company.
- *Whitaker, B., & Dahling, J. (2006). *Role clarity, social skills and the feedback seeking / organizational outcomes link.* Paper presented at the 21st Annual Conference of the Society for Industrial and Organizational Psychology, Dallas, TX.
- Wikipedia (2009). *Interpersonal skills*. Retrieved February 22, 2009, from http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Interpersonal_skills.
- *Witt, L. A., & Ferris, G. R. (2003). Social skill as a moderator of the conscientiousnessperformance relationship: Convergent results across four studies. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88(5), 809-820.
- Wolf, F. M. (1986). *Meta-analysis: Quantitative methods for research synthesis*. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- *Wong, C. T., Day, J. D., Maxwell, S. E., & Meara, N. M. (1995). A multitrait-multimethod study of academic and social intelligence in college students. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *87*(1), 117-133.
- *Yoo, S. H., Matsumoto, D., & LeRoux, J. A. (2006). The influence of emotion recognition and emotion regulation on intercultural adjustment. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, *30*, 345-363.

Yussen, S. R., & Kane, P. (1985). Children's concept of intelligence. In S. R. Yussen (Ed.), *The growth of reflective thinking in children* (pp. 207-241). New York: Academic Press.